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CORPORATE INFORMATION
A EH

(as at the Latest Practicable Date)
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Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board

Mr. Wang Hai

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Hai
Mr. Wang Zuomin (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Ren Zhigiang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Li Li Hua ##
Mr. Moy Yee Wo Matthew ##
Dr. Xie Wensi ##

Audit Committee

Mr. Moy Yee Wo Matthew (Chairman)
Ms. Li Li Hua
Mr. Ren Zhigiang

Remuneration Committee

Ms. Li Li Hua (Chairlady)
Mr. Wang Zuomin
Dr. Xie Wensi

Nomination Committee

Mr. Wang Hai (Chairman)
Ms. Li Li Hua
Mr. Moy Yee Wo Matthew

##

Ms. Li Li Hua, Mr. Moy Yee Wo Matthew and Dr. Xie Wensi, who were
appointed by the Board as an independent non-executive Directors
of the Company with effect from 15 March 2025 and hold office
until the next following general meeting of the Company after
their appointments pursuant to Bye-Law 102(B) of the Bye-Laws,
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as
Directors at the Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting. For
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 10
March 2025.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
A EH

(as at the Latest Practicable Date)
(MREERAITHE)

Shareholder Information Online

www.gwpaholdings.com

Our website contains up-to-date information about our Company
including financial information, corporate communications and
other corporate information

Authorised Representatives

Mr. Wang Zuomin
Ms. Foo Man Yee Carina

Company Secretary
Ms. Foo Man Yee Carina

Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Agent in
Bermuda

Appleby Global Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Canon’'s Court, 22 Victoria Street, PO Box HM 1179
Hamilton HM EX, Bermuda

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
17M Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Registered Office in Bermuda

Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda

Head Office and Principal Place of Business in
Hong Kong

21st Floor, Bank of America Tower
12 Harcourt Road

Central

Hong Kong

China

Stock Listing

Listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
Stock Code: 00583
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
2 E & B

(as at the Latest Practicable Date)

(REREERETHE)

Principal Bankers

1. The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
2. Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

3. Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
4. China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited

5. Agricultural Bank of China Limited Hong Kong Branch
6. Bankof China Limited, Macau Branch

7. United Overseas Bank Limited

8. China CITIC Bank International Limited

Auditor

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

Hong Kong Advisory Lawyer

King & Wood Mallesons
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ER#SG &

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to present the
annual report for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2024, for
our Group. We are delighted to report that we have continued to
successfully achieve our strategic objectives throughout 2024.

Financial Performance

For the fiscal year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recorded a total revenue of approximately HK$122.1 million,
with shareholders’ attributable comprehensive net loss of
approximately HK$84.1 million, including a fair value gain of
approximately HK$131.6 million on investment properties.
Excluding this exceptional item, the shareholders” attributable
comprehensive net loss for the fiscal year ended 31 December
2024, was approximately HK$215.7 million, representing a
decrease of 202.5% compared to the shareholders attributable
comprehensive net profit of HK$210.4 million in 2023. The decline
in profitability was primarily due to an increased finance cost of
HK$338.9 million and decreased share of profits of associates
of HK$56.3 million in 2024, representing an increase of HK$59.3
million or 21.2% and decrease of HK$370.0 million or 86.8% as
compared with HK$279.6 million and HK$426.3 million in 2023
respectively. Based on the weighted average number of issued
shares of 1,567,745,596, the loss per share for 2024 were 5.4 HK
cents, compared to the earnings per share 18.2 HK cents per
share in 20283.

In 2024, the Group’s investment properties achieved high
occupancy rates, benefiting from our diversified property portfolio
and keen insight into market demand. Core properties such as
Kwai Fong Plaza, certain floors of the Bank of America Tower in
Central, and Yue King Building in Causeway Bay, as well as Ko Fai
Industrial Building in Yau Tong and the Seaview Estate in North
Point, have provided the Group with a reliable source of cash flow.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ER#EE

Furthermore, to further enhance our competitiveness in the
Hong Kong property market, the Group, through a joint venture,
invested in a diversified retail property portfolio. This portfolio
includes multiple shopping malls, commercial centers, and
parking facilities located in key districts of Hong Kong. These
properties not only boast prime locations but are also adjacent
to major transportation hubs, offering retailers and consumers a
convenient shopping experience. With a total gross floor area of
2.048 million square feet of premium retail space and over 7,760
parking spaces, this portfolio has become an ideal choice for
local residents to socialize and shop.

While the global economy faces certain challenges during its
recovery process, this also brings new opportunities for Hong
Kong. As an international trade hub, Hong Kong leverages
its unique geographical advantages and flexible market
mechanisms to swiftly adapt to external changes. Despite
inflationary pressures and geopolitical uncertainties, these
factors have encouraged consumers to focus more on value-
for-money and diversified choices, driving innovation and
transformation in the retail sector. We have observed that the
demands of Hong Kong consumers are continuously evolving,
providing businesses with more opportunities to tap into market
potential and meet customer expectations through innovative
products and services.

Looking ahead, we are well aware that the market remains filled
with challenges and uncertainties, but this is precisely where
opportunities lie. With the gradual recovery of the global economy,
particularly the strong rebound of Hong Kong's local economy,
the property investment market is gaining new momentum for
growth. We will stay closely attuned to market trends, actively
capture changes in demand, and flexibly adjust our property
portfolio to meet the increasingly diverse needs of tenants and
investors. Whether it is optimizing the operational efficiency of
existing properties or exploring new investment opportunities,
we will focus on innovative thinking and professional expertise to
continuously enhance our competitiveness.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ER#SG &

We firmly believe that challenges and opportunities coexist,
and only through constant innovation and proactive efforts can
we stand out in times of change. In the future, we will continue
to adhere to a prudent investment strategy, integrating market
trends and technological applications to further enhance
property value and customer experience. With the collective
efforts of our team and the ongoing support of our shareholders,
we are confident that the Group will seize the opportunities of
the times, overcome challenges, deliver even more outstanding
performance for our shareholders, and contribute to the
prosperous development of Hong Kong.

Mr. WANG Hai
Chairman of the Board

28 February 2025
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ERRmREHE

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Hai, aged 55, was born in Beijing, holds a Master
degree in Business Administration from Tsinghua University and
holds the title of senior accountant. He has been an executive
Director, the Chairman of Board and chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company since 20 August 2021. Mr. Wang has
engaged in finance-related work since July 1992 and has over 30
years of experience in finance field. From July 1992 to October
1999, he served as cadre of business department in Beijing
branch of Agricultural Bank of China, and served as cadre senior
staff member and principal staff member of capital planning
department in the headquarter of Agricultural Bank of China.
From October 1999 to March 2007, he served as cadre and deputy
director of capital operation division, deputy director of operation
planning division and director of capital planning division of the
finance department of GWAMCC. From March 2007 to November
2010, he served as Party member, leader of the significant project
team, deputy general manager and secretary of the commission
for discipline inspection in Shenyang branch of GWAMCC. From
November 2010 to January 2014, he served as deputy general
manager of significant project department, deputy general
manager of mergers and acquisitions department in GWAMCC.
From January 2014 to June 2021, he served as general manager,
chairman of the board and Party secretary of Great Wall (Tianjin)
Equity Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd* (i (Ki&) e
KREETEEAREEAE). From October 2011 to December
2014, he served as chairman of the board of Hunan Tianyi Science
and Technology Co., Ltd. (stock code: 000908) (now known as
Hunan Jingfeng Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a company listed in the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange). Mr. Wang has served as a director
and the Chairman of Great Wall International since June 2021
and June 2022, respectively. From June 2021 to June 2022, he
served as the general manager of Great Wall International.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ERREmREHE

Mr. Wang Zuomin, aged 57, has been an executive Director, the
Chief Executive Officer and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company since 20 August 2024. He holds a
master’s degree in finance from Zhongnan University of Finance
and Economics and the title of economist. Mr. Wang has joined
the finance industry since July 1990 and has over 30 years of
experience in the finance industry. From July 1990 to March
2000, he successively served as a deputy director of Chunfeng
branch, a director of Chunfeng branch and a director of credit
management department of Guomao Sub-branch of Shenzhen
Branch of Agricultural Bank of China. From March 2000 to July
2008, he successively served as an officer and deputy director
of the operation department, deputy director and director of the
investment banking department of the Shenzhen office of China
Great Wall Asset Management Corporation (FE R & EEIE
‘AE)), senior manager of the market development department
of Shenzhen Great Wall Guosheng Investment Holding Co., Ltd.
CRIIRINE BRI EZERBRAE]) . From July 2008 to February
2023, he was the assistant general manager of the Shenzhen
office, deputy general manager of Shenzhen Great Wall Guosheng
Investment Holding Co., Ltd CRYIERMBEIRZEIERERAT),
deputy general manager and general manager of Great Wall
Financing Guarantee Co., Ltd. (RIFBEERBRAB), deputy
general manager of the Shenzhen branch, head of supervisor of
Great Wall Guofu Real Estate Co., Ltd. (RIBEIEEXARAE).
From February 2023 to August 2024, he served as the deputy
general manager of Great Wall International. Since August 2024,
he has been the general manager of Great Wall International.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ERRmREHE

Non-executive Director

Mr. Ren Zhiqiang, aged 42, graduated from the University of Hong
Kong with a master’s degree in business administration and a
master’s degree in law from China University of Political Science
and Law. He has been a non-executive Director and a member of
the Audit Committee of the Company since 20 August 2024. From
2011 to 2016, he successively served as manager of the business
audit department and office affairs of GWAMCC. From 2017 to
June 2024, he served as the managing director of the special
assets department, the managing director of the business
approval and management department and the managing
director of the comprehensive management department, the
secretary to the board of directors and the managing director of
the investment banking department of Great Wall International.
From April 2021 to July 2021, he served as a non-executive
director of CM Energy Tech Co., Ltd. (formally known as CMIC
Ocean En-Tech Holding Co., Ltd) (stock code: 206), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and from
February 2023 to July 2024, he served as a non-executive director
of CNQC International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1240), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Since
July 2024, he has been the assistant general manager of the
subsidiary management department of GWAMCC.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ERREmREHE

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Li Li Hua, aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairlady of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company on 15 March 2025. She previously
served as the Deputy General Manager of our Company from 21
September 2017 to 6 January 2022, and as the Chief Operating
Officer of our Company from 15 March 2019 to 6 January 2022.
From March 2008 to 20 September 2017, she held various
roles at Shanghai Zendai Property Limited (Stock Code: 755),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
including Finance Department Manager, Hong Kong Regional
General Manager, Vice President, Executive Director, and Chief
Executive Officer. Her primary responsibilities included financial
management, corporate governance, overseas business
expansion, financing arrangements, and public relations
management. Ms. Li was an on-the-job postgraduate in monetary
banking from the School of Finance at the Graduate School of
Renmin University of China. With over 23 years of experience in
securities investment and capital markets, she has extensive
expertise in investment management and financial operations.
She previously served as Chief Economist and General Manager
of the Southern Headquarters of Xiangcai Securities Co., Ltd.,
as well as Deputy Chief Economist and General Manager of the
Finance Department of Hainan Securities Company Limited.

Mr. Moy Yee Wo Matthew, aged 46, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company on 15 March 2025. He has over 20 years of experience
in the finance industry. From August 2012 to January 2019 and
February 2019 to May 2024, Mr. Moy was the chief financial
officer, company secretary and an authorised representative of
China Silver Group Limited (stock code: 815) and Apollo Future
Mobility Group Limited (stock code: 860), both being companies
listed on the Stock Exchange, respectively. He is currently the
chief financial officer of AiNsemi Technology Limited. From
22 February 2017 and 28 October 2022, Mr. Moy has been an
independent non-executive director of Chi Ho Development
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8423) and Janco Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8035), both being companies listed on the Stock
Exchange, respectively. From June 2017 to November 2023
and 30 September 2024 to 11 March 2025, he also served as
an independent non-executive director of Reach New Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8471) and Elife Holdings Limited (stock
code: 223), both being companies listed on the Stock Exchange,
respectively. In addition, he has also served as an independent
director of Click Holdings Limited (stock code: CLIK), a company
listed on NASDAQ in the United States, since 30 September 2024.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ERRmREHE

Mr. Moy is a certified public accountant of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He graduated with a
degree of Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting and
a degree of Master of Business Administration from The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology.

Dr. Xie Wensi, aged 37, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company on 15 March 2025. She is currently a
tenured faculty member specializing in finance at the Business
School of The Chinese University of Hong Kong. She holds a
bachelor’'s degree in financial management from Zhejiang
University and received her doctoral degree in finance from The
University of Hong Kong in 2015. She was also a visiting scholar
at the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania. Dr. Xie
joined the Business School of The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in 2015 and has been an Associate Professor of Finance
since 2021. Dr. Xie's research area includes corporate finance,
financial accounting, capital markets, finance and law, and
trading and governance rules for listed companies. Two research
projects for which she served as the project leader were funded
by the Hong Kong Research Grants Council. Her research has
been presented at institutions such as the World Bank and the
National Bureau of Economic Research in the United States, and
has been cited by international mainstream media and policy
research reports, including The Economist, The Harvard Law
School Forum on Corporate Governance, and the World Bank’s
Global Doing Business Report. In 2021, she received the Young
Researcher Award from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ERREmREHE

Senior Management

Mr. Zou Laiying, aged 48, was appointed as the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company with effect from 23 November 2021. He
graduated from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law
in 2000 with a bachelor degree in Finance and was awarded
a master degree in Financial Management from Newcastle
Business School in the United Kingdom in 2011. He is a Certified
Public Accountant of the PRC and holds the qualification of
Professional Risk Manager designated by the Professional Risk
Managers’ International Association. Mr. Zou has extensive
experience in financial analysis, risk management and audit.
From July 2000 to July 2002, he served as an office staff in
Qingdao branch of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. From July
2002 to July 2006, he worked at Shandong Huide Certified Public
Accountants as an auditor. From July 2006 to August 2009, he
served as a finance manager in the Bank of East Asia (China)
Limited. From May 2011 to January 2012, he served as the
manager of the financing department of China Universal Leasing
Co., Ltd. From January 2012 to September 2015, he served as the
senior manager of Beijing Enterprises Group Company Limited.
From October 2015 to December 2018, he served as the head
of compliance division of compliance and risk department of
GWAMCC. Since January 2019, Mr. Zou has served as the deputy
senior manager of finance management division of financial
planning department of GWAMCC. He has served as the head of
finance department of Great Wall International since September
2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVEE VS

OPERATING RESULTS OF THE GROUP

The Group's consolidated operating results for the yearsended 31 HAEBHE S _NEK_ZT_=F+_4
December 2024 and 2023 were as follows: —t+—HIEFEZFEAEREEENT .

For the year ended 31 December

HE+-A=t+—AILEE

(HK$ millions, except percentages and BEBET Aokt 2024 2023 % Change
per share amounts) RER SRR ZEImE ZZ2T=fF 3ol
Revenue & 1221 121.8 0.2%
Rental and utilities & R it (11.7) (117) -
Other operating expenses Hh& & (31.8) (34.7) (8.4%)
Operating costs before depreciation REHTEZ RS M A (43.5) (46.4) (6.3%)
Depreciation e (6.8) (6.9) (1.4%)
Adjusted operating profit* AR R FIA 71.8 68.5 4.8%
Other income and gains or losses EAIK A e 2 B 5 18 0.3 0.3 -
Fair value gain on investment properties BEME AT ER G 131.6 745 76.6%
Operating profit KSR 203.7 1433 421%
Net finance cost 75 BY A 3 5 (338.9) (279.6) 21.2%
Share of profits of associates fEEIE N T RBF] 56.3 426.3 (86.8%)
Income tax expense FriSMMEx (5.2) (5.1) 2.0%
(Loss)/profit for the year 2 (518 /&BH (84.1) 284.9 *k
(Loss)/profit attributable to equity holders REFE AEG (51

/B (84.1) 284.9 **
(Loss)/earnings per share (HK cents) B BB BT

(AL (5.4) 18.2 *x

~ Adjusted operating profit is defined as operating profit before other » KHABLERFIARTEAKRFTHEMKARKREY
income and fair value gain on investment properties. ENFENRZEERH

** Represents a change in excess of 100%. o REEEIE100% o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVRE VSR

Loss attributable to equity holders for the year ended 31
December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$84.1 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 129.5% as compared
with profit attributable to equity holders of approximately
HK$284.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. Loss
per share was HK5.4 cents for the year ended 31 December
2024, based on weighted average of 1,567,745,596 shares in
issue (earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2023:
HK18.2 cents based on 1,567,745,596 shares in issue). Loss for
the year ended 31 December 2024 is mainly attributable to the
increase in the finance cost incurred in 2024 and the decrease in
the share of profits of associates.

Excluding the revaluation gain of investment properties for
the year ended 31 December 2024 of approximately HK$131.6
million (revaluation gain of investment properties for the year
ended 31 December 2023: approximately HK$74.5 million), the
net loss attributable to equity holders for the year ended 31
December 2024 was approximately HK$215.7 million (net profit
attributable to equity holders for the year ended 31 December
2023: approximately HK$210.4 million), representing a year-on-
year decrease of approximately HK$426.1 million or 202.5%.
The Group's loss was mainly due to the increased finance cost of
approximately HK$338.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2024 (for the year ended 31 December 2023: finance cost of
approximately HK$279.6 million), resulting from the rise in the
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rates (“HIBOR”) on which the
borrowing cost of the Group's loans are based, and decreased
share of profits of associates of approximately HKK$56.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (for the year ended 31
December 2023: HK$426.3 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVEE VS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group principally engages in the operation of two segments,
namely, the property investment segment and the financial
services segment.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are primarily attributable to the contribution by the property
investment segment. The Group’s investment property portfolio
had no significant changes during the year and it has maintained
a diversified investment property portfolio in Hong Kong which
comprises Kwai Fong Plaza, certain floors of the Bank of America
Tower in Central, Yue King Building in Causeway Bay, Ko Fai
Industrial Building in Yau Tong and Seaview Estate in North Point.
The Group has also participated in the investment in the JV Group
(as defined in the paragraph headed “Significant Investment
in relation to the Investment in an Associate and Share of
Profits of an Associate” on page 22 of this report) which holds a
diversified portfolio of properties in Hong Kong. Details of the said
investment in the JV Group have been set out in the paragraph
headed “Significant Investment in relation to the Investment in
an Associate and Share of Profits of an Associate” in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”.

In 2024, the Group’s investment property business continued to
make good progress against an uncertain economic background.
In these challenging times, the Group focused on maintaining the
stability of its existing investment property portfolio, engaging
with its tenants and improving its balance sheet. Through its
diversified property portfolio, the Group’s investment properties
contributed a relatively steady income stream of approximately
HK$122.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, as
compared to HK$121.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s revenue
increased by 0.2% to HK$122.1 million (for the year ended 31
December 2023: HK$121.8 million) due to the increase of revenue
from property investment segment, despite the above, a loss
attributable to equity holders of HK$84.1 million was recorded
(for the year ended 31 December 2023: profit attributable to
equity holders of HK$284.9 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVRE VSR

The Group recorded a fair value gain on the Group’s investment
properties of HK$131.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2024 (for the year ended 31 December 2023: fair value gain
of HK$74.5 million) and the decreased share of profits of the
Group's associates of HK$56.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 (for the year ended 31 December 2023: share of
profits of associates of HK$426.3 million). At 31 December 2024,
capitalisation rates range from 2.00% to 5.00% (at 31 December
2023: range from 2.50% to 3.90%) are used in the income
capitalisation approach for the investment properties which are
owned by the Group. With other variable(s) held constant, the
higher the rates, the lower the fair value. At 31 December 2024,
rental rates of HK$16.0 psf to HK$71.0 psf and HK$3,312.6
per car parking space (at 31 December 2023: HK$10.0 psf to
HK$80.6 psf and HK$3,502.0 per car parking space) are used for
investment properties and car parking space respectively in the
income capitalisation approach which takes into account market
information with reference to sales figures as available on the
market. With other variable(s) held constant, the lower the rental
rates, the lower the fair value. Given the unknown future impact
that the hike in interest rate might have on the real estate market,
management will keep the valuation under frequent review.

The Group continues to leverage on the successful strategy in
diversifying its portfolio of investment properties as outlined
in its previous Annual Reports. This strategy has proven to be
successful in year 2024 and we are confident that it will continue
to succeed in the future so as to generate sustainable return for
our shareholders.

The Group also operates in the financial services segment which
comprises provision of asset management services (licensed by
the SFC to carry out Type 9 regulated activity). Although there was
no revenue derived from asset management service for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 which particularly discussed
in the paragraph headed “Financial Services” below, the Group
will continue to explore and seize opportunities to develop its
financial services segment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVEE VS

Revenue

The consolidated revenue for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 by business segments and for the Group were as

Uk

e

=

H

BE_ T MER_F_=ZF+-_H=+—H
IFFE BEF DB RAERERE 2 FEWmil

follows: T
For the year ended 31 December

BHE+-_B=1+—HLEE

2024 2023 % Change
(HK$ millions, except percentages) (BEBT BAhRN ZBZWE ZTT=F EFHILEL
Property investment MEKRE 1221 121.8 0.2%
Financial services RS - = =
Total revenue W e A8 28 12241 121.8 0.2%
FINANCIAL REVIEW BY OPERATING SEGMENTS SENE 2 MR

The Group's reportable and operating segments during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:

(@) property investment segment which comprises the
investment in retail shops, office buildings, industrial
properties and car parking spaces for rental income; and

(b) financial services segment which comprises provision of

asset management services (licensed to carry out Type 9
regulated activities) under the SFO.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVRE VSR

Property Investment

Y ESSE

For the year ended 31 December

HE+-A=+—BILEE

2024 2023 % Change
(HK$ millions, except percentages) (B8ABT BRI —mE ZTZ=F g28asl
Revenue Wz 12211 121.8 0.2%
Adjusted EBITDA* AR EF B RIE
R EF 66.6 60.5 10.1%
Depreciation = (6.3) (6.3) =
Adjusted operating profit AR TR 60.3 54.2 11.3%
Fair value gain on investment propertiesand ~ REYE A FEWGT K
other income HAA 146.3 89.0 64.4%
Net finance cost A5 Al A B 5R (53.2) (54.5) (2.4%)
Income tax expense FTigiReE=< (5.2) (51) 2.0%
Profit attributable to equity holders* EmiSE ABERA 148.2 83.6 77.3%

~  Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation, other income and fair value gain on investment
properties.

# Including fair value gain on investment properties of approximately
HK$131.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 and fair
value gain on investment properties of approximately HK$74.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Revenue of property investment segment for the year ended 31
December 2024 was approximately HK$122.1 million, compared
with approximately HK$121.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The rental income is steady for years 2024 and
20283.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVEE VS

The increase in profit attributable to shareholders from property
investment segment was mainly due to the fair value gain on
investment properties for the year ended 31 December 2024. An
adjusted operating profit of approximately HK$60.3 million was
recorded for the year ended 31 December 2024, compared to an
adjusted operating profit of approximately HK$54.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, which was mainly attributable
to the decrease in operating expenses.

As at the date of this report, the Group's diversified investment
property portfolio in Hong Kong comprises Kwai Fong Plaza,
certain floors of the Bank of America Tower in Central, Yue King
Building in Causeway Bay, Ko Fai Industrial Building in Yau Tong
and Seaview Estate in North Point.

Revaluation gain on investment properties for the year ended 31
December 2024 was approximately HK$131.6 million, compared
with the revaluation gain of approximately HK$74.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The revaluation gain for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was mainly caused by the increase
in fair value of Kwai Fong Plaza of around HK$75.6 million,
certain floors of Yue King Building of around HK$51.0 million,
certain floor of Ko Fai Industrial Building of around HK$13.0
million respectively and the decrease in fair value of certain
floor of Seaview Estate of around HK$8.0 million. The increase in
appraised value of the investment properties of the Group was
attributable to the recovery of economic activities in Hong Kong in
2024.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31
December 2024 by independent professionally qualified
valuer, Sinoappraisal Advisory Limited (31 December 2023:
Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited and CBRE
Advisory Hong Kong Limited), which holds recognised relevant
professional qualification and has recent experience in the
locations and segments of the investment properties being
valued. For all investment properties of the Group, their current
use equates to the highest and best use. The revaluation gains
or losses are shown as “Fair value gain or loss on investment
properties” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Fair values of the retail shops, office buildings, industrial
properties and car parking spaces are derived using the income
capitalisation approach. There were no major changes to the
valuation techniques during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVRE VSR

Financial Services ERUARTS
For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLEE

2024 2023 % Change
(HK$ millions, except percentages) (B8ABT BRI ZEINE ZBT-F ZFHEDE
Revenue & - = =
Adjusted EBITDA* AR EF B RIE

R EF (0.2) (1.7) (88.2%)

Depreciation JTEE _ _ _
Adjusted operating loss AR B8 (0.2) (1.7) (88.2%)
Net finance income AU AR ER 0.2 0.6 (66.7%)
Income tax credit FriSiRike = = =
Loss attributable to equity holders ST E ARELEE - (1.1) x

" Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and other income.

** Represents a change in excess of 100%.

There was no revenue derived from financial services segment
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 following the
cessation of Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activity under the SFO in year 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVEE VS

Significant Investment in relation to the Investment in an
Associate and Share of Profits of an Associate

Significant investment in an associate represents the Group’s
35.78% equity interests in a joint venture, Everwell City Limited
(together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “JV Group”), which
owns 16 diversified commercial properties and shopping centres,
plazas and carparks across Hong Kong at Cheung Hang Shopping
Centre, Kai Yip Commercial Centre, Kam Tai Shopping Centre, Lei
Cheng Uk Shopping Centre, On Ting Commercial Complex, Shek
Lei Shopping Centre | & Il, Tai Wo Hau Commercial Centre, Tsz
Ching Shopping Centre, Yau Oi Commercial Centre, Yung Shing
Shopping Centre, Kwai Shing East Shopping Centre, Lai Kok
Shopping Centre, Lee On Shopping Centre, retail and car park
within Shun Tin Estate, Tsing Yi Commercial Complex and Lions
Rise Mall. The initial investment was HK$3,123.4 million in 2018.
The fair value of the investment was HK$5,425.2 million as at
31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: HK$5,387.0 million) and
represented around 56.3% of the total assets of the Group as
at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 56.8%). The Group’s
share of profits of an associate from JV Group was approximately
HK$56.3 million in 2024 (share of profits for the year ended
31 December 2023: HK$426.3 million). The share of profits of
an associate of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 is mainly due to the fair value gain on revaluations of the
investment properties of the JV Group (which comprised of
commercial properties), which was attributable to the continued
recovery of the Hong Kong economy in early 2024. Yet the
unpredictable road to recovery market condition, the Group
intends to hold the abovementioned equity interests in the JV
Group as long-term investment in order to generate sustainable
return for our shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVRE VSR

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

MEMEERERKIR

The Group's main source of liquidity is recurring cash flows from HEBZTERSESIKRAKEMERSE
the property investment and financial services businesses. The SRIBRBFEFZEEHBESRE - AEEANR _Z
Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were _ER_E - =F+_HB=+—BHZHHERR

as follows:

LI

31 December 31 December

2024 2023 % Change

“EImE Z2CT=F

+ZA +ZA
(HK$ millions, except percentages) (BE8EmT anttksyy =+—H =+—H #“FHEDL
Cash and bank balances RERIBITHEER 209.3 232.5 (10.0%)
Shareholders funds REEE 3,917.4 4,001.5 (21%)
Current ratio MENLEE 0.04 0.05 (20.0%)
Gearing ratio BESMEIEE 58.0% 56.2% 3.2%

The Group's cash and bank balances are held predominantly ZHEBZIRSKIRITEGEELBTIFE A&
in Hong Kong dollars. The Group has no significant exposure B fEE K INEITE RSN AR - &NEE— BT
to foreign exchange fluctuations. The Group has maintained a BEZIRERT > UFEHRHRSMIRSEEUR
strong cash position and expects its cash and cash equivalents, #&EEELZIRE > BUENEEESERE-

and cash generated from operations to be adequate to meeting

its working capital requirements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVEE VS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$209.3 million, as compared
to approximately HK$232.5 million as at 31 December 2023.
The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December 2024 was 58.0%
(as at 31 December 2023: 56.2%), being calculated as total
debts (which includes the loans from an intermediate holding
company, bank borrowing and amount due to an intermediate
holding company) less cash and bank balances (“net debt”), over
the Company’s total capital employed. Total capital employed
is equivalent to the sum of net debt and shareholders’ funds.
The increase in gearing ratio is mainly due to the decrease in
shareholder’s funds and increase in bank borrowing as a result of
the restructure of financing structure. As at 31 December 2024,
the Group had outstanding principal of unsecured shareholder
loans of HK$4,760.0 million (as at 31 December 2023:
HK$5,370.0 million). As at 31 December 2024, the Group has
no undrawn bank facility (as at 31 December 2023: no undrawn
bank facility) and the Group has outstanding bank borrowing of
approximately HK$850.0 million as at 31 December 2024 (as at
31 December 2023: nil). The Group actively and regularly reviews
and manages its liquidity position and financial resources and
makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions
and business development needs.

For the SFC licensed corporation under the Group, the Group has
ensured that the licensed corporation maintains a liquidity level
adequate to support the level of activities with a sufficient buffer
to accommodate increases in liquidity requirements arising from
potential increases in the level of business activities. During
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 20283, all the licensed
subsidiaries have complied with the liquidity requirements under
the Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVRE VSR

Charges on Assets

As at 31 December 2024, an investment property of the Group
with fair value of approximately HK$2,145.0 million and bank
deposit of HK$12.4 million were pledged to secure the mortgage
loan granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 20283, there were no charges over assets of
the Group.

Operating Activities

Net cash generated from operating activities for the year ended
31 December 2024 was HK$81.6 million, compared with net cash
generated from operating activities of HK$79.4 million in 2023.
The increase in operating cash flows was mainly due to decrease
in accounts receivable by HK$1.6 million during the year ended
31 December 2024 while there was an increase in such balance
by HK$0.2 million during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Investing Activities

Net cash generated from investing activities was HK$74,000
and HK$37,000 for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023
respectively.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended 31
December 2024 was HK$104.9 million, compared with the net
cash used in financing activities of HK$56.4 million in 2023.
The cash outflow was mainly due to repayment of loans to an
intermediate holding company of HK$900.0 million and proceed
from bank borrowing of HK$850.0 million and interest paid of
HK$53.9 million in 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 9 employees
(as at 31 December 2023: 12). As the Group’s businesses will
continue to grow, its remuneration philosophy is designed to
provide its employees with the opportunity to excel and grow,
while aligning with our business strategies and values.

The Group’'s remuneration and benefit policies, which are
structured in accordance with market terms and statutory
requirements, aim to recognise employees with outstanding
performance, motivate and reward employees in order to achieve
its business performance targets, retain and attract key talents
and ensure alignment with the interests of our businesses, and
thereby enhancing shareholder value. In addition, other staff
benefits such as medical insurance, medical check-up scheme,
mandatory and voluntary provident fund scheme and rental
reimbursement scheme are offered to eligible employees.

The Group’s employee recruitment and promotion are primarily
based on individuals’ merits, relevant experiences, development
potentials for the positions offered and performance.

OUTLOOK

The rebound of Hong Kong economy continued in 2024, the
real gross domestic product growly 2.5% since the relaxing
of the borders pandemic measures in early 2023. Despite
a challenging economic backdrop and changing consumer
behaviour, Hong Kong has performed steadily, supported by a
portfolio of strategically located community commercial assets.
Nonetheless, the overall financial and business positions of the
Group remain healthy.

26 GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024

B E R R

ATEZNE+ZB=+—H  AERH Eg%
BT RIZZ2T=F+Z"A=+—H:12%8) °
FEAREBMERSRBIFEL R  HE Rl UJB?%
HESRHEBEMEREE#E BREEM
EB RS BEREEN

A E BRI A BRI BER (HTSREBEHIS IR
EERANGE) EEBEE L ZBFRIER BRI
HRETENEBENE R BERRALEA
AR REEBHN m— B EMmiEr R REE-
s FREERESRHEAME TR N8
FRE - BRREESE  aHEREREAEE
stEINEEREERRMEE]

FAEEZETHERSEHTEEZREANTLFEESE
W R S RSP 2 3 RBRE R
RME °

RE

BEEER ST NEREERE - BT T =F
PHREBREEERE  BRAMEERELR
25% - BELBRIRETEMIESOH BT T 6
2 BEHEEMENTEREEEASNXE
T BENEERITRE BB AEERE
BB R EBI AR R



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEVRE VSR

The trend of shopping up north poses serious challenges for us
but has not yet had a material impact on our entire portfolio since
2023. To cope with such challenges, the Board and management
of the Company will fully leverage on the competitive edges
of the Group to drive the performance of core businesses at a
steady pace and will also actively seize investment opportunities
prudently and thoroughly in order to generate favourable returns
for our shareholders while maintaining strong cash position. The
Board considers that the overall financial and business positions
of the Group remain healthy.

This fiscal period has been full of challenges and uncertainty
in view of the global macroeconomy. While signs of recovery in
economy have been seen, it is still confronted with complicated
internal and external situations. Numerous uncertainties in the
investment sentiment in the financial market have presented us
with severe challenges.

Currently, the Group’s investment properties continue to
contribute stable stream of income and create value through
asset enhancement. During this fiscal period, the Group has
successfully diversified its tenant mix and enhanced the rental
performance.

Looking ahead, in the complicated and constantly-changing
macro-economic environment with fierce competition, the Group
will seize the development opportunities arising from the China’s
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area strategic plan
and further strengthen the synergy effect by leveraging on the
substantial resources from GWAMCC, our controlling shareholder,
through the integration of domestic and foreign capital markets,
and aggressively expanding its domestic business, to ensure the
Group can make full use of its role as the sole overseas listed
platform of the GWAMCC Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Board and the Company’s management are committed to
upholding the Group's obligations to Shareholders. We regard the
promotion and protection of Shareholders’interests as one of our
priorities and keys to success.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards
are essential in providing a framework for the Group to safeguard
the interests of Shareholders and enhance corporate value,
formulate its business strategies and policies, and enhance its
transparency and accountability.

The Group has put in place sound corporate governance practices
to ensure it adheres to high ethical and business standards. The
key test of corporate governance practices is whether they can
align the interests of management with those of Shareholders
to adequately protect and promote Shareholders’ interests. The
Group is committed to the continuous improvement of corporate
governance practices to support the performance of our business
and enable effective oversight. The Group constantly reviews
these guidelines and policies and implements new ones to
ensure they remain relevant and practical in today’s fast changing
business environment and market expectations.

The Group has adopted and applied the applicable principles
and code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its corporate
governance practices. The Group also adheres to certain
recommended best practices of the Corporate Governance Code
insofar as they are relevant and practicable.

The Board is of the view that, throughout the year ended 31
December 2024, the Company has complied with the applicable
principles and code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code, save for the deviation from code provision C.5.7
as explained below and in this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Code provision C.5.7 provides that if a substantial shareholder or
a director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the board which the board has determined to be material,
the matter should be dealt with by a physical board meeting
rather than a written resolution. Independent non-executive
directors who, and whose close associates, have no material
interest in the transaction should be present at that board
meeting. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board
approved the continuing connected transactions in relation to the
proposed new tenancy of 20th Floor and a carpark space of the
Group’s premises in the Bank of America Tower to its controlling
shareholder, Great Wall International, by way of circulation
of written resolutions in lieu of physical board meeting on 14
November 2024, for which certain Directors who are nominated
by the controlling Shareholder of the Company, was regarded
as having material interests therein. However, the Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) are of the
view that such proposed new tenancy and the transactions
contemplated thereunder are fair and reasonable, are on normal
commercial terms or better and are in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Company and are in the interests
of the Company and the shareholders of the Company as a
whole. In addition, each of Mr. Wang Hai and Mr. Wang Zuomin,
being the Director of the Company and a director of Great Wall
International, had abstained from voting on the relevant written
resolutions of the Board in approving the proposed new tenancy
and the transactions contemplated thereunder pursuant to
the Company’s Bye-Laws and the Listing Rules. Before formal
execution of the written resolutions, the Directors had discussed
the matters via electronic means and the Board considers that
adoption of written resolutions would facilitate and maximise
the effectiveness of its operation. The Board shall nevertheless
review its board meeting arrangement from time to time to
ensure appropriate arrangement is being taken to comply with
the requirements under the Corporate Governance Code.

The Group believes that its current corporate governance
practices, which combine governance framework and practices
that develop over time and new practices set out in the Corporate
Governance Code, provide the Group with a sound and sensible
framework for balancing the business of the Group and the
interests of its Shareholders. The Group will continue to evaluate
its corporate governance practices in light of its business needs,
regulatory changes and new corporate governance philosophies.
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Set out below are our current framework of governance and
explanations about how the provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code have been applied.

The Board of Directors

The Board recognises its responsibility to represent the interests
of Shareholders. As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board
comprises six Directors: two executive Directors and four non-
executive Directors (including three independent non-executive
Directors). Independent non-executive Directors represent more
than one-third of the Board.

The Directors of the Company during the year and as at the date
of this Annual Report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Hai

Mr. Huang Wei (resigned on 20 August 2024)

Mr. Wang Zuomin (appointed on 20 August 2024)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr.Yu Xianging (resigned on 20 August 2024)
Mr. Ren Zhigiang (appointed on 20 August 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Dr. Song Ming (resigned on 15 March 2025)

Dr. Sun Mingchun (resigned on 15 March 2025)

Ms. Liu Yan (resigned on 15 March 2025)

Ms. Li Li Hua (appointed on 15 March 2025)

Mr. Moy Yee Wo Matthew (appointed on 15 March 2025)
Dr. Xie Wensi (appointed on 15 March 2025)

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationship) among members of
the Board. The biographies of all the Directors and the senior
management are set out on pages 8 to 13 of this Annual Report.
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The Board’s main responsibility and purpose is to deliver the
long-term success of the Group and to create long-term value
for its Shareholders by providing strategic and entrepreneurial
leadership, and by exercising prudent oversight and control
over the Company. As the business continues to grow, the Board
needs to ensure that the Company has sufficient resources —
both funding and talent - to deliver success. The Board also
recognises the need for effective engagement by the Company
with its key stakeholders, including all its investors.

Each Director brings a wide range and years of business
experience to the Board to meet our long-term objectives. The
Directors’ combined knowledge, expertise and experience are
extremely valuable in overseeing the Group's business operations.

The Board sets the strategic direction and oversees the
performance of the Group’s business and management. The
principal matters the Board is responsible for include:

« approval of strategic direction, policies and objectives

« review and approval of business plans and budgets

« monitoring operational and financial performance

« review and approval of annual results and interim results

« review and approval of annual report and interim report as
well as the related financial statements

« review and approval of dividend policy and recommendation
of final dividend, and declaration of interim dividend and
where appropriate, special dividends

« appointment and re-appointment of auditor

« review and approval of significant acquisitions and disposals
and major financings, borrowings and guarantees

« approval of material contracts

« overseeing the risk management and internal control
systems and ensuring their effectiveness

In addition, the Board discusses major operating issues,
evaluates opportunities and business risks. Decisions and
conduct of matters other than those specifically reserved to
the Board are delegated to the management whilst structured
monthly updates on the Group’s performance, position and
prospects in sufficient details are provided to the Directors to
enable them to discharge their duties.
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The Board reviews the arrangements between the
responsibilities of the Board and the matters delegated to the
management periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate
to the needs of the Group and its businesses.

Corporate Governance and Code of Conduct

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions set out in code provision A.2.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code and adopted a revised Terms of
Reference of the Board on Corporate Governance Functions in
March 2017, including:

« develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance

« review and monitoring of the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management

+ review and monitoring of the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements

« development, review and monitoring of the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to employees and
Directors

« review of the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report as specified under the Listing Rules

Key corporate governance matters reviewed by the Board during
the year were:

+ review of the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements

« review of the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code

« review of the effectiveness of the internal control system of
the Group

« proposal on the re-appointment of the Company’s external
auditor, BDO Limited
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« appointment of Mr. Wang Zuomin as executive Director,
Chief Executive Officer and a member of the Remuneration
Committee

« appointment of Mr. Ren Zhigiang as non-executive Director
and a member of the Audit Committee

« annual review of continuing connected transactions

« proposal on the entering into the continuing connected
transactions

« adoption of certain internal policies

The Group has devised a Whistleblowing Policy (updated in
December 2020) on malpractice reporting and investigation
setting out specific procedures facilitating whistle-blowing
reports and investigation thereof. The purpose of formulating
the Whistleblowing Policy is to increase the awareness of
maintaining internal corporate justice and regard this as a kind of
internal control mechanism.

The nature, status and results of report received under the
Whistleblowing Policy are reported to the Chairman of the Audit
Committee. No incident of fraud or misconduct that have material
effect on the Group’s financial statements or overall operations
for the year ended 31 December 2024 had been discovered.
The Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed annually by the Audit
Committee to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company is also committed to upholding sound corporate
governance practices and complying with its obligations to
disclose inside information under the SFO as well as the Listing
Rules. The Company had adopted a Policy on Disclosure of
Inside Information setting out specific policies and procedures
facilitating the Company’s compliance with these obligations.

Board Proceedings

The Board holds four regular meetings annually as a minimum,
usually quarterly, and also meets at such other times as
necessary. The Company generally gives notice and draft agenda
of regular Board and Board Committees meetings at least 14
days in advance. For other Board and Committees meetings,
notice is generally given pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws
and the respective Terms of Reference of the Committees.
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Agenda of Board meetings are prepared by the Company
Secretary in consultation with the Chairman of the Board, and
based on a forward calendar that helps to ensure that all relevant
matters for the year ahead are considered by the Board in a
timely manner. Each Director is encouraged to contribute to the
agenda setting process. The Board is provided with adequate,
timely and reliable information about the Group's businesses and
developments before each Board meeting at which the Directors
actively participate and make informed discussions. Each
Director is asked to review and comment on the Board minutes
within a reasonable time after each meeting to maintain accurate
records of Board discussions and decisions.

During the year, the Board held five Board meetings. The
attendance of each Director at Board and Committee meetings,
the annual and special general meetings is detailed in the table
below.

NEWECERNEFTEIFRIRBRRARER
REFERT UERZFNE FTRMEHERER
i’%‘“%%‘ﬁ&ﬁ%)ﬁ PSR EREF2 AT

FENER -SREFETER EFTIE
Tmf#l‘%l%ﬁ‘%?ﬁ’zﬁéﬁzﬁﬁ BREABIEZE
g L ERRB2EKARNBN® SRE
FANGHE—RAERENEEZRTZESTS
GECi UBRIIEEZEF S HMIR
ERECHRAENE ©

R FEEDB TR SRR S HEE
EELREERLH LRREBERIAAS
I T o

Attendance/No. of Meeting(s)

HERE/EEHE

Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination Annual Special
Board  Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee General General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
BNZEE HMZEE RYZEE  REEF  REREH
Name of Director e g EE EE EE AEg AE
Mr.Wang Hai Ta%E 4/5 -/- -/ 1" i 1
Mr. Wang Zuomin FEREEY 3/3 -/ -/ -/ -/- 1/1
Mr. Huang Wei @ BEILAD 2/2 17 -/ 17 -/
Mr. Ren Zhigiang © EERELEY 313 212 -/ -/ -/ 0/1
Mr.Yu Xianging REBLEY 212 -/ -/ 1/1 -/
Dr.Song Ming et 5/5 313 171 171 11 i
Dr. Sun Mingchun RAEEL 3/5 171 171 0/1 0N
Ms. Liu Yan Blshut 4/5 3/3 -/ -/ 01 0/1

Notes: B 5E

(1) Appointed as an executive Director, Chief Executive Officer and a
member of the Remuneration Committee on 20 August 2024. Three
Board meetings were held after 20 August 2024.

(2) Resigned as an executive Director, Chief Executive Officer and a
member of the Remuneration Committee on 20 August 2024. Two
Board meetings and one Remuneration Committee meeting were
held before 20 August 2024.
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(8) Appointed as a non-executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee on 20 August 2024. Three Board meetings and two Audit
Committee meetings were held after 20 August 2024.

(4) Resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee on 20 August 2024. Two Board meetings and one Audit
Committee meeting were held before 20 August 2024.

All the Directors have access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary to ensure all board procedures and
all applicable laws, rules and regulations are complied with.
The Directors update the Board regarding offices held in
public companies and organisations, and other significant
commitments once every half year. There are also procedures for
the Directors to obtain independent professional advice at the
Company’s expense.

Code provision C.2.7 of the Corporate Governance Code stipulated
that the chairman should at least annually hold meeting(s) with
the independent non-executive directors without the presence of
other directors. The meeting was held on 30 August 2024.

Board Diversity Policy

The Group recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board to enhance the quality of the Company’s
performance.

The Nomination Committee of the Board is primarily responsible
for leading the process for Board appointments and for
identifying and nominating, for approval by the Board, suitably
qualified candidates to become members of the Board. The
benefits of diversity continue to influence the succession
planning of the Board.

@ RoE-MENAS+EREEAFATES
RERERGMA-R-B-NE\S=+B0%
BRI REFR R RRMAERERE S S

@) MIE_MENB-+HREFNTESRE
ZEEEME -N_ZHF/N\BZ+HABEE
TMREFE TR —REREZEGEH-

EREFHREARMEZ TR KRS » IR
FrEESERFRITAEBRZEA RRAKENE
EET EEB¥FRNEFERMUBRFIERIRA
Bl RARBFTEERS R EMEANKIEZ RHE
Floltih KRB EERFREESNEULE
FRR > BRAMBAAR T

EEERTATARXEC2/FREEFTE LR
REVSFRBIIFNTESFRT —RREH
HMESHENGZR -ZEZEN _Z_NFENA
=+H&17°
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When identifying candidates for Board membership of the
Company, the Nomination Committee takes into account the
board diversity policy of the Company (“Board Diversity Policy”). A
range of diversity factors, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional and industry
experience, skills, knowledge and time commitments will be
considered in selection of each candidate to become member of
the Board. All Board appointments will be based on merits and
contribution that the selected individuals will bring to the Board.
The Company’s own business model and specific needs have
also been taken into consideration in setting the Board Diversity
Policy. External recruitment professionals might be engaged to
carry out the selection and recruitment process when necessary.

In conducting the annual review of the effectiveness of the
Board, the Nomination Committee considers the balance of
talents, skills, experience and background and the diversity
representation of the Board. The Nomination Committee reviews
annually all measurable objectives for achieving diversity on
the Board and recommend them to the Board for adoption. The
Nomination Committee reports annually on the process it has
used for Board appointments.

Measurable objectives include (i) at least one third of the Board
shall be independent non-executive Directors; (ii) at least
one Director is female and (iii) at least one Director shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications. For
2024, the Group had fulfilled the above measurable objectives.

Gender Diversity

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises six Directors,
two of which are female. The Company targets to avoid a single
gender Board and will timely review the gender diversity of the
Board in accordance with the corporate governance practices
and business development of the Group. The Company believes
the gender diversity in the Board would bring more inspiration to
the Board and enhance the business development of the Group,
and thus, gender diversity is one of the essential factors for the
Company to select suitable successors to the Board.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 9 employees in total
comprising of 4 females and 5 males (that is, a female-to-male
ratio of 4:5 and the gender ratio in respect of senior management
is 0:3), reflecting a gender equality principle adhered by the
Group. Same as the gender diversity of the Board, the Company
targets to avoid a single gender workforce and will review the
gender diversity of all employees in accordance with the business
development of the Group when appropriate.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted the Director Nomination Process and
Selection Criteria of the Company (the “Nomination Policy”),
which aims to set out the relevant selection criteria and
nomination procedures to assist the Nomination Committee
and the Board to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspective appropriate to
the requirement of the Group's businesses. A summary of the
Nomination Policy is disclosed as below.

1. Criteria

The Nomination Committee and the Board shall consider the
following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

«  Character and integrity.

« Qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy.

«  Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a Board member and other directorships and
significant commitments.

+  Requirement for the Board to have independent non-
executive Directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidates would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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- Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Nomination Committee or the Board for
achieving diversity on the Board.

« Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.

2. Nomination Process
2.1 Appointment of New Director

211 The Nomination Committee or the Board shall,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out in section 1 above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

21.21f the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of
the Company and reference check of each candidate
(where applicable).

21.3 The Nomination Committee shall then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship.

2.4 For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of
the Company, the Nomination Committee and the
Board shall evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out in section 1 above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship
and where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board shall make recommendation to
Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
director at the general meeting.
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2.2 Re-election of Director at General Meeting

2.21The Nomination Committee and the Board shall
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director including his/
her attendance of Board meetings and, where
applicable, general meetings, and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

2.2.2The Nomination Committee shall also review and
determine whether the retiring director continues to
meet the criteria as set out in section 1 above.

2.2.3The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
then make recommendation to Shareholders in
respect of the proposed re-election of director at the
general meeting.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Board confirms the term of appointment and functions of
all non-executive Directors and Board Committee members
with formal letters of appointment. Non-executive Directors are
appointed for a term of three years.

Directors who are appointed to fill vacancies or as an addition to
the Board are subject to re-election at the next following general
meeting of the Company after his or her appointment. In addition,
every Director, including every non-executive Director, shall retire
from office no later than the third annual general meeting after
he/she was last elected or re-elected. One-third of the Directors
for the time being, or if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then a number not less than one-third, are required to
retire by rotation from office at every annual general meeting
under the Company’s Bye-Laws. A retiring Director is eligible for
re-election.
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The Company maintains procedures for Shareholders to propose
a person for election as a director of the Company. The details of
these procedures are published on the Company’s website.

Appointment and Induction of New Directors

Each newly appointed Director first meets with fellow Directors
and key executives, and receives a comprehensive, formal, and
tailored induction upon his/her appointment. Subsequently,
he/she receives the briefings and professional development
necessary to ensure he/she has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and business, and full awareness of his/
her obligations, duties and responsibilities under the Listing
Rules, the SFO, legal and other regulatory requirements, and, in
particular, the Company’s business and governance policies.

Mr. Wang Zuomin and Mr. Ren Zhigiang, who were appointed
as an executive Director and a non-executive Director of the
Company, respectively, effective from 20 August 2024, attended
a training on 8 August 2024 pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the Listing
Rules covering the requirements under the Listing Rules as a
director of a listed company and the possible consequences of
making a false declaration or giving false information to the Stock
Exchange.

Each of Mr.Wang and Mr. Ren has confirmed his understanding of
the information provided by the legal adviser and his obligations
as a director of a listed issuer.

Directors’ Remunerations

The Directors’ fees and all other reimbursements and
emoluments (if any) paid or payable to the Directors during the
year are set out, on an individual and named basis, in Note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report on
pages 226 to 231.

The remuneration policy of the Group is set out on page 26 of this
Annual Report.
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Compliance with the Model Code and the Company’s
Guidelines

The Board has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of
conduct for securities transactions by its Directors. Having made
specific enquiry with all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
their compliance with the required standards set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the
date of this Annual Report.

The Company has also adopted written guidelines (the
“Company’s Guidelines”), which are equally stringent as the
Model Code, in respect of securities transactions by relevant
employees of the Company who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Company pursuant to code
provision C.1.3 of the Corporate Governance Code. No incident
of non-compliance against the Model Code or the Company’s
Guidelines by the Company’s relevant employees had been noted
after making reasonable enquiry.

Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Board has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a written annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules and is grateful for the
contribution and independent advice and guidance that they
have been giving to the Board and the Board Committees.

Directors are required to declare their direct or indirect interests,
if any, in any proposals or transactions to be considered by the
Board at Board meetings and withdraw if appropriate.
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The Board has adopted the board independence evaluation
mechanism (the “Mechanism”) which sets out the principles and
guidelines for the Company to ensure independent view and input
to be available to the Board in accordance with code provision
B.1.4 of the Corporate Governance Code, and the implementation
and effectiveness of such Mechanism is reviewed on an annual
basis.

Continuing improvement and development of the Board and
its committees processes and procedures through Board
independence evaluation provides a powerful and valuable
feedback mechanism for improving Board effectiveness,
maximising strengths, and identifying the areas that need
improvement or further development. The evaluation process
also clarifies what actions of the Company need to be taken
to maintain and improve the Board performance, for instance,
addressing individual training and development needs of
each Director. The Mechanism is designed to ensure a strong
independent element on the Board, which allows the Board to
effectively exercise independent judgment to better safeguard
shareholders’ interests.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director of
the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in appropriate
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated
briefings for Directors are arranged and reading materials on
relevant topics are distributed to Directors from time to time.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, all the Directors HE_ZT_NF+_B=+—HILFE FIEE
participated in continuous professional development ZHERRFEFXEETE AFEBARIA
programmes, including but not limited to internally-facilitated ~AABKREBRFEATERWHIATEN S K
briefings organised by the Company and qualified professionals — FIfREMEEF5F R B 2 5 IR AR LUK BIE
and trainings conducted by law firm and professional RAESHERSENME -SEEMBET 2T
parties, and reading materials relevant to directors’ duties sCEERFRAABRE MBI EBNENFTIEST
and responsibilities. A record of the trainings received by the  1B3/IEEEEI o

respective Directors are kept and updated by the Company. The

training areas that the Directors received during the year were as

follow
Training Areas
pe= [l =
Corporate Legal and Group’s
Governance Regulatory Business
EER

Name of Director EENY TEER RE REEER
Mr. Wang Hai FieEE v v v
Mr. Wang Zuomin FERRED v v 4
Mr. Huang Wei @ BRIfTE? v v v
Mr. Ren Zhigiang © EER A v v v
Mr. Yu Xianging RITBFEY v v v
Dr. Song Ming REgiE+ v v v
Dr. Sun Mingchun BBAEEL v v v
Ms. Liu Yan 29+ v v/ v/
Notes: PEET
(1) Appointed as an executive Director on 20 August 2024. (1) RIZBZNENBZ+HEZEABRITES-
(2) Resigned as an executive Director on 20 August 2024. 2 RIZZMENAZ+BHBEERTES.
(3) Appointed as a non-executive Director on 20 August 2024. Q) MIZEZMENBZ+HEZEAIFNITES-
(4) Resigned as a non-executive Director on 20 August 2024. (4) RIZZWFENBZ+HBEERITES-
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Directors’ Responsibility for Financial Reporting in
respect of Financial Statements

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Other matters relating to the Board

The Group has appropriate insurance in place to cover the
liabilities of the Directors and officers of the Group.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

As at the date of this report, Mr. Wang Hai is the Chairman of
the Board and Mr. Wang Zuomin is the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. The primary role of the Chairman is to provide
leadership for the Board. He is responsible for the proper
functioning of the Board and for securing the application of
good corporate governance practices. The Chairman ensures the
Board has formulated the corporate goals and objectives, long-
term business model and strategy for delivering the corporate
strategy of the Group, and establishes an effective system for
monitoring the progress of their effective implementation and
achievement. He directs the corporate development activities of
the Group, and ensures that effective steps are taken to provide
effective communication with Shareholders and that their views
are communicated to the Board as a whole. The Chairman is
also responsible for setting the Board’s agenda and ensuring
that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at board
meetings and that adequate time is available for discussion of
all agenda items in particular strategic issues. He promotes a
culture of openness and debate by encouraging Directors with
different views to voice their concerns, allow sufficient time for
discussions fairly reflect board consensus, and facilitating the
effective contribution of non-executive Directors in particular
and ensuring constructive relations between executive and non-
executive Directors. Furthermore, the Chairman is responsible for
ensuring that the Directors receive, in a timely manner, accurate,
clear,complete and reliable information.
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The primary role of the Chief Executive Officer is to focus on
attending to the formulation and implementation of the Group’s
policies and overseeing the implementation of the strategies and
objectives agreed by the Board. The senior management should
support the Chief Executive Officer in performing this. The Chief
Executive Officer has principal responsibility for overseeing day-
to-day management of the Group’s businesses and operations,
maintaining the operational performance of the Group and
monitoring the operating and financial results of the Group's
businesses against plans and budgets.

Board Committees

The Board has established the Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees with mandates to deal with certain
corporate governance affairs of the Group. The Terms of
Reference of each of the above-mentioned Committees
are available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the
Company’s website.

From time to time, the Board will also establish other board
committee(s) to deal with specific aspects of its business.

Each Committee is established with written terms of reference
which are no less exacting than those set out in the Corporate
Governance Code, setting out its roles and functions. Each
member of the Committee has a formal letter of appointment
setting out key terms and conditions relating to his/her
appointment.

Each Committee meets as frequently as required by business
developments and the operation of the Group. Committee
members are provided with adequate and timely information
before each meeting or discussion. All Committee members are
asked to review and comment on the minutes of their meetings
within a reasonable time after the meetings.

The procedures and arrangements relating to the meetings of
the Board are applied to meetings of the Board Committees
whenever it is appropriate.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in 1998 with its defined
written terms of reference (which was revised in August 2018).
As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Moy Yee Wo
Matthew (Chairman of the Audit Committee) and Ms. Li Li Hua,
and a non-executive Director, Mr. Ren Zhigiang. A majority of Audit
Committee members are independent non-executive Directors,
with Mr. Moy Yee Wo Matthew and Ms. Li Li Hua possessing the
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and
related financial management expertise.

The Audit Committee members have professional qualifications
and experience in financial matters that enable the Committee
to exercise its powers effectively and provide the Board with
independent views and recommendations in relation to financial
matters.

The principal roles of the Audit Committee are to ensure that
the Company has formal and transparent arrangements for
considering matters relating to the Group’s financial reporting,
and risk management and internal control systems and for
maintaining an appropriate relationship with the Company’s
internal auditor (if any) and external auditor.

The duties of the Audit Committee, as set out in its terms of
reference, covering the relevant code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code.

The Audit Committee holds two regular meetings annually
and also meets at such other times as circumstances require.
Any Audit Committee member may convene a meeting of the
Committee. The external auditor may also request the Committee
Chairman to convene a meeting of the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee may invite the external auditor and/or members of
management to attend any of the meetings. Special meetings
may be called at the discretion of the Committee Chairman or at
the request of management to review significant internal control,
risk management or financial issues. The Committee Chairman
reports to the Board at least twice a year on the Committee’s
activities and highlights any significant issues.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, Audit Committee held
three meetings and the individual attendance records of each
of the Audit Committee members are set out on page 34 of this
Annual Report.

The Audit Committee’s main works during the year included
reviewing:

« 2023 Annual Report, including the Corporate Governance
Report, Directors’ Report and the audited consolidated
financial statements, as well as the related annual results
announcement (with recommendations made to the Board
for approval)

« 2024 Interim Report and interim results announcement (with
recommendations made to the Board for approval)

« compliance with the Corporate Governance Code, the SFO,
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the Listing Rules

« in relation to the external auditors, their report on the review
of interim consolidated financial information and the audit
of the Group's consolidated financial statements, key audit
findings, audit services plan and letter of management’s
representation, and terms of engagement

« Internal Control Assessment Report (with areas of concerns
discussed and highlighted to the Board)

- effectiveness of the financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems and associated
procedures within the Group

« annual review of the continuing connected transactions

During the year, the Board has not taken any view that is
different from that of the Audit Committee nor rejected any
recommendation presented by the Audit Committee.

There were no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The Audit Committee recommended to the Board (which in turn
endorsed the view) that, subject to Shareholders’ approval at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, BDO Limited be re-
appointed as the external auditor for year 2025.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2000 with its
defined written terms of reference (which was revised in January
2023). A majority of its members are independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this report, the Remuneration
Committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Li Li Hua (Chairlady of the Remuneration Committee)
and Dr. Xie Wensi, and an executive Director, Mr. Wang Zuomin.

The Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration policies
and structure of the Group with the delegated responsibility to
determine the remuneration packages of executive Director(s)
and senior management of the Group (as defined in the terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee). It also makes
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors.

In conducting its work in relation to the determination of
remuneration of Directors and senior management, the
Remuneration Committee ensures that no individual (or any of
his/her close associates) was involved in determining his or her
own remuneration.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee, as set out in its
terms of reference, covering the relevant code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code.

The Remuneration Committee meets once a year and at such
other time as necessary. Any Committee member may convene a
meeting of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting and the individual attendance
records of each of the Remuneration Committee members are set
out on page 34 of this Annual Report.
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The Remuneration Committee’s main works during the year
included:

+  review of the remuneration policy and structure of the Group

« review and determination of the remuneration package of
executive Directors and senior management

« review and recommendation of the Directors’ fees of all the
independent non-executive Directors for approval by the
Board

« review and recommendation of the terms of the service
contract of Mr. Wang Zuomin as executive Director for
approval by the Board

« review and recommendation of the terms of the service
contract of Mr. Ren Zhigiang as non-executive Director for
approval by the Board

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2005 with its
defined written terms of reference (which was revised in March
2017). A majority of its members are independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee
comprises an executive Director, Mr. Wang Hai (Chairman of the
Nomination Committee) and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Li Li Hua and Mr. Moy Yee Wo Matthew.

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for
identifying suitably qualified individuals to become members
of the Board, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of Directors and senior management, reviewing
the size, structure and composition (including the skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity) of the Board, reviewing the
effectiveness of the Company’s Board Diversity Policy annually
and making recommendations to the Board on the measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board. It also assesses
the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

Before an appointment is made, the Nomination Committee
evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the
Board and, in the light of this evaluation, prepares a description
of the role and capabilities required for a particular appointment.
If deemed appropriate, external consultants may be engaged to
identify suitable candidates.

HINEZEENEANNTETFEE !

o BEERAEERZHINBERRAERE

- BRKETATESFREREEREZFMNG
e

- BRERBIIFATESNESFAES M
EFCRNES UHHE

- BREFRAEHERITEZZRBEEIF
o WAEE SRR UAHE

- BREESHRAEREFRTERZRB SR
1R WEEE GRS UHALE

RHEEG

AREFIREEREER (W _2—tEF=A1
SRR EESEN ST REMIL HAEMDM
ERBUFATER -REAREHH REEE
EH—RPTESEELE BRREEEIHE) &
MABIUIFRITESRAE L LT RIS EAE
Ao

RYEEETEEBYEAETEERALTES
EFgNE REFNSREEREZERNEES
REES TN EEG RS RENEN (B
FERRE Rl B K 2 b)) » UEFRA TR
BAEFEZTCBCRZEMMEUNAESTEER
ZEZ A BEERREF SR HEZR - HIRET
B FNITE SR 2Bt -

EFHEER RRERE G EES TN
R/ B 2 9GRS » WARIEST T2 E R
ZHBERIARBZTE - HEEERREE
IREINERRR LB EBAE

RIIRTIERARAT —Z_NFERSE 49



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ARk §i

The duties of the Nomination Committee, as set out in its terms of
reference, covering the relevant code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least annually or meet
at such time as the Committee Chairman shall require. Any
Nomination Committee member may convene a meeting of the
Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting and the individual attendance
records of each of the Nomination Committee members are set
out on page 34 of this Annual Report.

During 2024, the Nomination Committee completed the review of
the size, structure and composition of the Board and assessed
the independence of independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to code provision B.3.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code and made recommendations to the Board on the re-election
of retiring Directors. It also conducted a review on the diversity
of the Board and recommended to the Board for approval of the
appointment of Mr. Wang Zuomin as an executive Director and Mr.
Ren Zhigiang as a non-executive Director of the Company.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer and is responsible for ensuring there
is a good and timely flow of information to Directors, both in their
roles as Board members and as members of individual Board
Committees. He also assists with the continuing professional
development of Board members. The Company Secretary is
responsible for taking and keeping minutes of all Board and
Board Committee meetings.

The Company Secretary also plays an important role in advising
the Board on all corporate governance-related matters and is
also available to provide advice to the Board. Ms. Foo Man VYee,
the Company Secretary, has confirmed that she has undertaken
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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Ms. Foo Man Yee of CS Legend Business Services Limited, an
external services provider, has been appointed as the Company
Secretary of the Company since April 2022. Her primary contact
person at the Company is Mr. Zou Laiying, the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company.

Risk Management and Internal Control

All activities conducted and all decisions made by the Company
may involve risks to a certain extent. The Board plays a critical
role of monitoring the risk exposure of the Company. The Board
considers the risks in an active manner in setting of strategies.
The Board also considers the risks in assessing opportunities for
business development and growth so as to determine the risk
appetite of the Company.

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for the
risk management and internal control systems and for reviewing
the effectiveness of these systems annually so as to safeguard
the Shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets.
Accordingly, the Company has established internal control and
risk management systems to provide reasonable assurance
against material misstatement or loss and manage or mitigate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.

The Company’s objective is to establish a comprehensive and
effective risk management and internal control systems. The
Board is aware of its responsibility to ensure that an appropriate
and effective risk management system is established and
maintained by the Company.

The Group has in place an Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”)
framework to effectively identify, assess, report, mitigate and
monitor key risks. The framework provides a proactive and
structured approach to identify, manage and monitor risks
on an on-going basis with a common framework across the
organisation to evaluate risk significance and likelihood of
occurrence.
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Risks faced by the Company fall into a number of principal
categories: strategic risk, operational risk, compliance risk,
financial risk and information risk. The procedures of ERM
of the Company involve risk identification, risk assessment/
prioritisation, risk response and risk monitoring and reporting.
Risks and uncertainties associated with the business of the
Company may have an adverse effect on business, financial
conditions and results of the Company. The Company has
identified certain principal risks through risk identification and
assessment, and has developed risks monitoring mechanism to
facilitate risk monitoring and control.

The Group operates a “Three Lines of Defence” risk governance
model to delegate and coordinate essential risk management
and control duties in a clear and cohesive manner:

(a) First line of defence — Business units are responsible for
maintaining effective internal controls and for executing risk
and control procedures on a day-to-day basis. Operational
management identifies, assesses, controls, and mitigates
risks, guides the development and implementation of
internal policies and procedures and ensures that activities
are consistent with goals and objectives. Through a
cascading responsibility structure, mid-level managers
design and implement detailed procedures that serve as
controls and supervise execution of those procedures by their
employees.

(b) Second line of defence - (1) Business Management
Department monitors the risk management system,
and facilitates the development, setting and effective
implementation of policies and guidelines. It provides
advice and guidance to the first-line functional units on
implementation of the risk management and internal
control systems; (2) Legal and Compliance Department
monitors various specific risks such as non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations; (3) Company Secretarial
Department monitors various specific risks such as violation
of applicable rules and regulations; (4) Finance Department
serves as a controllership function that monitors financial
risks and financial reporting issues.

(c) Third line of defence — Internal audit function, which reports
to the Audit Committee, provides independent assessment
over the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems and makes recommendations based on the
audit findings.
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During the year, an independent professional advisory firm
has been engaged by the Company as the consultant of the
Group. It is responsible for conducting in-depth review on risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. Such
review is conducted annually. The advisory firm has issued a
report with its opinion that the Company has maintained effective
and adequate risk management and internal control systems,
which are compliant and align with the Company’s operational
and management systems.

The purpose of the internal control system of the Company is to
improve the operating effectiveness and efficiency, safeguard
assets against abuse and unauthorised disposition, ensure the
maintenance of proper accounting records and that the financial
statements give a true and fair view, and ensure compliance with
relevant legislation and regulations. It provides reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss,
and manages, rather than eliminates, risks associated with the
business activities of the Company.

The Board together with the Audit Committee have reviewed
the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company during the year.
The Board will upgrade the existing systems of the Company
with reference to the recommendations given by the above-
mentioned independent professional advisory firm, in the areas
of financial management, operation and corporate controls
and risk management. The Board is satisfied that effective and
adequate risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are maintained and align with the operational and
management systems of the Company. The Directors consider
that it is necessary for the Company to continuously improve its
internal control system to the extent that the risks preventing the
Company from achieving its objectives can be properly managed.

FR AREBRERFRB UL AEIBERARE
EEERE aENAEENEREERAIEZER
HEETTRABIIRET « RIS B F T o B
BEMIEEARS  RBEATABREERAL
EERARERA N ESN  TEA AT EEIE
AitRBHTE-

TABABEIERMEERSEENm AWK
BREEFNSRERRERERIE  MHI5E
Z BB RAEBE AT ZHHRE WHERET
MREERERE - Nl BEEMR D FEERIER
PRt BB R H S IR B IFEH 2 (ReE > W EIEM
eI [E R NSIES SR I Sl

EFgEAERZZECENERNESARERR
BEERANSEERAESANEN - EFTR
BRI R B BB R R ARIREN
2 AEMBEER - EEREEEFREARE
BEHH EFEEMNRNABEREMRENN
EBREERANEEIERG LEANBEERE
BERGULE -EEX AR AT AU ENETTET
ENEEERG LEREBRENAT AT BENE
R EEEEE

RIIRTIERABRAR — T _NFERSE 53



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ARk §i

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has established and implemented specific policies
and procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, including limiting employees’
access to inside information on a “need-to-know” basis and
ensuring that those who need to know understand their
obligations to maintain the confidentiality of any confidential
information of the Group. Appropriate confidentiality agreements
are put in place when the Company enters into significant
negotiations. All inside information is disclosed to the public
pursuant to the requirements under the SFO and the Listing
Rules and is kept strictly confidential before disclosure.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Risks and uncertainties can affect the Group’s business, financial
condition and operating results. Key risks affecting the Group are
identified below. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently
known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial may
also have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows. The Group
employs an ERM framework to identify current and foreseeable
risks at different levels of the organisation so as to take
preventive actions to manage and mitigate their adverse impacts.
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(1) Regulatory compliance risks

The Hong Kong financial market in which the Group operates
is highly regulated. The Company, as a listed company in Hong
Kong, together with a subsidiary with SFC licence to carry
out relevant regulated activities, are required to comply with
the rules and regulations from various regulatory bodies. The
regulatory and compliance regime in the financial industry
of Hong Kong is changing constantly, which increases the
likelihood of regulatory non-compliance as new rules are
introduced and existing ones are tightened. The Group may
encounter challenges in keeping abreast of the changes
and managing regulatory compliance risks, particularly in
the areas of handling connected transactions, notifiable
transactions and managing the disclosure of inside
information, preventing money laundering transactions for
money lending business. In case of failure to comply with the
applicable rules and regulations, the Group may be subject
to fines, or even suspension or revocation of the license for
carrying on the business activities. Accordingly, the Group’s
business operations and financial results might be materially
and adversely affected.
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The Group requires the right people, skills and
capability to manage growth and change

The Group has established an organisation structure
to address business changes and relevant regulatory
requirements. Staff roles and responsibilities, authorities
and limits, reporting lines and segregation of duties need to
be clearly defined. Since most of the Group’s core businesses
commenced operation with limited number of key personnel
in each business segment, the Group is required to review
the needs of staff resources in order to cope with the
business expansion and deliver success in the future.
Given that the competition for competent personnel in the
industry is intense, there is high likelihood that competent
personnel may leave the Company, therefore, the Group may
encounter difficulties in attracting or retaining the services
of the necessary key personnel for that business segment.
The Group should hire and retain highly skilled employees
with particular expertise or leadership capability in order
to remain competitive. The implementation of the Group’s
strategic business plans could be undermined by failure to
build a resilient corporate culture, failure to recruit or retain
key personnel, unexpected loss of key senior employees,
failures in the Group's succession planning and incentive
plans, or failure to invest in the development of key skills.

The Group is subject to a competitive and changing
industry

Financial services segment is one of the reportable and
operating segments of the Group. The financial service
industry in Hong Kong has a large number of participants
which makes the industry highly competitive. The Group
has to compete against competitors which may have
greater brand recognition in the market, more human and
financial resources, a wider range of services and longer
operating history than that of the Group. Apart from large
multinational financial institutions, the Group also faces
competition from local small and medium-sized financial
services firms which offer a similar range of services.
Failure to maintain the Group's competitive strengths by
responding rapidly to the changing business environment
and intensified competition may erode the Group’s market
share and result in an adverse.
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(4) Risks related to strategic planning and reputation

GWAMCC, one of the four major state-owned financial
asset management corporations in the PRC, is engaged in
the businesses of acquisition, management and disposal
of non-performing assets, asset management, banking,
securities, insurance, trust, leasing, investment, etc. As a
result of changes in the Group's shareholding structure and
businesses in 2016 and 2017, GWAMCC became the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company. The Group is now
principally engaged in property investment and provision
of financial services including asset management. The
Board has formulated development plans and strategies
to accomplish the strategic objectives of transforming the
Group into a conglomerate with businesses in property
investment and integrated financial services, and developing
the Company as a major listed entity and an integrated
development platform of GWAMCC outside Mainland China.

The Group will leverage the solid foundation, strengths and
reputation that GWAMCC has formed in Hong Kong and
Mainland China, in order to constantly expand its businesses.
As such, the Group is exposed to inherent reputation risks,
failure to deliver quality services to clients could result in an
adverse impact on Great Wall's brand reputation.
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(5) Financial and regulatory reporting risks (5) HBREERSENE

As a listed company, the Company has statutory and social
responsibilities to prepare accurate and timely financial
statements which provide objective and reliable information
for stakeholders to base their decisions upon. Inaccurate or
untimely reporting could seriously affect the Group’s position
such as a drop in share price, or impaired sourcing/financing
ability. The Group carried out asset management business,
which indicates that new financial reporting processes
are implemented and experienced finance staff would
be required to extract, assemble, aggregate and analyse
financial data to ensure accurate financial reporting. The
process of financial reporting becomes more complex and
frequent, and transactions may involve complex accounting
treatment or estimation. The Finance Department is required
to assess the impact of the new or revised standards upon
adoption from time to time. In addition, licensed corporations
are subject to various statutory returns (i.e. the Securities
and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules, Disclosure of
Interests, etc) under the requirement of the SFC and other
regulatory bodies.

The Group is exposed to various key risks including credit
risks, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. Details of the
aforesaid key risks and risk mitigation measures are
elaborated in Note 28 “Financial Risk Management” to the
consolidated financial statements included in this Annual
Report.
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(6) FEFEREZEIIAEEIERTRILRS]

(6) The Group requires a robust internal control system

and controls

The Group is operating under a highly regulated environment.
As a listed company with SFC licensed subsidiary, members
of the Group are required to establish sound and effective
internal controls which are designed to identify and manage
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, ensure
reliable financial reporting, effective and efficient operations,
and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Apart
from the investment property business, other core business,
including asset management was introduced in 2017. The
Group has established relevant policies and procedures to
cope with the business development. Strengthening of the
internal control and risk management systems is an ongoing
process, the Group is expected to continue designing and
implementing appropriate measures to meet the changing
business environment. Failure in delivering services in a
proper manner, the Group may result in facing a loss in
market share, reputation and sales revenue.

(7) Risks pertaining to investment properties

The prospects of the Group's property investment business
depend on the performance of the property market in
Hong Kong. The property market in Hong Kong is affected
by many factors, including but not limited to, changes
in local and international economic, political, social and
legal environments and changes in Hong Kong’s fiscal
and monetary policies, all of which are beyond the control
of the Group. The Group holds various commercial, retail
and industrial buildings in Hong Kong and derives revenue
through leasing out the properties. Being one of the Group’s
core businesses, any property market downturn in Hong
Kong may materially and adversely affect the financial
position, operations, businesses and prospects of the Group
and may lead to fair value loss of the Group's investment
properties.
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External Auditor

BDO Limited was appointed as the Group's external auditor on 16
June 2021, following the retirement of PricewaterhouseCoopers
as external auditor with effect from the same date. Save as
disclosed, there is no other change in external auditor of the
Group in the preceding three years.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, BDO Limited provided
the following audit and non-audit services to the Group:
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2024
=Sl 3
HK$°000
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External audit
Tax services
Other services

SNESERL
MRS
HAARTS

1,050

150

BDO Limited will retire and offer themselves for re-appointment
at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
Wednesday, 18 June 2025.

The statement by BDO Limited about their reporting
responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” section of
this Annual Report on pages 150 to 156.

Investor Relations & Shareholders’ Rights

All of the Company’s shares are ordinary shares carrying equal
voting rights. Please refer to the “Directors’ Report” section of this
Annual Report on page 84 for information regarding the public
float status of the Company.
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The Company recognises its responsibility to look after the
interests of its Shareholders. Shareholder relations play an
integral part in corporate governance. The Company keeps
Shareholders informed of its performance, operations and
significant business developments by adopting a transparent
and timely corporate disclosure policy, i.e. the Shareholders’
Communication Policy, which complies with the Listing Rules and
provides all Shareholders with equal access to such information.
The Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders’ Communication Policy and the results were
satisfactory as the Company has established a number of
channels, as detailed below, for maintaining dialogues with the
Shareholders.

The Shareholders’ Communication Policy of the Company is
available on the website of the Company.

The Company reports on financial and operating performance
to Shareholders twice each year through annual and interim
reports. Shareholders are given opportunities to raise concerns
or propose recommendations to the Board at the Company’s
annual general meetings. The Company’s external auditor
attend annual general meetings to answer questions about the
external audit and the audit report. Shareholders may visit our
website (www.gwpaholdings.com) for share price information,
latest business developments, announcements, corporate
governance policies and practices and other relevant shareholder
information.

The Company Secretary is responsible for responding
enquiries from Shareholders and other interested parties.
Specific enquiries by Shareholders requiring the Board’s and
management’s attention (to the extent it is publicly available
and appropriate to provide) can be sent to the Company, for the
attention of the Company Secretary, by mail to 21st Floor, Bank of
America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong.

Note: Any such letter from the Shareholders should be marked
“Shareholders' Communication” on the envelope.
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The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.

The Company promotes fair disclosure of information to all
investors and uses best endeavours to ensure that disclosures
made by the Company comply with the Listing Rules’ prohibition
against selective disclosure of inside information.

During the year, the Company held one annual general meeting
and one special general meeting, and the attendance records
of each of the individual Directors are set out on page 34 of this
Annual Report.

Shareholders have specific rights to convene special general
meetings. A Shareholder or Shareholders holding not less than
one-tenth of the Company’s Shares may require the Directors to
convene a special general meeting of the Company by depositing
a signed requisition at the registered office of the Company,
pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, with a copy
to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong,
stating the purpose of the meeting.

Note: Any such written requisition from the Shareholders should be

marked “Shareholders' Communication” on the envelope.
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Shareholders can submit a written requisition to put forward a
resolution at general meeting. The Shareholders shall represent
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all the
Shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to
vote at the general meeting to which the requisition relates, or
shall not be less than one hundred Shareholders. The written
requisition must be signed by all the requisitionists and state
the resolution, accompanied by a statement of not more than
one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in
any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at
the general meeting. The requisition must be deposited at the
Company’s registered office pursuant to the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda, with a copy to its principal place of business
in Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary, not
less than six weeks before the general meeting in the case of
a requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not less than
one week before the general meeting in the case of any other
requisition. If, after the requisition requiring notice of a resolution
has been deposited at the registered office of the Company, an
annual general meeting is called for a date six weeks or less after
the requisition has been deposited, the requisition though not
deposited within the above-mentioned time shall be deemed
to have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof. The
requisitionists shall be responsible for the relevant expenses
incurred in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
unless the Company otherwise resolves.

Note: Any such written requisition from the Shareholders should be
marked “Shareholders' Communication” on the envelope.
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The Company held the 2024 annual general meeting on Thursday,
20 June 2024, during which matters including approving the 2023
audited financial statements of the Group and the accompanying
reports, re-election of retiring Directors, authorisation of the
Board to fix Directors’ remuneration, re-appointment of external
auditor, and grant of general mandates for the issuance and buy-
back of Shares by the Group as well as to extend the general
mandate to issue shares of the shares bought back by the
Company, were presented for Shareholders’ approval. At such
annual general meeting, details of the poll voting procedures and
the rights of Shareholders to demand a poll were set out in the
circular to Shareholders. All proposed resolutions were voted by
poll and the poll results were published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting will be held
on Wednesday, 18 June 2025. A circular containing, among other
matters, further information relating to the forthcoming annual
general meeting will be dispatched to the Shareholders as soon
as practicable.

Constitutional Documents

On 10 March 2023, the Board proposed to amend and restate the
then Bye-Laws (the “Proposed Amendments”) in order to, among
other things, (i) conform to the Core Shareholders Protection
Standards set out in the amended Appendix 3 to the Listing
Rules, (i) enable the Company to hold and conduct general
meeting in the form of a hybrid, electronic or physical meeting;
(i) bring the existing Bye-Laws in line with the amendments
made to the applicable laws of Bermuda and the Listing Rules;
and (iv) incorporate certain house-keeping amendments, and to
adopt a set of amended and restated Bye-Laws incorporating the
Proposed Amendments in substitution for and to the exclusion of
the existing Bye-Laws.

As approved by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting
held on 16 June 2023 by way of a special resolution, the amended
and restated Bye-Laws has been adopted in substitution for and
to the exclusion of the then Bye-Laws. For further details, please
refer to the circular of the Company dated 10 May 2023 and the
announcements of the Company dated 10 March 2023 and 16
June 20283.
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Save as disclosed above, during the year 2024, the Company has
not made any significant amendments to its Memorandum of
Association and Bye-Laws of the Company. The Company’s latest
Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws is available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Disclosures of Directors’ Information Pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules

Directors’ Positions Held
On 15 March 2025;

— Dr. Song Ming resigned as an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company;

— Dr. Sun Mingchun resigned as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee of the Company;

- Ms. Liu Yan resigned as an independent non-executive
Director and the chairlady of the Audit Committee of the
Company;

- Ms. Li Li Hua was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, chairlady of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company;

- Mr. Moy Yee Wo Matthew was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, chairman of the Audit Committee and
a member of the Nomination Committee of the Company; and

- Dr. Xie Wensi was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company.
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Disclosures Pursuant to Rule 13.21 of the Listing
Rules

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of Rule 13.21
of the Listing Rules, the following disclosures are included in
respect of the Company’s two loan agreements, which contain
covenants requiring performance obligations of the controlling
Shareholders of the Company, as follows:

() On 26 April 2024, the Company (as the guarantor) entered
into a loan agreement with Ray Glory Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Borrower”) and a
bank (“Bank A”) (as the lender) in relation to a committed
term loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to
HK$850,000,000 for a period of 364 days from the date of the
loan agreement. Pursuant to the loan agreement, it shall be
an event of default when Great Wall International does not
or ceases to have direct or indirect control over the Borrower
and Bank A may terminate the loan agreement and demand
immediate payment and/or repayment of all amounts
outstanding (together with interest accrued thereon and any
other amounts owing to Bank A) under or in connection with
the committed term loan facility from the Borrower; and

(i) On 26 April 2024, the Company (as the guarantor) entered
into a second loan agreement with the Borrower and Bank
A (as the lender) in relation to a committed term loan facility
in an aggregate principal amount of up to HK$850,000,000
for a period of b years from the date of the loan agreement.
Pursuant to the loan agreement, it shall be an event of
default when Great Wall International does not or ceases to
have direct or indirect control over the Borrower and Bank A
may terminate the loan agreement and demand immediate
payment and/or repayment of all amounts outstanding
(together with interest accrued thereon and any other
amounts owing to Bank A) under or in connection with the
committed term loan facility from the Borrower.
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Remuneration of Senior Management =i EEEMNE
The remuneration of the members of the senior managementby &®HEZE_ZT_WNE+_A=1+—HIFEESKEE
band for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below: [E kB fesr e E &) D BBE &SN T -
Number of
members of
senior
management
BREEERSHE
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000t 4
HK$1,000,001 - HK$2,000,000 1,000,001t & 2,000,000 7T 1
Total &t 5
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The Board is pleased to submit this report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024,

Principal Activities and Segments Information

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Group during the year are property investment
and provision of financial services.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by operating
segments is set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Business Review

A fair review of the Group’'s business and the analysis of its
performance as well as prospects of the Group's business are
provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” sections of this Annual Report (which
form part of the Directors’ Report).

Major Suppliers and Customers

During the year, the aggregate revenue attributable to the
Group's five largest customers represented 42% of the Group’s
total revenue and revenue attributable to the largest customer
included therein amounted to 14%.

Save for the continuing connected transactions entered with the
Company’s controlling Shareholder, Great Wall International, as
disclosed in this report, as far as the Directors are aware, neither
the Directors, their close associates, nor Shareholders who
owned more than 5% of the Company’s total number of issued
Shares as at 31 December 2024 had any interest in the five
largest customers.

Since the Group is engaged in property investment and provision
of financial services, in the opinion of the Directors, the Group did
not engage with significant purchase during the year. Therefore,
no major suppliers were identified, there was no purchase
attributable to the largest supplier and the percentage of
purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers combined is
less than 30%.
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Financial Results

The profits of the Group for the financial year 2024 and the
financial position of the Company and the Group as at 31
December 2024 are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 157 to 249 of this Annual Report.

Dividends

The Board resolved not to declare any interim dividend for the six
months ended 30 June 2024 (for the six months ended 30 June
2023: Nil).

The Board has resolved not to recommend any payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (for the year
ended 31 December 2023: Nil).

Five-year Financial Summary

The summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 250 of this
Annual Report.

Investment Properties

All of the Group's investment properties were revalued by an
independent professionally qualified valuer as at 31 December
2024 using the fair value model. Details of investment properties
of the Group are disclosed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2024 are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Associates

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates as at 31 December

2024 are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Share Capital

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Distributable Reserves

Distributable reserves available for distribution to Shareholders
of the Company as at 31 December 2024, calculated under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, amounted to HK$639,101,000
(2023: HK$639,101,000).

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings
The total borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2024
amounted to HK$5,609.5 million (31 December 2023: HK$5,370.0

million). Particulars of borrowings are set out in Notes 13 and 14
to the consolidated financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws or the laws in Bermuda which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

Charitable Donations

During the year, charitable donations made by the Group
amounted to HK$10,000 (2023: HK$10,000).

70 GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024

ZN

RNBETE R B EBITIRA Z S EH N e 7R
K160

Al

RIBEREZE—HN/N\—F(REE)FtEARAT
P NE+ B =+— B IRFRE
By AT {58 £639,101,0007870 (CE =4 !
639,101,00057T) °

IRITEMKRAEMER

AEER _Z_NF+_A=+—HMWEE4E
845,609 0BEAT CE_=F+"_A=+—
H : 5370088870 -BEFBHNGRET TR
RIFsE13%K 140

RINBIIEER

FRB 2 AR B REZEPTERERR
BIZRIZLE AR St IR A IR BT () 2 B
BERRTE -

th
TA

e

REBUREAEFEZESEN
=4 : 10,00057T) °

210,000 7T (Z



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
W

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year and as at the date

of this Annual Report are:

S

FARNAFERSBARNALTESOT

Executive Directors Title Notes

BWITES B8 By 5

Mr. Wang Hai Chairman of the Board Appointed on 20 August 2021

FerE EFERTE B -FN\BZTRHEZE

Mr. Wang Zuomin Chief Executive Officer ~ Appointed on 20 August 2024

EEREE THABE “EBECNFENBZTREZE

Mr. Huang Wei Appointed on 1 February 2023 and resigned on 20 August 2024
mREE “ECHFTR—HEZE IR ZETMFENAZHHHT
Non-executive Directors

JFHMITES

Mr. Ren Zhigiang Appointed on 20 August 2024

EEREE —ECMENBZHHESRE

Mr.Yu Xianging
REBRE

Independent Non-executive Directors

BILIERITES

Appointed on 20 August 2021 and resigned on 20 August 2024
—ENB+HEZT YR T _WENB -+ HEHME

_7_

Dr. Song Ming
REUF L

Dr. Sun Mingchun
HEAEE L

Ms. Liu Yan
RS+
Ms. Li Li Hua
BRELT L

Mr. Moy Yee Wo Matthew
AL

Dr. Xie Wensi
FRSCET T £

Appointed on 5 November 2016 and resigned on 15 March 2025
—E-RFt+—RBEHEZRT IR _E_HAF=RA+HHEE

Appointed on 5 November 2016 and resigned on 15 March 2025
—ERFt+—AIHERE IR _TE_AF=RA+HBFE

Appointed on 26 November 2018 and resigned on 15 March 2025
- N\F+—RB T+ "HEZE TR _E_HF=A+HH
B

Appointed on 15 March 2025
=

S TECHAF=R+HBEZMFE
Appointed on 15 March 2025
R_EB_AF=A+HBEZHE

Appointed on 15 March 2025

R _E_RF=-RATHBERE
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The Board has established three committees, being the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. The table below details the membership and
composition of each of the three committees as at the date of this
Annual Report.

EERETRE=BEEE HUAERES
B HHEESERIELEEE - TROYWT
RAZERESAP=BEEEESENRERE
et o

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee
Director B=x BIZERE® HFINEEE REEE]
Mr. Wang Hai FEEE c
Mr. Wang Zuomin FrERESE M
Mr. Ren Zhigiang EERTE M
Ms. Li Li Hua RpELZ T M c M
Mr. Moy Yee Wo Matthew WU A4 c M
Dr. Xie Wensi il SH R+ M
C: Chairman/Chairlady of the Committee C: HZEEIE
M: Member of the Committee M: ZEgME

In accordance with Bye-Law 99 of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Wang Hai
shall retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer himself for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
10 March 2025 which announced, among other things, the
appointment of Ms. Li Li Hua, Mr. Moy Yee Wo Matthew and Dr.
Xie Wensi as independent non-executive Directors. Pursuant to
Bye-Law 102(B) of the Company’s Bye-Laws, Ms. Li, Mr. Moy and
Dr. Xie who were appointed by the Board to fill casual vacancies
shall hold office until the next following general meeting of the
Company after their appointments and be subject to re-election
at such meeting. Accordingly, Ms. Li, Mr. Moy and Dr. Xie shall
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the Directors has entered into an appointment letter with
the Company and is appointed for a specific
term.

No Director proposed to be re-elected at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Group, which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company not terminable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation). No emoluments were paid to any Directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office during the year (2023: Nil).

Interests of Directors and Chief Executives

As at 31 December 2024, so far as was known to the Directors,
none of the Directors and Chief Executives of the Company
had any interest or short position in any Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which the Directors and Chief Executives of the Company were
deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Rights to Acquire
Shares or Debentures

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors and Chief
Executives (including their spouses and children under 18 years
of age) had any interest in, or had been granted, or exercised,
any rights to subscribe for Shares (or warrants or debentures, if
any) of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO).
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Interests of Substantial Shareholders

The interests of substantial Shareholders in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company as at 31 December 2024, as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of
Part XV of the SFO or as the Company is aware, are set out in the

table below.

The Company had been notified of the following substantial
Shareholders’ interests in the Shares of the Company as at 31

December 2024:

FERRED

RIRE 5 R EAE IR B SEXVEDE336IFIRE H 7N

SIS EBER AT T2RFN -F
“ME+ A =+—HARETAT KRG AR
REAREmES I TR

FRABEETNEERRN _ZE_NF+"4
=+—BFANEARRMDERNT -

Approximate

Number of percentage of
ordinary the issued
Name of substantial Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest shares held share capital®
HEET
BA &Nz Sp RS
FERRLE 515 ERltE ZEREE BLE®
China Great Wall Asset Management Interest in a controlled 1,174,018,094 (L) 74.89%
Co., Ltd. ™ corporation
FEENEEEERMNDBRASTY REGEE R
China Great Wall AMC (International) Interest in a controlled 1,174,018,094 (L) 74.89%
Holdings Company Limited corporation
FEEREE R ZERERAT REGEE R
Great Wall Pan Asia (BVI) Holding Limited ™ Beneficial owner 1,174,018,094 (L) 74.89%
Bm#EBA
Central Huijin Investment Ltd.? Interest in a controlled 155,000,000 (L) 9.89%
corporation
RRESKRERFRETLF? REGEE R
China Construction Bank Corporation Interest in a controlled 155,000,000 (L) 9.89%
corporation
FREZRIFITRHBRLT? REGEE R
Wan Tai Investments Limited @ Beneficial owner 155,000,000 (L) 9.89%

BREEARAF?

BmEE A

The letter “I” denotes the entity’s long position in such shares.
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Notes:

(1) Great Wall Pan Asia (BVI) Holding Limited is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Great Wall AMC (International) Holdings
Company Limited which, in turn, is wholly-owned by China Great
Wall Asset Management Co., Ltd. Under the SFO, China Great Wall
AMC (International) Holdings Company Limited and China Great Wall
Asset Management Co., Ltd. are deemed to be interested in all the
Shares of the Company owned by Great Wall Pan Asia (BVI) Holding
Limited.

(2) Central Huijin Investment Ltd. holds 57.31% of China Construction
Bank Corporation which, in turn, indirectly owns 100% of Wan Tai
Investments Limited. Wan Tai Investments Limited is therefore a
controlled corporation of China Construction Bank Corporation and
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. pursuant to Section 316 of the SFO.

(38) Approximate percentage was calculated based on the 1,567,745,596
ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company
had not been notified of any persons who had interests or short
positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of
Part XV of the SFO.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”)
that, in recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth as well as its shareholding value.

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company does not have any pre-
determined dividend payout ratio. The recommendation and
declaration of payment of any dividend is subject to the absolute
discretion of the Board, and any declaration of final dividend will
be subject to the approval of the Shareholders.
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Great Wall Pan Asia (BVI) Holding Limited &5 HY
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When deciding whether to propose or declare a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall also take into
account, inter alia, the Group's actual and expected financial
performance, retained earnings and distributable reserves,
working capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements
and future expansion plans, liquidity position, shareholders’
interests, general economic conditions and business cycle of the
Group’s businesses, any restrictions on payment of dividends and
other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Group and
other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The payment of dividends by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the Listing Rules and all relevant
applicable rules and regulations in Bermuda, Hong Kong and the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws of the Company.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend
Policy shall not constitute a legally binding commitment by the
Company that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period.

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors of the Company has any interest in a
business which competes or is likely to compete, directly or
indirectly, or with the businesses of the Group during the year.

Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements and Contracts of Significance

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the Group's businesses to which the Company, the
Company’s subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its holding
company was a party and in which a Director of the Company
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 December 2024
or at any time during the year.
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Management Contracts

M

A Tenancy Management Agreement was entered into
between a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
Cushman & Wakefield Property Management Limited
(“C&W”) whereby C&W is responsible for the management of
certain investment properties of the Group.

The Tenancy Management Agreement was entered for a
term of 2 years commencing from 14 November 2018 to
13 November 2020 and will be renewed automatically on a
year-to-year basis unless terminated in accordance with the
terms of such agreement. Management fee of approximately
HK$313,000 was paid by the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024.

An Asset Management Agreement was entered into between
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and Gaw Capital
Asset Management (HK) Limited pursuant to which Gaw
Capital Asset Management (HK) Limited is responsible
for the management of one of the Company’s investment
properties, Kwai Fong Plaza.

The Asset Management Agreement entered for a term
commencing on 13 June 2018 was restructured on 13
March 2019 and shall continue and remain valid unless
terminated in accordance with the terms of such agreement.
Management fee of approximately HK$6,174,000 was paid by
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Apart from the foregoing, no contract concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the businesses of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year, and none of the Directors of the Company
were interested in the aforementioned management contracts.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

The Bye-Laws provide that, to the extent not avoided by the
statues, the Directors are entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses, liabilities and costs
which he/she may sustain or incur in connection with the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto.

Directors’ liability insurance policies containing permitted
indemnity provisions have been taken out and maintained in
force during the financial year and as at the date of approval
of this report to provide appropriate cover for the Directors and
directors of the subsidiaries of the Group, as well as the then
directors of the Company and the subsidiaries of the Group for
the year, in respect of the relevant liabilities and costs associated
with legal proceedings against them.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

For more details about the principal risks and uncertainties
in which the Group are facing and also the relevant risk
management objectives and policies, please refer to the “Risk
Management and Internal Control” section contained in the
Corporate Governance Report and Note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements of this Annual Report.

Financial Key Performance Indicators

The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to
the businesses of the Group are set out in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” section and the consolidated financial
statements of this Annual Report.

78 GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024

B EHESN RABIR A EE RN BE]HEE
ERBEASER AT 2R AR EEEH TS
2EK) MARBERN LAEESTETM
g

EESTRYRERRX

AEHREE R A GREERUABERIE

T BUSEAEREETHRNA N Hﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ‘ﬁ
PIREBRWBEZIBR BEERRERRTRATE
EPEREE

FEEERA BB AT BERXNEFSEER
BHR WAV REERARBEMNERREZ
AR A0 LU RS 2 R 22 2 18R
EENBRAB/AARMRTEENRBATDESRUR
REERNRABRAEENBATRENEFRM
BERIRIE

FERBRAEERZE

RRAEBES 2 T2 RBKRTEERZUK

ERREREEBRNEERFE FERAEE

BRECEE RSP REREERAZRETE L
RAr G ImAMIEE28 -

A TERRERIRIER

BRAEEEFERBM AR RIS IRENA
FEREH EEBFTMmRIN RFERHEIRE
Ay o



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
W

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

The Group mainly carries out its businesses in Hong Kong. As
far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. During the year ended
31 December 2024, there was no material breach of, or non-
compliance, with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. To constantly
enhance the sustainable development and strengthen the
awareness of environmental protection of all staff, the Company
has formulated and implemented the Green Office Policy, and
such policy will be updated from time to time in accordance
with actual market conditions so as to cover more scopes,
thus benefiting the implementation of green office culture.
The Green Office Policy states that the Company is committed
to the material saving, energy saving, waste reduction, and
strives to minimise the consumption of natural resources
and energy; reduce the creation of waste and recycle material
whenever practical; ensure all waste is disposed of in a safe and
responsible manner; and monitor and evaluate progress and
performance for continuous improvement.

The environment policies and performance of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” section on pages 85 to 149 of this
Annual Report.

Relationship with Employees and Customers

The Group ensures all employees are reasonably remunerated
and regularly reviews the employment policies on remuneration
and other benefits.

Details of the practices in relation to employment are set out in
the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” section on
pages 85 to 149 of this Annual Report.
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The Group maintains a good relationship and close contacts with
the customers and suppliers and conducts regular review of the
requirements of customers and the performance of suppliers.

Retirement Benefits Scheme

The Group’s principal retirement benefits scheme available
to its Hong Kong employees are defined contribution scheme
(the Mandatory Provident Fund) which is administered by
independent trustees. Both the Group and the employees
contribute respectively to the schemes sums which represent a
certain percentage of the employees’ salaries.

Continuing Connected Transactions

Continuing Connected Transactions — Renewed Tenancy
Agreements in relation to the tenancies of portions of
certain floors of the Group’s premises in the Bank of
America Tower

On 25 October 2021, each of Sunny Bright Development Limited
HAEEEAE AT (“Landlord 1) and Sunny Success
Development Limited #FIpEE BB R L5 (“Landlord 27)
(collectively the “Landlords”), being wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company, received a letter of offer from Great Wall
International, a controlling Shareholder of the Company,
(“Tenant”) which offered to renew the existing tenancies of
Premises 1A and Premises 1B (as defined in the 2021 CCT
Circular) from Landlord 1 and Premises 2A and 2B (as defined in
the 2021 CCT Circular) from Landlord 2, respectively, (collectively
the “Renewed Tenancies”) for a term of three years commencing
on 1 January 2022 and expiring on 31 December 2024. Upon
the approval of the Renewed Tenancies by the independent
Shareholders at the special general meeting of the Company
held on 28 December 2021, each the Landlords and the Tenant
entered into a formal renewed tenancy agreement on 23 March
2022 (collectively the “Renewed Tenancy Agreements”). Details
of the Renewed Tenancies and the agreed annual caps set for
each of the three financial years ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in the circular of the Company dated 6 December 2021 (the
“2021 CCT Circular”).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
W

As Great Wall International is a controlling Shareholder of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the entering
of the Renewed Tenancy Agreements and all the transactions
contemplated thereunder constituted continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The Company confirms that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount
of rents received by Landlords under the Renewed Tenancy
Agreements was HK$14,671,860.00 which is within the annual
cap for the year ended 31 December 2024 of HK$14,849,911.00.

The Group has followed the terms of the continuing connected
transactions conducted during the year as mentioned in the
paragraphs above, which were determined in accordance with
the pricing policies as set out in the relevant circular of the
Company. Such continuing connected transactions have been
reviewed by the independent non-executive Directors of the
Company who have confirmed that the transactions have been
entered into:

(a) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(b) on normal commercial terms or better; and
(c) inaccordance with the agreement governing the transactions

on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor of the
Company has issued an unqualified letter containing its
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules and confirmations of the matters set
outinthatrule.

Continuing Connected Transactions — New Tenancy
Agreement in relation to the lease of 20th Floor of the
Group’s premises in the Bank of America Tower

The Renewed Tenancy Agreements would expire on 31 December
2024, and the Tenant decided not to renew the Renewed Tenancy
Agreements upon their expirations. On 14 November 2024,
Landlord 1 received a letter of offer from the Tenant which
offered to rent Premises 20F and Premises 1B (as defined in
the 2024 CCT Circular) for a term of three years commencing on
1 January 2025 and expiring on 31 December 2027 (the “New
Tenancy”). As the Tenant is a connected person of the Company.
Hence, the New Tenancy constitutes continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Upon the approval of the New Tenancy by the independent
Shareholders at the special general meeting of the Company
held on 31 December 2024, Landlord 1 and the Tenant entered
into a formal tenancy agreement on 24 January 2025. Details of
the New Tenancy and the agreed annual caps set for each of the
three financial years ending 31 December 2027 are set out in the
circular of the Company dated 5 December 2024 (the “2024 CCT
Circular”).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
W

Related Party Transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions, undertaken
in the normal course of business are provided under Note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements, none of which constitutes
a connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as
defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules other than the
continuing connected transactions as disclosed above.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Listed
Securities of the Company

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Board has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of
conduct for securities transactions by its Directors. Having made
specific enquiry with all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
their compliance with the required standards set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date
of this Annual Report.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance. Details of the Company’s corporate
governance practices are set out in the “Corporate Governance
Report” section on pages 28 to 67 of this Annual Report.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

According to the information that is available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the percentage of
the Company’s Shares which were in the hands of the public
exceeded 25% of the Company’s total issued Shares as at
the date of this Annual Report. As at 31 December 2024, the
public float capitalisation was approximately HK$3,937,000
(approximately 25.11% of the issued share capital of the
Company).

Tax Relief

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.
Intending holders and investors of the Company’s Shares are
recommended to consult their professional advisers if they are
in any doubt as to the taxation implications (including tax relief)
of subscribing for, purchasing, holding, disposing of or dealing
in the Shares. It is emphasized that none of the Company or
its Directors or officers will accept any responsibility for any
tax effect on, or liabilities of, holders of Shares in the Company
resulting from their subscription for, purchase, holding, disposal
of or dealing in such Shares.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by the auditor of the Company, BDO Limited, who will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Wang Hai
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 28 February 2025
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B A g RE IR

About the Report

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report (the
“Report”) details the Group’s specific practices and achievements
in sustainable development. Through this Report, we explain
to stakeholders the Group’s long-term commitments and
contributions in ESG areas.

Reporting Period and Scope

This Report covers the relevant policies, measures, and actions
taken by the Group over the ESG issues the Group has control
of. The data contained in this Report covers the period from 1
January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”).
Unless otherwise stated, the disclosures in this Report focus on
the Group’s operations in the Hong Kong office, namely the 21/F,
Bank of America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong,
China.

Reporting Standards and Principles

This Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) in Appendix
C2 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main
Board of Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEX”),
fully complying with its mandatory disclosure requirements and
“Comply or explain” provisions.
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Materiality Through diverse channels of stakeholder feedback collection, combined with Board
E4 discussions and business development analysis, we conducted materiality assessments to
identify ESG material issues. These ESG material issues, reviewed and confirmed by the Board,

form the core disclosure content of this Report.
BRSZTIEREVEFNERR I SEF R REGERDN ETEE MG #
RILESGEEM B K EE G IRGREDNESCEE N HE > B ARSI OIEEANS

Quantitative The Group calculates the key performance indicators (“KPIs”) with reference to “Appendix
21t 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” and “Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on
Social KPIs” of “How to Prepare an ESG Report” published by HKEX and discloses them in a
quantitative manner where appropriate.
REBEEBERT  BAREMIERUBIEH IR E - MR EIVISRIRE T B S Fr3E MhRYESGER
e NAIEEIRR - RERREIFNIINER | IRIRRREMISRERIES | & HER
= M ERRERUERERISS IR

Balance The Report presents the Group's progress and challenges in ESG management and provides a

-1 fair view of the actual operation situation to help readers make appropriate decisions.
FRERBAEETESCEERE T EANERMKIE R ERMEBNERES BN UBIE
EL & BBIRR

Consistency The Group adopts a consistent statistical and disclosure approach to allow for meaningful

—XM comparison of data over time. If there are any changes, they will be stated and explained in the

footnotes in this Report for stakeholders’ reference.
REHERENBAREAILEMY  RRERA —BHNBBRR S RIREH L E AR T IRER A
RO ERRETERBEMRE UHFRESE -

Report Publication HREEMm

This Report is available in both Chinese and English versions and ~ Z<3R&E #7HE A ~ EEXCRRAS » BJ R B RSP B AN EE )
can be accessed and downloaded from the websites of HKEX  #8uk(https: //vvvvvv gwpaholdings.com/)#| & T & o
and the Group (https:/www.gwpaholdings.com/). In case of any B > BUPXRA A% ZlﬁﬁiE',ﬁ’f:v
discrepancy, the Chinese version shall prevail. This Report was —HE_H -+ /\HESEEGE:ZEBHLE
reviewed and approved by the Board on 28 February 2025.

Feedback BREERKE

The Group welcomes and values stakeholders’ opinions. You are  AREEEINT ERESMFHENER  FHHEA
welcome to share your feedback and suggestions on this Report BB EF HNERBAEBWE > Ut ATERE
or the Group's ESG strategy and performance via mail to 21/F, BRIRERE1298EBIRTHO211& BB D
Bank of America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong, FM{fI¥ RSN AEBMAIESGH # K FKIBAIAE
China, for the attention of the Company Secretary. FEMER
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Corporate Governance

The Group has established a robust corporate governance
structure to ensure that ESG matters are fully considered in
business decision-making processes. This structure plays a
vital role in protecting stakeholder interests and enhancing
corporate value. The Board and management are committed to
fulfilling their obligations to stakeholders and have developed
a comprehensive governance framework to regulate company
operations. The Group adheres to strict ethical standards
and business practices, implementing various policies and
procedures to ensure regulatory compliance. To ensure the
effectiveness of legal compliance and risk management, the
Legal & Compliance Department and the Company Secretarial
Department jointly conduct regular regulatory reviews and
adjust company policies in response to changes in the legal
environment.

The Board has established and delegated authority to the
Audit, Remuneration, and Nomination Committee. In particular,
the Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring formal and
transparent arrangements are in place for the Group to consider
matters relating to risk management and internal control
systems. The Remuneration and Nomination Committees are
responsible for ensuring compliance with the relevant provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code by its terms of reference.

The Board
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For details of the Group’s corporate governance structure
and other relevant information, please refer to the Corporate
Governance Report in this annual report.

ESG Governance Structure

The Group fully understands its corporate social responsibility
and actively promotes the management of ESG matters by
integrating sustainable development strategies into business
operations. While pursuing business growth, we continuously
strengthen interaction and collaboration with stakeholders,
emphasize environmental protection, and fulfil our social
responsibilities, contributing to the sustainable development of
society.

We are strongly committed to our environmental and social
commitments. The roles and responsibilities of the Board have
been clearly defined, laying a solid foundation for the long-term
sustainable development of the Company. By establishing a
comprehensive ESG management framework, we ensure the
Group fully considers ESG materialities in its operations, so that
decisions can be made to protect the interests of stakeholders
and are in line with the core values of the Company.

ESG Governance System and ESG Working Group

ESG Working
The Board 2 Group >
55g ESG T{F/ v
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The Board, as the highest decision-making body in the Group's
ESG management structure, is responsible for overseeing and
formulating the Group’s ESG management objectives, strategies,
and implementation policies. To ensure effective implementation
of ESG objectives, the Board has established an ESG Working
Group dedicated to coordinating, guiding, and monitoring the
progress of related work.

The ESG Working Group comprises selected representatives
from various departments who are committed to ensuring the
effective implementation of ESG strategies in the Company’s day-
to-day operations. Furthermore, the ESG Working Group serves
as a communication role, responsible for conveying the Board’s
decisions, reporting progress, and providing feedback from the
departments to the Board, ensuring close coordination across all
departments within the Company. The Group has also engaged
an independent ESG consultant, Riskory Consultancy Limited, to
assist in report preparation and provide ESG-related consultancy
services.

ESG Working Group and Responsibilities

Assist the Board in coordinating and supervising ESG-related
matters of the Company;

Assist the Board in formulating ESG management policies and
strategies, including the process of assessing, prioritizing and
managing material ESG-related matters, including risks to the
Company’s business;

Assist the Board to identify and assess ESG risks related to the
Group, and ensure that the Group establishes appropriate and
effective ESG risk management and internal control systems;

Assist the Board in setting ESG-related goals, and review with the
Board on the progress of achieving relevant ESG goals;

Coordinate and conduct materiality assessment-related work;
Coordinate the implementation and execution of all ESG-related

work by the functional departments of the Company and its
subsidiaries;
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Communicate with stakeholders (including but not limited to the
Board, management, employees, shareholders and investors,
government and governing bodies, customers, suppliers,
professional bodies, media, general public) on ESG matters,
and when necessary, revert relevant feedbacks to the Board,
management or relevant departments;

Review and regularly report to the Board on major ESG
management matters and work status, submit for approval, and
propose ESG improvement suggestions;

Coordinate the preparation of the annual ESG report by the
relevant departments of the Company and its subsidiaries and
submit it to the Board for approval; and

Perform other ESG-related work as requested by the Board,
including but not limited to providing ESG-related training to the
Board.

Continuous Effort in Improving ESG Matters

The Group continuously monitors updates to the HKEX's Guide
and corporate sustainability trends, while placing high emphasis
on the Board’s role in ESG governance. With the support and
regular reporting from the ESG Working Group, the Board
oversees company’s ESG development strategy, identifies
material issues, and assesses related risks and opportunities.
The Board also reviews the implementation of relevant policies
and guidelines periodically to optimize ESG objectives and
performance.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its crucial role in monitoring the risks
borne by the Company and annually reviewing the effectiveness
of management systems. The Board takes full responsibility
for the Group's risk management and internal control systems.
While risks present not just challenges but also opportunities for
business development and expansion. The Group is committed
to identifying, monitoring, and managing risks associated with
its business activities, giving due consideration to key risks to
protect stakeholders’ interests and company assets. The Group
focuses on optimizing its internal control system to manage
various risks that may affect the achievement of company
objectives.

The Group has established an enterprise risk management
framework to systematically identify, assess, report, mitigate, and
monitor key risks, including strategic, operational, compliance,
financial, and information aspects, and has developed
corresponding control mechanisms to monitor and control these
risks.

For further information on the Group’s risk management and
internal control, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report.
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Our Adopted Strategy

Our adopted strategy involves implementing a clear and
unified “Three Lines of Defense” risk control framework, which
helps allocate and harmonize significant risk management
responsibilities to effectively track and manage key risks such as
operational, compliance, financial, and information risks.

First Line of Defense
FiEAR

F—EMR

Business Units ensure the
effectiveness of internal
oversight on a daily basis
and implement risk control

processes.
EFEBIN H BT RAIREEN
BN T A R B AR o

-

During the Reporting Period, we continually monitor ESG
risks and their potential impacts on the business, optimizing
related risk management and monitoring systems. We aim to
enhance the efficiency of managing ESG risks and opportunities
through continuous risk identification and assessment. We also
actively integrate ESG risks into our comprehensive enterprise
risk management structure to address the evolving ESG risk
challenges in the industry and global markets.

HEGNTIRETEE -
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Second Line of Defense

Business Review and Legal
Compliance Departments
responsible for monitoring
the work of the first line.
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Third Line of Defense

B=EMR

Internal Audit Function
evaluates the effective-
ness of risk management
and control systems
independently and makes
improvement recommen-
dations.
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Stakeholder Engagement

The Group maintains close connections and collaboration
with stakeholders including shareholders and investors,
government and regulatory authorities, employees, customers,
suppliers, professional groups, media, and the general public
through stakeholder engagement mechanisms. We firmly
believe that understanding and responding to stakeholders’
expectations and needs forms the foundation for promoting
sustainable development. Therefore, the Group maintains
regular communication with various stakeholders through
diverse platforms. An overview of the Group’s stakeholder groups,
communication channels and frequency is as follows:

&S

FEBBBFNESARS) BRRRREE
BRREE%E - BT B V(HER EX£H
B EER T ERRFRITRE BB RS
R BR[O D B HREA R RERE ]
FELEERNER RNItE-EEZEBZTENF
SHRFHEETTENER FEENFHER
AN BBRE VAR K ERAEEEB R
LI

Stakeholder Groups Communication Channels Frequency

R ELER BIEEE EES

Shareholders and Investors «  Corporate reports and other +  Bi-annually/Depending on

REREEE announcements operational needs
TERERAS BY¥F RBESRE

Government and Regulatory

«  Shareholder meetings
RERE

«  Websites
B

«  Corporate reports and other

» Annually/Depending on
operational needs
SF/RBEERE

« Recurring/Depending on
operational needs

RENTRIBEES

+  Bi-annually/Depending on

Authorities announcements operational needs
BT R IR AR TERERAS S¥F IRBEESERE
+ Forumsand Seminars «  Depending on operational needs
BT E RIFEEER
Employees «  Employee performance appraisals + Annually
8T BT RFE 85F
«  Meetings and trainings «  Recurring/Depending on
gEAE employees and operational needs

«  Emails and notice board
BE A AEH

+ Team building activities and
festival activities

BRI RSN e B B R ED

rEM/REBEETRESEE

« Recurring/Depending on
employees and operational needs
R RIEETREERE

*  Regularly
EHA
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Stakeholder Groups Communication Channels Frequency
R &85 BREE EES
Customers «  Customer satisfaction surveys +  Upon the completion of the terms
=R EPMRERE of services with each customer
« Interviews, site visits, and emails SRR P VAR R E
HX RS ERRER «  Depending on customers needs
«  Customer service hotlines and BBEERAEE
emails «  Depending on customers’ needs
2 P RS EAR e BED RIEERRE
Suppliers «  Corporate reports and other - Bi-annually/Depending on
HAER announcements operational needs
TERERAS B¥F IRBESRE
+ Forumsand Seminars »  Depending on operational needs
g REE RIFEERE

Professional Groups

HEERE

Media
JES

General Public
HEAR

Professional group satisfaction
surveys

EXERWEERT

Meetings and emails
BHRBH

Media conferences
BEEE
Interviews

H

Charitable activities and
donations

BEERE IR

Email and hotline
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Depending on business needs
REEBERTR

Depending on business needs

RIEEBERER

Depending on media needs
RIFERER
Depending on media needs

REEREE

At least once a year
BFEEL—RX

Depending on the needs of the
general public
BEHEAREE
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Materiality Assessment & Material Issues

We conduct systematic analysis and assessment of material
issues that impact company operations and stakeholders,
using this as a basis for formulating sustainable development
strategies. During the Reporting Period, combining our Group’s
business operations and industry characteristics, and with
reference to the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board
(SASB) and MSCl's industry materiality issues classification as
well as industry peers disclosures, we reviewed and identified 23
material issues.

Identify internal

BEMFHMERZEE

R B NBEBRENENEEZEEE JfE
TR DT RS (ERHE P FEHER
BEAY IR - REHIE > PG SR EBEHES
FRATERR 2EAHEEG st EREZE B (SASB)
MMSCIRTTRE 2T FBE N BN FIEKEE &
R38R HH 23TAEE B2 14 5 o

The results are
disclosed in the
ESG report and are
considered an

and external
stakeholders who
participated in

the survey
a2 AEER
PISMEREHA &

Review and
identify a pool of
potentially

material issues
BRLEREE

Determining the
threshold for the
level of materiality
of an issue

EEREEEMEEN
SRR

RIBIRGERABRAR S NFERS 95

important basis for
future sustainable

development
strategies

i RIEESGIRE
EBITERRELRE
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The Group’s material issues for the Reporting Period are as
follows:

Material Issues

S

Environmental

185

1. Climate change
RUREE

2. Energy usage and efficiency
BERfE AR R W et

3. Greenhouse gases and carbon emission and management
BE RAE R BEER EIE

4. Green architecture opportunities
REEIEAIS

B, Green procurement
R

6. Water usage and efficiency
IKE R K

7. Green office measures
e AT

8. Solid waste discharge and management
EREFUR EE

FEERFREHANEREZENT ¢

Importance

£

Most Important
REE

Important

2

Relevant

L

Employment and Labour Standards
BIERS TER

9. Health and safety
fedE TS

10.  Employee development and training
BT REE

11. Employment and employee benefits and rights

ERE S TN g

12.  Equality,diversity,engagement and inclusion
TEZTIE2HEEREBE

13. Labour standards
T %8
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Material Issues

i

Operational Practices

BB

14, Anti-corruption
k&=

15.  Service quality and responsibility
AR EEMEE

16. Information privacy and data security
= EREMNER %2

17. ESG governance
ESGEA

18. Business ethics
[EESEL

19. ESG risk management
ESGREEE

20.  Supply chain management

HrEEEE

21. Compliance operation
BRES

22. Customer service and satisfaction

BRI MR

Community Investment

Importance

T

Most Important
REZE

Important

B

Relevant

L

Hers

23.  Community engagement, contribution and investment

HESE - BRMRKRE

This Report is prepared based on material issues and complies
with the reporting principle of “materiality” in the Guide. To
provide stakeholders with a comprehensive understanding of the
Group's ESG performance, the Report covers various ESG issues
while emphasizing sections related to the identified material
issues.

Relevant

AR

FRERBEEZMEZERY A EESGREES|
RN TR M ERRA - AEFNERE T
RAEERESGRIR IS HERIRESGHE » I
BRI AR N ER M EERERE D
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Environmental

The Group primarily engages in property investment and financial
services, with operations mainly focused on office administrative
work and business meetings. Consequently, compared to
other industries, our environmental impact is relatively
minimal. Nevertheless, we remain committed to fulfilling our
environmental responsibilities and implementing green office
concepts. We integrate low-carbon operations into our daily
activities, striving to reduce resource and energy consumption,
avoid waste and recycle renewable resources, ensure safe and
responsible disposal of waste, and continuously monitor and
improve our environmental performance.

The Group strictly adheres to all relevant laws and regulations
concerning emissions of exhaust gases and greenhouse gases,
discharges to water and land, generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste, and other environmental issues affecting the
Group. This includes but is not limited to:

« Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311 of the Laws of
Hong Kong);

«  Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358 of the Laws of
Hong Kong); and

+  Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not identify any

significant violations of environmental laws and regulations that
would have a significant impact on the Group.

98 GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024
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The Group has once again received the “Hong Kong Green
Organisation” title and logo, jointly awarded by the Environmental
Campaign Committee, Environmental Protection Department,
Hong Kong Council of Social Service, chambers of commerce,
and other organisations. We firmly believe that through the
implementation of outstanding environmental management
measures and employee participation, the Group’s efforts in
sustainable development will receive further recognition and
praise. Additionally, we have been awarded the “Hong Kong Green
Organisation Certification — Wastewi$e Certificate” and “Hong
Kong Green Organisation Certification — Energywi$e Certificate”
by the Environmental Campaign Committee, which not only
acknowledges our efforts in energy saving and waste reduction
but also represents a clear affirmation of our Company’s
effectiveness in green and sustainable practices.

FEBBRESRIRREHEZE FHAEIRIER
HE BB ERTHE HESSERBESH
By TE B BEE R IR - RFIREERE
MR BRIRIE BRI R B TS REETE
B FEE RN ENS IO ERE—PRRA -
EEs > RFTVERIRIGESE B SRS B
BIEETE B S K [ BB B E0E —
BEEE S B NMERHRFIEESEMNARE S E
SR R A EREG O RFERTRS
E RGBS E

Friltih oz
Hong Kong
Green Organisation Centification

Ik M ol

WastewiSe
— Certificate —

T LA
Good Level

RERENRTRLE
Great Wall Pan Asia Holdings Limited

0

o amAREeS
Lasi . 3 tpimmber 218

[ T
Mot e

iR ER AR I2 At
Hong Kong
Green Organisation Certification

B fiE %2
EnergywiSe
Certificate

N

Basic Level

TR L]
Great Wall Pan Asia Haoldings Limited

“Hong Kong Green Organisation”

Certification

IEBGEHBIES

“Hong Kong Green
Organisation Certification —
Wastewi$e Certificate” (Good Level)
[EBLEIE —RREES
(REF4RR)

“Hong Kong Green
Organisation Certification —
Energywi$e Certificate” (Basic Level)
BB BB —8kEES
(EREAR )
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Emissions
Air Emissions

The Group's air emissions primarily come from vehicle use. To
reduce emissions and optimize indoor air quality, the Group has
established relevant targets, including encouraging employees
to use public transportation, conducting regular maintenance
of company vehicles to ensure optimal performance and fuel
efficiency, and selecting cleaning products with low volatile
organic compounds (VOC).

During the Reporting Period, the emission data is as follows:

213067
BRI

AEBNEE RPN E 2R B EMWMER - SR
RAMRBEEAEREER  AEEEHEERH
B OREBEIHERARRETA HAR
EEEITERE MR ARREESERIRSIMEHE
A m U RIERRER A RIEEYVOC)BYE

B

BEHERPEREGRNT

Types Unit 2024
$ERY B 2024
Nitrogen Oxides(NOx) 0.69
KA 1EYINOX) /Ny

Sulphur Oxides(SOx) 0.02
BrEE¥(SOx) Ny

Particulate Matter(PM) kg 0.05

ORI T (PM) /NN

Greenhouse Gas Emissions B TR P

Electricity consumption is the major source of our greenhouse
gas (‘GHG”) emissions. Therefore, the Group has reduced GHG
emissions by decreasing electricity consumption and we will
continue to implement various energy-saving measures.

ENBHERRMIEEN /méiﬁﬁj%imﬁ&i}ﬁﬁ JoNllin
FERBIERH AEERBRERBEEN M
RFITR B IR BN B RV BN AEFE T

Energy-saving Measures Turn off lights when they are not needed and use natural light as much as possible;
B AEFE T ERBEABCRSERARN WERAIEFERBRN

When an employee is working overtime, turn on only the lights in the employee’s
area and turn off any other lights that are not needed;

ERREREBR IR ETHESMERENE . LRAMEMERERNE

N/
)

Air conditioning equipment is turned off at scheduled times daily to conserve
resources. Fans and air purifiers are provided for employees working overtime.

SHERMAMEEHARE  HEEREE ARBMNMNETRHERASNER

FEEE
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Arrange monthly cleaning of the air-conditioning system;
SATHERRENEER;

Turn off all electrical appliances not in use during non-office hours;

EIRMAERRE > MEAFAESEANESRBR

Arrange regular maintenance and servicing of electrical appliances;

MR IFERAEERRE

Post warm reminders on all electronic devices to remind staff to turn them off in
time to reduce unnecesssary electricity consumption;
EFBETHRERRINAZRE N UREE T AFEEARE BTV ENEE
HFE

Use LED light tubes; and
EFRLEDIEE ; &

In terms of office equipment, electronic equipment, lighting equipment, and
products with environmentally friendly labels are highly preferred.

EMARE BFRE RARBHIE BAEERXBETAERFRRRNER

During the Reporting Period, the emissions data are as follows: PR ESHARRBER RN T ¢

Unit 2024
Ein} 20245
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)" tCOe
» Gasoline consumption 318
BHEAEREEN GEE—) ! RE_FCREE
- FUHHERE
Energy indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2)' tCOze
« Purchased electricity 25.52
SERERERE RASEIN @ED) NE_FCREE
- IMNBE
Total GHG emissions tCOze 28.70
RERARHIRE RE—EFIERES
Intensity? tCOze,sq ft of Gross Floor Area 0.003
BE? AW_SEEE ST HREREE
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Notes:

1. GHG emission data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide
equivalent and is based on, but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas
Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued
by the World Resources Institute and the World Business Council
for Sustainable Development, “How to prepare an ESG Report —
Appendix II: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by
HKEX, and “Global Warming Potential Values” from the IPCC Sixth
Assessment Report, 2021 (AR6).

2. As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total operation area of
11,300 sq ft in Hong Kong. The data is also used for calculating other
intensity data.

Waste Management

Due to the nature of our business, daily operations generate
relatively minimal waste. The main non-hazardous waste
includes household waste and office paper, while hazardous
waste primarily consists of toner cartridges. We engage third-
party property management companies to sort and recycle
materials including paper, plastic bottles, glass bottles, and
used batteries. We avoid single-use products and prioritize
the selection of recyclable products, products made with more
renewable materials, products with less packaging, and more
durable products. The Group adheres to the principles of waste
reduction and conservation, implementing a series of specific
measures.

Waste Reduction and
Conservation Measures

B4V IR EEHE T

supplier for recycling;

s

Bar

1. BERBBRENDR-ALRERRI) 12
R IE AN R AR Rt R AT
SRIBEEETIRN (RERRESHES
R BT RBEIRE) BB I8
—  BEMREUERERES) RENERAE
BEEFIZRBEHH(EATHERS )2
HATREE

2. BE_Z_NE+_A=+—H xEEES
BREEEEREA11,300F R - lbE R 7R B
EStEEMEBEEER o

ERYETE

FEBREFMLERF DESBMELNER
MERL - TENEEERYOIELEENER R
NERG BEEERYAEEAHHR - RME
sER = EEEATH P RINIRET DR
W BIFEREAR ~ ZERHR  IER AR R B BBt 5 o FfF
BrRfFR—RNEER MEBSTEERREAN
Em AR AUBEYHAEENER BOE
LAY S BANRF AT A BV dm A EE B ER KRR
IREBNEBNEANRA WEH—ZR5BiEHE
Jiti o

Prioritize refillable toner cartridges and return all used toner cartridges to the

BREAIEMBERIRNE L ERTHRNESSREEEEFRIKRZ

Use of electronic communications whenever possible;

sAAEERAEFEANLI

Double-sided printing whenever possible;

BOAEETEEITH

Collect single-sided printed paper and old envelopes for secondary printing;

W B EITENRIARSR R EE S 1 E

T RITED ;

Collect and reuse old flipcharts and store documents electronically whenever

possible;

WENEEFERETER WEAIEABFANETXHEE ;
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During the Reporting Period, the relevant data are as follows:

Replace garbage bags no more than twice a week as much as possible;
RO SEBEFMIIRRABBMRK ;

Collect and repair computer parts, appliances, and other repairable products, to
extend their service life for reuse;

WE T MEEBRSEC M - BRMEMAMEENER EREASm LUWEBRER ;

Use rechargeable batteries whenever possible;
RAECRTAEEN ;

Repeated use of decorative materials;

EEEARIME

Collection of recyclable materials, including but not limited to waste paper, metal,
plastic, glass bottles, etc.;

WERIEIRBEME BREREFRIRER T8 B BIBRE

Post warm reminders at all printers and copiers to remind employees to conserve
paper;and

HEFTATENANE N R SRR BT IREEES TE A, &

Post warm tips at office recycling points and bulletin boards to continuously
encourage employees’ active participation in waste recycling.

A EBICUREH i S RRADR BT a8 RG2S BRI -

P¥R SR A RVERE RN T ¢

Unit 2024
B 20245
Total Hazardous Waste kg 0.64
BEEEEYEE /N
Hazardous Waste Intensity kg/sq ft of Gross Floor Area 0.0001
BEREEE A/ BFHRERER
Total Non-hazardous Waste tonnes 0.69
BEBEEYEE L
Non-hazardous Waste Intensity® tonnes/sq ft of Gross Floor Area 0.0001

BERRYEBE

Notes:

3. The calculation method of domestic waste references the 3.
Monitoring of Solid Waste in Hong Kong — Waste Statistics for 2022
published by the Environmental Protection Department.

Mg, ST A IRERER
it -
EERIRE RS A2 ERIGREZS LM (R

BEBEYERRSES — T - _ENRTH
F)e
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We have implemented several policies and measures to reduce 7N AR S IBBEE K da HR AR BEE YT
waste and raise awareness among employees about waste S8 T HREERNER  HEHEIE
reduction. These measures include:

Aspects Environmental Targets =~ Corresponding Action Plan Targets Progress in 2024
EBm RIEER 1785t E 2024F 5HEIERR

Waste Reduction  Advocate paper-less «  Widely apply electronic means; v Fully implemented

B RERRY) practices ERBFEMESSHS ; BEEEBITHE

FHEETRREHRA

Reduce the use of
single-use items

B ER—RERR

Encourage the use of online
systems for document approval;
BAGRME ERFETXHER
Collect and reuse old binders; and
WEMBHREAEEER; &
Archive documents on the internet
electronically where possible.
RO SEAEFANETX TR

Prioritize to purchase office v Fully implemented
supplies made of recycled EEEETIER
materials;

BB RIRB SR IA

FBdh;

Encourage employees to reduce
the use of disposable materials,
such as cutlery; and

B E TRMER—RMER M f
MER; &

Enhance employee awareness of
waste reduction and recycling.
&8 TR RIRE A A EN

=z iyh
I=§ A
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Usage of Resources

As an enterprise that values sustainable development, the Group
fully recognizes the importance of natural resources. Through the
implementation of green office practices, we demonstrate our
corporate citizenship responsibilities through concrete actions.
During the Reporting Period, we signed the “Energy Saving
Charter”, demonstrating our commitment to energy conservation,
while continuously promoting energy savings and improving
energy efficiency. For related details, please refer to the “Energy
Management” section.

To establish a balanced operating system encompassing
economic, social, and environmental aspects, we have
established and continue to implement our Green Office
Policy (&R EBHFAZEIER)), committed to reducing carbon
emissions from the Group's operations and actively responding
to climate change challenges. During the Reporting Period, we
established a system of environmental targets and formulated
corresponding action plans. In the future, we plan to continue
to track the implementation of our environmental targets and
review them regularly to better help us formulate energy-saving
and environmental protection strategies in response to climate
change so that we can implement environmental protection
measures more effectively.

BIRfEA
FRERIFBERNTE  AEERBRAE

BREZM - BBHITAREIA  HPIIARETT
FEREEAREE -EREHE HARET
(ENREMIE) > RIRHENSERYERE AKGE » W g
BEAE IR AERE AR BRI E R 2 H B
REIR S

REBULE HERIRE =S ENTEESE
7 RAE L EFEER (B AEER) -
WARBAE B S E PN E LRI RiE0IE
RIREBHE - RSB HWAIBR TIREER
IR AN ERENITEE 8 > RIS
B ERURIR B RISRIRITIE R T E A
BB LBt E B HFIRIE B E RIEE(CRY
EIREIRIRARES » M B A R B IR (RIENE
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The Green Office Policy ((Ax ¥ AZEEIER)) is regularly reviewed
and revised by the Group. The responsibilities of green office
management are clearly stated in the Green Office Policy ((4%
BIAZEEER)), with responsible employees notified. The
Group effectively implements energy-saving and environmental
protection initiatives, aiming to make all employees aware
of the environmental and health impacts of their work and
their responsibility for continuous efforts. All employees can
directly access the contents of the Green Office Policy ({#%
BIWAZEHE)) through the Group’s shared folder. The
Human Resources Department also provides relevant training
courses for new employees. Furthermore, the Group engages
with employees through multiple channels to gather their
opinions and suggestions regarding green office measures and
implementation effectiveness.

To manage office activities more strategically and effectively, the
Group has established environmental goals and corresponding
action plans at different levels during the Reporting Period,
to effectively implement various environmental protection
strategies. The Group undertook relevant enforcement actions
and tracking records during the Reporting Period. Please refer to
the “Energy Management” and “Water Resource Management”
sections for relevant targets and plans.

Energy Management
Gasoline and electricity consumption are the main sources of the

Group's energy consumption. During the Reporting Period, the
energy consumption data is as follows:

FEBTEHREENET(RBMAEBR) &%
ERTPBAERE THRBMAEEEASRE I
EENERE L - AEEASNITAERNEIE
RRNEE I SEEFMAEL THE TN
RIBNERFIEMNRE TR REFEE -
FrEET ] ZBEAEBIHE X RERFE
(GEMAEBR) AR - ANERIBPITER
AR B TIRABRAIE ISR - LS AEEE
BETEEEETETRN BME TGN
NEFREHBRI TR E R i

AT EREEUEMB M ERR AT EE) K&
E:1 Y 7 AREERYIRE B IR RAEERNITE 5
g LB BAEMMATRIBIRIZRENTT &> I
R EHARNETT T AERITITEIANEBHESC R - 18
ERKETEFE2RUT EREE R KER
BEIED

BERETE

\;%593&&% /JJ’]%%TExﬁlﬁbl /}J’]%%E/JEEK/ G
REHABNEREFESEENT !

Unit 2024
B 20245
Direct Energy Consumption (Gasoline) MWh 10.87
BERRRHERE (508) THETF R
Indirect Energy Consumption (Purchased Energy) MWh 38.67
AR HFE GMNEE ) THEF FLEF
Total Energy Consumption MWh 49.54
FERHFEARE THEF ELEF
Intensity MWh/sq ft of Gross Floor Area 0.004
BE FETEF SFAREEDE
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During the Reporting Period, the Group actively promoted
energy conservation and improved energy efficiency to fulfil
our commitment to reducing energy consumption and carbon
footprint, which is an important component of the Group’s
dedication to promoting sustainable development. In line with
this commitment, we have taken proactive steps by signing the
Energy Saving Charter, jointly launched by the Environmental
Protection Department and the Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department in Hong Kong. This initiative not only
demonstrates our firm commitment to energy conservation and
emission reduction but also aims to inspire our employees to
actively participate in practising energy conservation.

ERERRE > AEBERBIBHSEAE TIENIRTAE
TRIERRE > LIB BRI SERBEFEN Ik B BRRY &
# BN EAEER RN EEENEE—
RoRTRRE & RMEHRTE BFERE
IR R A REfR LU 1% B8 T A2 Bk 5 ¥ H AV (B
FEME) B —RENERT T HMBEEERA
PR EEGE W ERHERMNEER RS H
BEEAAEER
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We have also implemented a series of energy-saving measures 7N B — R EEIEELUIRS A EBAERN
to improve the Group's energy efficiency performance, which KR EfhEiE !

include:
Aspects Environmental Targets =~ Corresponding Action Plan Targets Progress in 2024
B RIFER 1785t E 2024 518 ER
Energy Saving Increase employees’ +  Affix reminders of “Energy-saving” ¢ Fully implemented
ERAYAE IR awareness of next to the lighting system and E2HEEITIET
energy-saving photocopiers
ReEBIHMERH TR BARARA » SCENH SR _ETEIAY
FBIRT
Conduct energy audits - Formulates energy-saving v Fully implemented
MAEETIEREZ measures E2EEITIE
HITE ERAETETH
Improve energy « Regularly repair and upgrade v Fully implemented
efficiency of office electronic equipment to EAXHEETIEN
office equipment optimize energy efficiency
ReMAEREVLE TR EERFARMAEEF
=i BICAERME
Water Resource Management IKEFEHE

The Group has always emphasized water conservation in our ZAEBE—BEERHAEHEHLAKIIE KL
offices. Our water usage is managed and controlled by a third- B/KHE=ZAYEETEBERTEEEE BREEE
party property management company, and we are currently  RAEEVS B A% K EUIE - R EBCBIBEWETR
unable to obtain specific water consumption data. We will 72> LUBERARUNERRISIE - SRS HART » HidA&E
optimize our data collection process to gather relevant data in  BIZEFIFIE R EE I HAEEEARSER
the future. During the Reporting Period, based on the Groups BE{EfaIfHRE

business characteristics and operational locations, we did not

encounter any issues in sourcing water.
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The Group actively employs various measures, including:

KREFERRMIEE S RIE > B4

Aspects Environmental Targets  Corresponding Action Plan Targets Progress in 2024
[EE IRIEER 17858 20245 5t B ERR

Water Efficiency Strengthen water «  Affix reminders of “Water-saving” ¢ Fully implemented
BRI FAIK efficiency awareness next to the water taps of the EEEETIEN

REBIEKEH

pantry and bathroom

FEFKRE BT BRIk BE SRS

BaG

ETERRIRKIAVERTR

Improve the water - Stop using equipment with high v’ Fully implemented
efficiency of water consumption E2EBITIEN
sanitary ware FREFEKEE

e R ARk &

Environment and Natural Resources IRIERRAER

The Group’s business nature primarily involves office operations,
which do not have significant negative environmental
impacts. Nevertheless, the Group actively implements various
environmental protection strategies and measures to reduce the
environmental impact of our operations. To effectively manage
resource usage, we conduct real-time monitoring of resources
such as water, electricity, and paper consumption. The Group
regularly collects and analyzes usage data, continuously tracks
improvement status, and evaluates effectiveness to enhance
our energy-saving and emission-reduction efforts, ensuring
effective and reasonable use of resources through strict resource
consumption management.

FEBXEBUEETEAMAEEE  HIRIRIE
EXEEZE - BEWNLL  AEB{BEBRIZ
IRIRMRIRBE KB BB EEBIEHIRIEN
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DITEREE FEEH ARSI
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o
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Climate Change

The Group deeply understands the global challenges that
climate change brings to society and businesses, and closely
monitors its potential impacts on corporate operations. To
properly manage the risks and opportunities arising from climate
change, the Group is planning to establish a climate-related
risk identification mechanism to comprehensively identify both
physical risks and transition risks, including extreme weather
events such as typhoons, rainstorms and floods that directly
affect daily business operations. The Group is also committed to
actively responding to international and national climate change
agendas, ensuring that our climate change response measures
remain aligned with these agendas. We closely monitor and
track the latest ESG-related laws and regulations to promptly
adjust the Group’s policies and operational models. Relevant
management policies and emergency response plans have
been formulated to address and minimize potential impacts on
business operations.

mREE

AEBRY)T BRIGBEED/TEREERRL
SIS WRYIRDEE B (R EE RS
WEBERE HYEEEREECFHRINER
EAE > A5 [ I AR 8 17 SR AR A L B it
fil> UEEHAIERR RS R SR ek
ERFEATHREBEENHRRRREN U
RERE ~ R K AEE TR AN RIBEREE
FEHBERRIEECEE  WHEFRRMNREE
{EFEH S LR R RITRY - HMIER RS
IEHEERESGIRBARYARAR LUK BB AR E
ERBERMEERT  ZFITFIE R SRR
K IE=ETE > LU D I SE R EE A

R o

BeTik

Certificate of Appreciation

ith INEF
GIVE AN HOUR
FOR EARTH

S

Great Wall Pan Asia Holdings Limited

As part of the Group’s ongoing commitment to addressing
climate change, the Group participated in Earth Hour, an event
organized by the World Wildlife Fund Hong Kong. This globally
recognized initiative underscores the Group’s dedication to taking
meaningful action against climate change. During Earth Hour, all
non-essential lights and electronic devices across our facilities
were turned off, demonstrating the Group's pledge to reduce
energy consumption and carbon footprint. This participation also
helps raise employees’ awareness of energy conservation and
environmental protection.
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The Group will continue to make every effort to operate
environmentally friendly and low-carbon emission businesses to
help address global climate change.

Social
Employment

The Group places high importance on employee rights and
fostering a diverse and inclusive culture. We firmly believe that
an excellent human resources management system is crucial
for attracting and retaining talent and enhancing corporate
competitiveness. Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any prosecutions for violations of relevant
employment laws and regulations concerning compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other welfare benefits that would have a significant impact on the
Group.

The Group believes that it is incumbent for the Group to
respect and protect the rights and benefits of employees. To
ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations, the
human resources policies and procedures of the Group are
comprehensively established with reference to labour laws
and regulations. The Company strictly complies with laws and
regulations, including but not limited to:

+  Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

«  Employees Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282 of the Laws of
Hong Kong);

«  Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the Laws of Hong
Kong); and

+  Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

FEEREEE S HEERFENRRERAY
X5 UEBEN SRR EE

g

ElE

FEESEEREI#mAZHRENE
R BPIREEBIANEREERRHNIRMA
BEAT EREERFIHESBARE -NREH
6] > 2 2 [ 30 SR 35 3R ) (A28 = 75 R i BN A0 A
B ERNEA IR RERKE - TEHE 2

ToE s R E M ERFE > M aEEA
BERTENRBEAER

FEERBRMARHEEMNRES TRV
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We have also developed and adhered to relevant human
resources policies and procedures, including;:

- Employee Handbook;

«  Management Policy for Recruitment;

«  Employment Contract;

«  Management Policy for Compensation and Welfare; and
+  Management Policy for Resignation.

The Group is committed to fostering mutual understanding
and respect between employees. The Group has established a
comprehensive Employee Handbook ({2 TFf)) detailing
personnel policies, regulations, and benefits to ensure fair and
reasonable treatment of all employees. We regularly review and
update the Employee Handbook ((& TF)) to comply with
the latest labour regulations and market trends, safeguarding
employee rights.

Protecting Employees’ Compensation and Welfare

The Group’s remuneration and benefits policy is formulated
based on market standards and legal requirements, aimed
at recognizing employees with outstanding performance
and rewarding and motivating employees who have achieved
business performance targets. We have established the
Management Policy for Compensation and Welfare ((FrEf 127
EIBHE)) which clearly outlines the salary structure and each
type of employee benefits, providing competitive ‘remuneration
and benefit packages. To attract and retain talent, the Company
conducts annual performance evaluations for employees. To
continually enhance employees’ satisfaction and motivation,
we customize remuneration packages based on individual job
performance and market salary levels and adjust them when
necessary. The Group also distributes year-end bonuses based
on employees’ performance, recognizing their hard work and
providing encouragement.
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While creating economic value, the Group is committed to
continuously optimizing employee benefits to enhance their
sense of belonging and job satisfaction. To this end, the Group
has established a comprehensive employee benefits system,
offering diverse benefits to eligible employees, including medical
check-up schemes, mandatory and voluntary provident fund
schemes, and rental reimbursement schemes. Furthermore, the
Group’s compensation system includes comprehensive packages
such as labour insurance, reimbursement allowance, overtime
allowance, holiday allowance, and birthday allowance. To support
employees’ continuous development, the Group has established
an education subsidy programme encouraging employees to
enhance their professional knowledge and workplace skills.

To protect the rest time of our employees, the Group has set out
in the Employment Contract ({f2{& &#%3)) the working hours and
rest time of our employees in compliance with the labour laws of
Hong Kong to ensure that our employees are entitled to statutory
holidays, paid annual leave, sick leave, personal leave, marriage
leave and maternity leave in accordance with the law. During the
Reporting Period, the Group had a total of 9 employees, and all
worked in Hong Kong.

FEBRNERIGLEEBENRR  FEEBIEE
TREMNGE BILRASTHNREBRKR IERE
Eeomlt ZEERII T 2HENETEMNER [
MEERNETREZTENENER  EFE
tEfREREE A8 B MM B AR S
BUs AR AL st & o 5 » A< S B RIFHEN F EZ 7R
WMES TR BFEEERE MR RE
RENER RS TERE AR EIHES
B AEEERAEESHHE) BB TRA
BB AE

7= T REE TR ERRE  REER(BREEK)
RIS & EAE DEMINE T TERIKEE
B IERE TIEZAEERD - BHER R
B FR BRRER - FREE ~EERE
BHEIRET -

Total Workforce Unit 2024
BEEH B {i 20245
By Gender Male people 5
RIS B4 A
Female people 4
pegi A
By Age Below 30 people 1
REWRE D 30 AT A
30-40 people 8
30-405% A
41-50 people 8
41-505% A
51 or above people 2
IR b A
By Employment Type Full-time people 9
RiEREELE o e A
Part-time people 0
Fei A
By Geographical Region Hong Kong people 9
& 2 B Ui
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Fair and Equal Employment

Through standardized recruitment and promotion processes,
the Group provides fair opportunities to suitable candidates,
strongly believing in the crucial importance of appropriately
allocating human resources for sustained business growth.
We have established the Management Policy for Recruitment
((FHEEEBIEHHE)) to standardize employee recruitment and
promotion processes. In recruitment, the Company adheres
not only to the four basic principles of business development
needs, optimization of talent structure, principles of scientific
standardization, and equal opportunities but also focuses on
building a diverse workforce that includes individuals from
different races, educational backgrounds, work experiences,
nationalities, and a variety of knowledge and skills.

The Group strives to ensure fair evaluation of all job applicants
and internal promotion candidates. To achieve this, we have
established comprehensive recruitment and promotion
mechanisms. The assessment criteria focus on candidates’
work experience, professional skills, and job performance while
eliminating non-professional factors such as age, gender, race,
marital status, sexual orientation, or physical condition from
consideration, adhering to fair and just selection principles.

As an effective way to prohibit any form of unfair or unreasonable
dismissal, the Employment Contract ({({fEfE& %)) with
employees sets out the terms of dismissal of employees. The
termination of the Employment Contract ((fEfE&49)) and
dismissal of employees are also carried out in strict compliance
with relevant laws and regulations to fully protect the rights and
obligations of the Group and its employees. The Group maintains
zero tolerance for any form of discrimination, harassment, or
misconduct in the workplace. We ensure our employees will not
be discriminated against or deprived of the opportunity by the
Group due to gender, age, colour, birthplace, nationality, race,
religion, sexual orientation, disability, marital status, or any other
reason. Any misconduct should be reported and thoroughly
investigated.
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Employee Turnover Unit 2024
BEMAKE By 20244
By Gender Male % 60
gkl oy St Bt
Female % 50
g Bt
By Age Below 30 % 0
BREWRE D 30mE LT Bkt
30-40 % 133
30-405% Bt
41-50 % 33
41-508% Bt
57 or above % 0
51 £ Bt
By Geographical Region Hong Kong % 56
e &) 7 £ Bkt

The Company encourages open communication in the workplace,
where employees can freely express their opinions and ideas with
the senior management. Therefore, various channels were set up
to facilitate effective communication and collaboration between
all levels of employees, creating an encouraging environment for
creativity and innovation.
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Care for Employees’ Health & Safety

The Group considers employee health and safety a top priority
and is dedicated to creating a safe and comfortable work
environment. Although our workplace is primarily office-based
with lower health and safety risks compared to other industries,
we remain vigilant about potential risks. We have established
internal policies including the Health, Hygiene, and Safety System
(BREHEZZEHIE)) and Office Environment Management
Guidelines (M AIRIZEEIEIE5])), implementing various
preventive measures to reduce workplace-related risks. The
Group strictly adheres to relevant laws and regulations in Hong
Kong concerning the provision of a safe working environment and
the protection of employees from occupational hazards, which
have significant impacts on the Group’s operations, including but
not limited to:

«  Employees Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282 of the Laws of
Hong Kong); and

«  Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the
Laws of Hong Kong).

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any
prosecution or any material non-compliance with health and
safety-related laws and regulations that would have a significant
impact on the Group.
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The Company actively promotes healthy work-life balance for
employees, prioritizing their physical and mental well-being while
discouraging an overtime culture. To fulfil this commitment, we
signed the Joyful@Healthy Workplace Charter jointly launched
by the Department of Health, the Labour Department, and the
Occupational Safety and Health Council of Hong Kong in 2023.
This initiative aims to create a healthy and enjoyable work
environment through a series of activities, including health or
mental health workshops, and mental health first aid training
courses, promoting healthy eating, physical activity, and mental
wellbeing. To assist employees in adopting a healthy lifestyle,
we regularly organize various sports and leisure activities,
fostering good exercise habits among employees and preventing
occupation-related illnesses. We also host diverse employee
events, including holiday celebrations, and teambuilding
activities, and actively engage in volunteer activities with
employees to promote friendly connections among them and
enhance their sense of belonging to the Company.
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The Group highly values employee health and well-being. In
addition to competitive compensation, we provide comprehensive
medical insurance plans and regular health check services for
employees and their eligible family members through our Human
Resources Department. Employees can freely choose suitable
insurance combinations and health check packages according to
their individual needs. To improve indoor air quality and create a
healthy work environment, we regularly maintain air conditioning
systems and place green plants in the office, while posting health
and safety information for employees’ reference.

In the past three years (including the Reporting Period), the Group

FERESEERETHREEGU IR T RRF
HBVFISN RPBBANERERETIRES
BERFXBIRHEENBRRERS I E R
B HFIBEIAREARE  BHEESEN
RRESNER SR - AR ERNERE R KA
BRENILERE  RMIEREETRRRLE
B EiEy) ARERAERNRMBERZEE
o HETHER2E -

FEENBE=F OERSHR BEEXZEE

has not recorded any material work-related fatalities or injuries.  BRE T THRAIEMHEE -
Unit 2024
B 1i 2024%F
Number of work injury cases case 0
THEZHE 224
Lost days due to work injury day 0
RITEBEXRITIEEH X

Case Zfl

Wellness Club
e

The Group has been organizing wellness
activities, responsible for arranging various
activities for employees to participate in,
including sports events, and fitness yoga
groups, to promote employees’ physical and
mental well-being and strengthen team
spirit.

FEEBARES 852 RRREE M
ST 20 HI : HERES) B H IVl > L
RES T HOMERR > MR8 TEBEH
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Talent Training and Development

The Group considers each employee as an indispensable asset
in its sustainable development strategy. Guided by a people-
oriented management philosophy, we place great emphasis
on employee training and development, striving to create an
environment conducive to continuous learning and growth. We
strongly believe the growth of our business is closely intertwined
with the personal development of our employees. Therefore, we
provide a variety of training opportunities aimed at diversifying
their career paths, to cultivate a leading professional team in the
industry.

To maintain financial professionals’ competitive edge and ensure
their swift adaptation to the flourishing financial industry,
the Group places strong emphasis on continuous knowledge
and skills enhancement. We have meticulously designed
comprehensive training programs that align with both company
development strategies and effective career growth support. The
Group actively engages internal and external experts and senior
instructors to provide diverse specialized training. The training
content covers extensive areas including anti-money laundering,
professional skills enhancement, the latest financial regulatory
updates, internal control and compliance requirements, asset
and risk management strategies, investment and financing
strategies, and securities market operational mechanisms.
Our internal training instructors primarily comprise the Group’s
executive directors and senior management, while external
experts are senior industry professionals from other established
enterprises, ensuring high-quality training standards.

The Group attaches great importance to anti-money laundering
and counter-terrorist financing compliance and organizes annual
training to raise staff awareness of relevant regulations and risks.
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During the Reporting Period, we supplemented and improved
the content of the regulations on staff training and development,
and encouraged and supported staff to apply for or renew
professional qualifications related to the Company’s business in
conjunction with their job positions and the Company’s business

development needs.

HREHAN > RAEERE TR ERIFEEN
RENTTHRRS ZRNXFETEETIFE
UMFTAREFERFR  REVEBLELAQT
FHERNEEERES -

Unit 2024
EE {1 20245
Percentage of employees trained Male % 100
by gender (%) B4 B
BHREIDNZIEEB DL (%) Female % 100
pegi Bt
Percentage of employees trained Senior Management % 100
by employee category (%) = Bth
REEEESNZINRBEET DL (%)  Middle Management % 100
e Bt
General Staff % 100
£2E Bkt
Average training hours completed Male hours 111
per employee by gender (hours) B4 I)NBRE
RUERBI DR IEE TR (N\E)  Female hours 13.5
poas N:=
Average training hours completed Senior Management hours 110
per employee by employee = I)NB
category (hours) Middle Management hours 12.3
RESHEEDNZIIEES )= 2\
TR B () General Staff hours 130
£E I\
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Diversified Training Activities & Leading Visions

ZITICIE R EICHE

=

The Group conducts internal training sessions every two to four ~AEBESHEMNBRIT—RAIEII SEIE
weeks, with each session lasting approximately three hours. #I=/N\BF IR AEZNEREEMNEEE:N
Training content focuses on sharing industry dynamics and D= EEGBE T EERTTHEBEE > 2E
operational information, aimed at helping employees keep up ~ ZANEEEERBIBEAIAL c EREHE > XA T
with the latest market trends and reinforcing the Group's leading SRS ELZFIISEE) - LU T 22024 F 3 THIEE |56
position in the industry. Throughout the Reporting Period, the BEMAZ :

Company conducted various training activities. Following are the

training aspects and contents for 2024:

Training Aspects

1EEI SRS

Frequency

BIHER

Training Contents in 2024
2024FRIEFINE

Business training

ES gl

Professional

certification training
required by the
Securities & Future
Commissions in Hong

Kong (SFC)

HEEFRIEEHE
wHeg (8%
S ENEE bl

Legal compliances

training

ERE

Compliance training
on anti-money
laundering and
counter-terrorist

financing

[R5 ER M R 32 M+
ExSENTRE

Training on the

interpretation and
analysis of various
industry dynamics

BITXEFREEIN

=H

Once a month

Five times
annually

Once a quarter
5%

Twice a year

BEMK

Irregularly

Enhancing professional skills in operations and competencies,
including thematic training, case sharing, analysis of financial
regulatory developments, etc.

RAXBAHREN OEFEFEEFI - BN Z -SRHEEHRE
B OINE
Professional certification training for the financial industry, including

a series of training covers heated issues, the latest developments,
and professional skills in the financial industry

ERMITEZERREI CEEMTEAMIRE HTHERHHE
HERESF—RIE

Analysis of legal development dynamics and typical judicial cases
TEIRENRE R B AU B] A 22 I R oE

Compliance training on anti-money laundering and terrorist
financing

ERRABERZHDFESEEZ S RIE

Including new energy, real estate, automobiles, mining rights, and
other industries

BEMER BHE AR EESTE
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The Group encourages every employee, regardless of position
or scope of work, to actively participate in training activities,
facilitating knowledge enhancement in their respective fields.
Such training also fosters mutual understanding among
employees, promoting cooperation and unity within the team. For
new employees, we provide comprehensive onboarding training
programs to help them quickly familiarize themselves with
company processes and integrate into the company culture.

Continuously Enhance Training Quality

The Group conducts comprehensive evaluations after each
training session. Through questionnaires, we collect employee
feedback on various aspects of training, including course
arrangements, content richness, and instructor performance.
Training programmes are adjusted based on feedback to ensure
they meet employee needs. Additionally, the Human Resources
Department maintains proper records of participant lists and
training hours to ensure compliance with SFC requirements for
continuous professional training.

Simultaneously, all training materials are uploaded to the Group's

shared drive to create a culture of knowledge sharing, enabling all
employees easy access to the information they need.
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Labour Standard

The Group strictly prohibits the use of child labour or forced
labour in our business operations. We strictly adhere to
applicable laws and regulations concerning employment, child
labour, and forced labour, including but not limited to:

«  Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The Group takes a strict stance against child labour and
forced labour. Specific measures include actively checking
candidates’ identification documents during recruitment and
hiring phases to prevent child labour. Additionally, the Group
requires overtime work to be approved by department heads
and commits against forced overtime, strictly prohibiting any
form of forced labour. During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any material violations of laws and regulations
related to preventing child labour or forced labour. There were
not any strikes, labour disputes, lawsuits, claims, administrative
actions, or arbitrations filed against the Group. If any potential
violations are discovered, employment relationships with relevant
parties will be immediately terminated. We will also conduct
internal investigations, review and improve potential recruitment
process gaps, and promptly report such matters to the Labour
Department.

Supply Chain Management

The Group is dedicated to maintaining stable relationships with
supply chain partners in a sincere and responsible manner. We
recognize that supplier performance is crucial to the success of
our business operations and consider the process of selecting
suppliers as a key step within our sustainable development
strategy. We strictly adhere to the relevant laws and regulations,
including:

« The Bidding Law of the People’s Republic of China; and

+ Regulation on the Implementation of the Bidding Law of the
People’s Republic of China.

We uphold the principles of a fair and efficient procurement
process and extend our management scope to all service-
type suppliers, including those providing property valuation,
management, and corporate secretarial services.
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The Group has established a dedicated procurement review
team to maintain transparent and compliant procurement
procedures, reduce environmental and social risks, and
improve efficiency. This team is primarily responsible for
comprehensively evaluating supplier performance across various
aspects, including business reputation, product and service
quality, price competitiveness, and relevant sales terms, to
select suitable suppliers. We adhere to principles of openness,
fairness, and integrity in supplier selection while maintaining a
systematic supply chain management mechanism. This includes
comprehensive Guidelines on Procurement ((E¢f& L{E#551))
that clearly define procurement processes, tender requirements,
and staff responsibilities, along with strict supplier qualification
requirements.

The Group has also set up dedicated departments including the
procurement office, the procurement assessment team, and the
procurement team to strengthen procurement management,
standardize procurement procedures, and assign clear roles
and responsibilities. This systematic approach advances
procurement tasks and enhances cost-effectiveness in
purchasing. For daily management of suppliers, we regularly
review and update their qualification documents, track relevant
information, and record their compliance with laws, contract
performance, and complaint records to ensure supplier integrity.

To ensure continued efficiency and fairness in procurement,
our Procurement Department conducts comprehensive annual
evaluations of all product and service suppliers. The evaluation
focuses on four core areas: quality of service outcomes, service
efficiency, fee standards, and service attitude. Based on the
evaluation results, we promptly updated our supplier database.
Outstanding performers receive priority consideration for future
procurement opportunities, while underperforming suppliers
face a three-year suspension of partnership.

Sustainable Management of the Supply Chain

Suppliers of property management services are critical to
businesses focusing on property investment. Therefore, we
place significant emphasis on suppliers’ performance in
environmental and occupational health and safety aspects. Our
principal property management service providers must obtain
certifications including ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management
System, ISO 14001:2015 Environmental Management System
- Requirements with guidance for use, and OHSAS 18001
Occupational Health and Safety Management Systems. The
Group also continuously reviews and updates the procurement
policies to ensure alignment with our sustainability goals.
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We recognize that supply chain management must balance IFIREAAERESENARBIRFRTEET
environmental protection and social responsibility, thus RFILEBLE ERER A FEZENHERER
prioritizing partnerships with suppliers who value sustainable &fEc AR SR HEREIRIENTEZHETE
development. To minimize potential environmental and social [ i@ B HERETFENRRAT -
risks in the supply chain, we conduct detailed due diligence  EAILFEIRE » FFIBHE (R EIRBER) » FEREH
on potential suppliers. Simultaneously, we implement a Green A EBIE BSAEMRE  WEATEIRE A
Procurement Policy ({4 ®RBEBER)), prioritizing high- MEMBR AU EEERNBRNES &R
efficiency equipment in procurement and selecting recyclable /VERFER > HMPBIBEES THERBHEMAK
consumables, such as reusable toner cartridges. To reduce BEERFERME K HFIBEEEAMMER
resource consumption, we actively encourage employees to BRI BHHRF AT EBR LT KHRE [
use municipal water supply instead of bottled water. We also  BFth B EEY) BB T HIRIZERRIE 2o

emphasize building partnerships with local suppliers, supporting

Hong Kong’s local economic development while reducing

environmental impacts from goods transportation.

During the Reporting Period, most of our suppliers were from  fEIREHAR > I IR O HEIERIERBEEHS
Hong Kong, with the remaining from Mainland China. We have  MEMAZREFREAM > HACEH10BEEN

evaluated and assessed 10 of our main suppliers. HAEmE T

Suppliers by geographical region Unit 2024
IR B8 DRV O B 20245
Mainland China supplier 0
FR B A it EX

Hong Kong supplier 20
5 =

Service Quality and Responsibility IRFBEEMTE

We uphold professional, proactive, and prudent service principles, HfiFE{THR¥E BBRERERIRHFRE  HHHE
dedicated to establishing long-term mutually beneficial EBBHNFEEIRENEESIERMG TS
partnerships with our business partners and clients. While &P iRHEE SR E MDA S BARTER » 2T
providing high-quality financial products and excellent services BEZEEREIRER BEBNEMERZR
to our clients, we strictly adhere to Hong Kong’s relevant laws & BSHEEMEREHLENRTE  HHREB
and regulations, ensuring compliance across various aspects PR :

including health and safety, advertising, and privacy. This includes

but is not limited to:

« Landlord and Tenant (Consolidation) Ordinance (Cap. 7 of the « (EFHEMAE Gx5) &H)) EEEHIETS) ;
Laws of Hong Kong);

«  Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of « GESKREBERA) EEEHIE715) ; UKk
Hong Kong); and

«  Main Board Listing Rules. o (FrEAFRAD
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During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to
health and safety, advertising, labelling, and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided, and methods of
redress that would have a significant impact on the Group.

To ensure service standards and fulfil corporate responsibilities,
the Group has implemented multiple internal regulations and
policies, including the Compliance Handbook ((&#RFM)) and
Standard Code on Securities Transactions by Employees ({5
BEEITESHRZZPIZESFE])) . During the Reporting Period,
we also reviewed and enhanced the Operations and Compliance
Handbook ((&E & & FM)) for licensed companies, ensuring
our service quality through multi-dimensional standardization.
The following flowchart illustrates our process for ensuring
service quality:

Compliance
with laws and regulations
related to health and safety,
and advertising and privacy
issues of the provided
product and service

BitETERRIREN
RERRZ- - WERLESEE
BOEEER

EENRREERER

Given the nature of our business, our operation does not involve
product manufacturing or production, we do not have product
recall procedures in place.
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Comprehensive complaints
handling procedures
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Demonstrating Services Quality in Business XS RET RIFHIIRFE EH &

Integrated Financial Service

AR e RRARTS

Our company is committed to developing into a diversified, distinctive, and first-class financial asset service
institution. To realize this vision, the Company has established a comprehensive policy system dedicated
to providing trustworthy, professional, reliable, and fair financial services to clients and all stakeholders.
We maintain a rigorous client due diligence mechanism to thoroughly understand each client’s financial
situation, investment experience, and investment objectives, ensuring our recommendations and guidance
align with clients’ actual needs. For high-risk clients or business activities, we implement more prudent risk
management measures to effectively control and mitigate associated risks. Furthermore, we particularly
emphasize ensuring clients fully understand relevant terms, conditions, and potential risks before engaging in
any financial transactions.

The Company is committed to maintain a fair and informed market, and thus requires employees to abide by
the Code of Conduct and to fully understand their responsibility. Since the disclosure of inside information
is central to the orderly operation and integrity of the market, the Policy on Disclosure of Inside Information
(=M BIREEER)) » stating the responsibilities of the Board and senior management in monitoring all
disclosures in accordance with the provisions of the SFC, is constructed and strictly followed by every member
of the Company.

The Company prohibits any forms of false or misleading statement in the course of publicity, ensuring that all
advertisements and marketing materials truthfully describe the matter and are approved in accordance with
the provisions of the SFC before they are issued.

FRABKREERMAZ T ARFER—RENERMEERB B  ABRILESR  AABRIY T wENER
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Property Investment

YES a1

As a professional property investment company, we consistently maintain partnerships with experienced and high-
quality service providers to ensure professional management of our properties and outdoor advertising facilities. The
Company has maintained a diversified investment property portfolio in Hong Kong which comprises Kwai Fong Plaza,
certain floors of the Bank of America Tower in Central, Yue King Building in Causeway Bay, Ko Fai Industrial Building in Yau
Tong and Seaview Estate in North Point. On the other hand, the Company has also participated in the investment in the
JV Group which holds a diversified portfolio of properties in Hong Kong. Details of property investment information can be
found in the session of “Management Discussion and Analysis”.

ERBENYERENE R —ERFREREBENRGHER S BAE NTERFINESRITEE
TENEXEE ARBNEBRFAEZSTENREYEES  QRFEFSES  URARPREREITHO  705E
BRERECHESELEAERIABRAEZETRE -S—AH AART2E TEEAAZTREMESH
GEEENKE ARMYERENFBEFESRIEEESRROTIEN-

Comprehensive Complaints Handling Procedures

We believe customer feedback and suggestions are essential to
improving the quality of our products and services. In line with the
Code of Conduct for Persons Licensed by or Registered with the
Securities and Futures Commission ((;8 5 REIEEHEERES
B A MM AZRSTZER]D) and our internal control guidelines,
we have established a Whistleblowing Policy ((ZB¥RE)) and
a Customer Complaint Handling Policy (E P &FRIEBER)).
These policies specify the measures to be taken upon receipt of
a customer complaint and the procedures for handling various
types of complaints, helping us identify the nature and source
of complaints and areas requiring improvement. We conduct a
thorough review of each customer complaint and guarantee a
prompt response.

According to our policies, all received complaints must be
thoroughly documented in a dedicated complaint register,
including complete information about the nature of complaints,
handling measures, investigation causes, and proposed
solutions. We require staff to handle each customer complaint
with utmost care and report to relevant department heads and
management within two working days. After completing the
investigation, staff must promptly communicate the results
to customers. We regularly review and update our Customer
Complaint Handling Policy (& P & FFEEIEEER)) to ensure the
continued effectiveness of policies and procedures, enabling
proper handling of customer complaints and swift resolution.
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For property investment services, we require property
management companies to regularly gather tenant feedback
and quickly relay it to the property investment management
department to ensure timely responses to tenant needs. We
also have a complaint feedback mechanism in place to ensure
department supervisors initially handle received complaints
before being escalated for in-depth resolution, preventing
recurring issues. We continue to track the progress of complaint
resolution to ensure customer complaints are addressed
promptly and fairly.

To strengthen our complaint-handling mechanism, we have
established a dedicated Complaint Office responsible for
reviewing and investigating customer complaints, reporting
investigation results to company leadership, proposing handling
recommendations, and properly recording complaints and
their resolutions. The Complaint Office ensures all internal and
external reports are completed on time and meet management
or regulatory authority review requirements. During the Reporting
Period, we received no complaints regarding regulatory violations
or that significantly impacted the company.

Protecting Customer Privacy & Safeguarding Information
Security

The Group is fully aware of the critical importance of privacy
protection within the financial services industry. We are
committed to maintaining the confidentiality of our client’s
private data and strictly preventing any unauthorized or illegal
data breaches. To ensure the comprehensive and proper
protection of our clients’ confidential information, the Group
adheres to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) and has established internal policies,
including the Insider Information Disclosure Policy ((PI%H &
WEEEER)) and the Personal Account Trading Policy ((f8 A 8RS
R ZHER)) to precisely safeguard all sensitive information and
privacy.
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The Group strictly requires all employees to refrain from using
material non-public information or confidential information for
stock and other securities trading. Employees are also prohibited
from encouraging or guiding others to engage in trading activities
using such information.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any incidents
of customer information leakage and did not receive any
complaints regarding the improper use of customer information
that had a significant impact on the Group.

Intellectual Property Rights

We strictly adhere to intellectual property protection regulations.
For instance, all software installations must be authorized
through IT Department-issued passwords to ensure only
legally licensed genuine products are used. For product and
service information intended for public release, the Business
Integration Department conducts thorough verification before
web publication to ensure accuracy. The Group maintains
zero tolerance for infringement. During the Reporting Period,
the Group experienced no significant intellectual property
infringement incidents. We have implemented appropriate
measures to prevent any infringement of both our own and third-
party intellectual property rights.

Anti-corruption

The Group upholds the highest ethical standards and
professional conduct, embracing integrity, honesty, and fair
business practices as core values that all directors and
employees must maintain. We have zero tolerance for any form
of corruption, including but not limited to bribery, extortion,
fraud, and money laundering. The Groups business operations
are regulated by various regulations, including the Companies
Ordinance, the Securities and Futures Ordinance, and the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance. These regulations form our
operational legal foundation, ensuring compliance at all company
levels. All management personnel, including board members,
the chairman, CEQ, senior management, and all employees, are
responsible for ensuring their business areas fully comply with
relevant laws and regulations, particularly the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance requirements.
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The Group strongly believes the foundation of stakeholders
trust is built on the ethics and integrity of every employee. We
strictly adhere to Hong Kong’s laws and regulations related to the
prevention of corruption and bribery that significantly impact the
Group’s business, including, but not limited to:

«  Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of
Hong Kong);

+ Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
Ordinance (Cap. 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong); and

«  Code of Conduct for Persons Licensed by or Registered with
the Securities and Futures Commission.

During the Reporting Period, there were no concluded legal
cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group and
its employees. The Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to anti-corruption,
prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering that
would have a significant impact on the Group.

Comprehensive Management of Anti-corruption

The Group firmly opposes all forms of corruption and has
established and implemented comprehensive anti-bribery and
anti-corruption policies. We have established rigorous internal
control systems and procedures, including the Code of Ethics
for employees and declaration and approval mechanisms for
receiving gifts or entertainment, to maintain the Company’s
integrity and reputation.

To continuously strengthen these measures, we constantly
improve and revise the internal Anti-bribery and Corruption
Policies and Procedures (R ¥EEE KRB SHER MIERF)), Anti-
Money Laundering, and Counter-Terrorist Financing Policy ((¥T

BEEBRRRMD TFEEEERRK)), and established a Customer
Due Diligence and Money Laundering Risk Assessment Form ({(&
FHRBETREERRTEZE)) and Guidelines on Disclosure
of Conflicts of Interest ((FzREZEHEEIES])) to enhance work
efficiency and transparency in these areas. These measures
are detailed in the Integrity and Self-discipline Commitment
(FRRZBEEHEE)), Employee Handbook ((E T FM)), and
Compliance Handbook (&R FM)).
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We place high importance on business ethics and employee
professional conduct management. The Group maintains zero
tolerance for any violations of these policies. Upon discovering
violations, strict handling measures will be taken, including but
not limited to warnings, dismissal, and reporting to relevant
regulatory authorities.

To further foster a good anti-money laundering work
environment, the Company has established a Risk Compliance
Office responsible for anti-money laundering affairs and
specializes in customer due diligence and other compliance
matters. We regularly share anti-money laundering information
through email and training programs with employees, to raise
awareness among the employees.

Effective Anti-corruption Initiatives

The Group emphasizes all employees must fully understand and
strictly adhere to established policies. To enhance directors’ and
employees awareness of integrity, we actively provide relevant
training. During the Reporting Period, we revised our internal
policies, particularly the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-
Terrorist Financing Policy (TBAEBREH D FEEEEK
%)), to ensure alignment with relevant requirements from
regulatory authorities and legal regulations.

The revised policy emphasizes establishing appropriate
compliance management structures and independent internal
audit functions, providing a risk indicator checklist. This checklist
helps employees identify potential high or low money laundering
risk levels in business activities, enabling appropriate risk
management measures.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group has provided
anticorruption and anti-money laundering training for directors
and employees, details as follows:

27 June 2024
2024FE6827H

FEFEEREHAMESERET
REESEIINE RN

EMIRESN

Through a combination of lectures and on-the-spot responses,
the management and staff are introduced to the anti-
corruption legislation and discuss common procedural
loopholes and anti-corruption risks, professional ethics and
anti-corruption training is provided. The training lasted for 1
hour.

The Group has established a comprehensive Whistleblowing Policy

((BIBEK D), clearly outlining specific procedures for reporting
and inquiring about misconduct. This policy provides employees
with secure channels to disclose any fraudulent, unethical, or
illegal activities that might harm the Company’s reputation. We
commit to implementing the strictest confidentiality measures
for each report and complaint, ensuring whistleblower anonymity
and safety. To encourage employees to actively report issues, they
are urged to report any suspicious or improper matters directly
to the Chief Executive Officer or, if they choose, to submit their
concerns in writing to the company’s address on the 21/F, Bank
of America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong, China.
The Whistleblowing Policy ((Z%REIZE)) details the steps for
investigating these complaints, ensuring the company takes
appropriate follow-up actions for every report received.
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Community Investment
Community Investment & Giving Back to the Public

The Group actively engages in social welfare activities,
contributing to building a stable and harmonious social
environment through concrete actions. We have established
Community Investment Regulations ((#t &R E#E)) aimed
at integrating social care into business operations and fulfilling
corporate social responsibility. Through organizing employee
participation in charitable volunteer activities and implementing
various donation programs, we demonstrate care for society and
bring positive impacts to community development.

5 Years Plus Caring Company

Through years of continuous commitment and support to the
community, we have been honoured with “Caring Company 5
Years Plus” by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service. This
recognition affirms our consistent practice of at least three
areas of “Caring Company” initiatives for over five consecutive
years, including Volunteering, Employee Friendly, Employing
Vulnerability, Caring for the Environment, Mentoring, and Giving.
It also acknowledges our contributions as a long-term partner
of charitable organizations and our active efforts in fulfilling
corporate social responsibility.
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The Group maintains close cooperation with various charitable
organizations, providing donations and material assistance
based on community needs. With enthusiastic employee
participation, we organize multiple volunteer services, including
distributing “lucky bags” to underprivileged families and
making donations to the “U-Hearts” charity organization, fully
supporting community development. “U-Hearts” is a registered
non-profit charitable organization in Hong Kong, dedicated to
youth education and growth, and helping the elderly and the
disadvantaged groups in the community. Its services range from
youth development and exchange programs, assistance to the
disadvantaged group and elderly, secondary school student
sponsorship in Mainland China, school rebuilding, donation of
education equipment, and poverty alleviation. On 14 September,
2024, our employees and their children served as volunteer
representatives to distribute “lucky bags” to elderly individuals
living alone. The “lucky bags” contained daily necessities and Mid-
Autumn Festival treats, and volunteers chatted with the elderly to
express their care and respect.

We have also established a long-term partnership with
“U-Hearts”. Through a series of events, we provide financial
support and encourage employee participation in volunteer
services, spreading more positive energy within the community.
Since October 2018, we regularly prepared annual “lucky bags”
containing essential items such as rice, noodles, and toiletries
for grassroots families and elderly individuals living alone,
having distributed over 1,000 “lucky bags” to date. Additionally,
our volunteer team actively participates in service activities
organized by “U-Hearts,” providing support and care to youth and
elderly in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
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FEPNU REEX
R R

R G R AR AE
Great Wall Pan Asia Holding Limited

WOME RRNE AN HKE10,000 EME
ATMESALRED - WEEN
EREMEEARE |

The Group plans to continue seeking opportunities to contribute ~ AEE 8| BB HES EAKSHERITET
to charitable donations or community activities in the future, BIfFHBERES  BIHHESTEEHEEE-
thereby promoting and solidifying community development.
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HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Index B PR (IR - L B R ERIRS1E5 1A
BE35|

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Section/Statement
685  FEE R B AEIEIR =, B85
Mandatory Disclosure Requirements
EHIRTERTE
Governance A statement from the board containing the following elements: ESG Governance
Structure HESFXHNER EHPE8E THRE - Structure
BREE () adisclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues; ESGEAZRIE

KEEFEHIRR - HERELRFENEGE ;

(i) the board's ESG management approach and strategy, including the

process used to evaluate, prioritize, and manage material ESG-related

issues (including risks to the issuer’s businesses); and

EFENIRE - EREREERHARE > G b BRI &

BEEENRE - HEAEAERAEE (OFEHETAEBNER

e 5 &

(i) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals and

targets with an explanation of how they relate to the issuer’s businesses.

EETUNRIRE -G R ESHEABFRER  WEET U

AT N A RAE
Reporting A description of, or an explanation of, the application of the following Reporting | About This Report
Principles Principles in the preparation of the ESG report: RN AR S
BEER/RA B AR AR BIRIR B R E AR SR IR RERRA

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: () the process to identify and
the criteria for the selection of material ESG factors; (i) if a stakeholder
engagement is conducted, a description of significant stakeholders identified,
and the process and results of the issuer’s stakeholder engagement.

B2 IRBE S REAREERE (# EERR - HERERRER
HiBRRRIERE LR RRZER] (NNFTTABETHMESE 235N
BEERHENHEIRETAFNESENBIERER

Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions,
and/or calculation tools used, and source of conversion factors used, for the
reporting of emissions/energy consumption (where applicable) should be
disclosed.

81t : BRAERPINE SERAER QB FRAMNERE  7E B& Kk
FtETANERD Uk ANERE RN RIRE T HEE
Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any changes to the
methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant factors affecting a meaningful
comparison.

—BM BT ABERE - HERE ARG TIRBR T ASRRERES
BHEE (0H) sHERIEMTEER RRLBERARE
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Section/Statement
#lS « B E R BRATEER =1
Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

BHEIRERTE

Reporting A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and | About This Report
Boundary describing the process used to identify which entities or operations are | BIR ¥R
PEREGE included in the ESG report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer should

explain the difference and reason for the change.

RIBIRIR (I B R BRI S RIEREE » APV EPLE B TS A
RIE-HEREARENIERE - BERLEFFIoNE 1T ABREERR
2 R R BB RA o
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Section/Statement
#IE [ R AR ERIER =1 2

“Comply or Explain” Provisions
IRETRLERRZ R

A. Environmental
B

Aspect A1: Emissions
[BEA1 : HE)

General Disclosure | General Disclosure Information on: Environmental

—RRIREE (@) thepolicies;and fi=yi-]

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,

and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BRBERICEERBESIN S KRS B ERESERYNESE

ZERY

@ BR; &

b) BTHETABERZENEREREIRG

&E K} o
KPIA1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions -
RASRAEIEIEA1 | BE e AR R R Air Emissions

P —REREBEN

KPIA1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in | Emissions —
RASEAENISIZAL2 | tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, | GHG Emissions

per facility). P —RERASHE

B @E) kitRERE GEE2) BEREHINE GRS & WEA) | K
BE WUSESEN - BERHE)

KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity | Emissions —
RASRAEWISIZAL3 | (e.g per unit of production volume, per facility). Waste Management
FRELRSREEYEE CUEStE) &k WER) BE WUSESEM &5 | S —BEEYEE
BRIt E) ©
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RRSRAERIE1RAL6

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Section/Statement
2% 2 E KRR AEMIEE =1
“Comply or Explain” Provisions
TRESFRURRTE ) 15
A. Environmental
IRIR
Aspect A1:Emissions
[EEAT : BE)
KPIA1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, | Emissions —
RASBAENISIEALL | intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Waste Management
FrEAEEREYMRE CUESE) k WER) BE WIUSESE - | S —BEEYEER
FIERMEE)
KPIA15 Description of emissions targst(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Emissions —
FARANISIRALS | HPAE] BN E B R R AER G L B IRPTERERI S 5% o Air Emissions &
GHG Emissions
P —BERBE
RER SN
KPIA1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a | Emissions —

description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HillERIE A E R EEERYING L RIS IR EE B IR R A EE
IELE B IRPTERENAY D BR

Waste Management

Hr— e
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Section/Statement

2% 2 E KRR AEMIEE =8, BHR

“Comply or Explain” Provisions

IRESFRURRTE 15

A. Environmental

B

Aspect A2:Use of Resources

[BEA2 : BEIR(EA

General Disclosure | Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water, and other raw | Use of Resources

— Rk materials. BIREA
BRERAER EERR  KREMERME) BEER

KPI A2 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas, or oil) in | Use of Resources -

RASBAERNISIEA21 | total (KWhin'000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). | Energy Management
REETEI DNERRSEFEREEE UTETRNE KBE | BREAHEREE

WS ES BN BIERME)

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, | Use of Resources —

RABEAERNIEIEA2.2 perfaci ity). Water Management
RIEKERBE USESEN BEXRMH) ° BREA—KEIR

EIg

KPIA2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve | Use of Resources -

RARRARMIEIEA2.3 |them. Energy Management
HEZPr ST S BB TRE A M m B IR e A E B35 L B ARPRERERRY B BR o BREA-FEREE

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for | Use of Resources -

RASRAENIEIEA2.4 | purpose, water efficiency target(s) set, and steps taken to achieve them. Water Management
Hai S KREGE A /KR LI BERIRIRE LUk Frs] LAY ARG B R A E | BRERA—KER
EIE L B ARPTIRER R B 0 I=$id

KPIA2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if | Not applicable

RASRAENISIZA2.5 | applicable, with reference to per unit produced. (There are no product

SR aP A B EITAE E ISt e WER) BEEB LS.

production or factory
operations due to
the Group's business
nature)

A EREBE
B REENIRE
mm(F)
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BB EHHIRERRARBERNEARZ EREXNEEFHTZEN
BEIR

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Section/Statement

S B E R RRENIER =8, BHR

“Comply or Explain” Provisions

IRETRLERIZ R

A. Environmental

RIS

Aspect A3:The Environment and Natural Resources

[EEAS : IRIERKRAEIR

General Disclosure | Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and | Environment and

— Rk natural resources. Natural Resources
BURET NHIRIE R RIAB REMEAT EREER RIERKAEIR

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and | Environment and

RASRAERNISIEA3A | natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. Natural Resources

RIBRRAER

[EHEAs : RIREME

Aspect A4:Climate Change

General Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues

Climate Change

BB SR A SR ETAEERENEARRIEREE  REHTE-

—RRIREE which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer. RIZEIE

B REHERRAIEEHETAEEEENEAREEREEN

N3¢
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and | Climate Change
RASRAEIEIEAGI | those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them. | EAZEL
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Section/Statement
#IE [ R AR ERIER =1 2

“Comply or Explain” Provisions
IRETRLERRZ R

B. Social
HE

Aspect B1: Employment
[BEB1 : &
General Disclosure | Information on: Employment
—RRINEE (@) thepolicies;and =

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working

hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other

benefits and welfare.

BRF N R B REH TN RA - TERE -2t

R EAR L s LAt 38 B AR BN

(@ BR; R

b BTHETABERZENERAERRARM

0=
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time), | Employment
RARAESLISIEB11 | age group, and geographical region. 1=

2R BFRE GIEBaRE) - FaER Rt R B DR ES R -
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group, and geographical regjon. Employment
RARARRIEIEB.2 | MR FlAER RtE B DRV EE MR LR (=53
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Section/Statement
2% 2 E KRR AEMIEE =8, BHR
“Comply or Explain” Provisions
TRESFRURRTE ) 15
B. Social
HE
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
ES?  RENRE
General Disclosure | Information on: Employees Health &
—RRIREE (@ thepolicies;and Safety
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | 2453 8 T YRz 1
impact on the issuer Ze
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
BRARMZ2TERERREREESESEHELAEN
@ BER; &
(b) BFHBETABERTZENERMEERFRG
&E K} o
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three | Employees Health &
RASRAENISIEB21 | years including the reporting year. Safety
BE=F (BRERFE SFRTITHHOASKRLEE. BIRE TR
Za
KPIB2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Employees Health &
FRAIEIEB2.2 |EHITEEATEHE Safety
BRE TR
Ze
KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how | Employees Health &
RASBAENIEIEB2.3 | they are implemented and monitored. Safety
FE P ERAN O £ (R B L 2 FE T LURAHRA I TREE R 5% © BRE TR
ZE
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls
#IE [ R AR ERIER

Section/Statement
=10

“Comply or Explain” Provisions

IRBTRARRRE 1R

B. Social
e

Aspect B3: Development and Training
FEMEBS : R R IEH

General Disclosure | Policies on improving employees knowledge and skills for discharging duties at | Talent Training and

—RRIREE work. Description of training activities. Development
BRIHEHE S E1T T (ERI S AN B AE R EUR o #liE 3 /&8 AT 55| A2

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category | Talent Training and

RS AE 513834

(e.g. senior management, middle management).

MR EELER WEREER PREER BnZillRER DL

Development
AT 53R EE R

KPI B3.2
RS AR $513B3.2

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee
category.
BRI REEERB D  BRES TN Z I TR -

Talent Trainingand
Development

AT 55| A3

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

[EmEBs : %5 T A8

General Disclosure | Information on: Labour Standards
— R ER (@ the policies;and BT |

(o) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BRAFG I E T eaa%55 TaY

@ BER; &

o) BFHETABERTZENEREERFRG

EE S
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and | Labour Standards
RESEAERIEIEBA] | forced labour. T AR

Htss TR B IS A B0 FE I LUB S B T ke 58 lJZ5 T o
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Labour Standards
FARAANIEIEB4.2 | HATE S IER IS EDHIRA ISP ERER A & 5% © BT AR
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Section/Statement
#IE [ R FARERIER =1 2

“Comply or Explain” Provisions
IRETRLERIZ R

B. Social
=

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EEB5 : ARSI

General Disclosure | Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Supply Chain
—RRIREE BIRMHERRAVIRIE KAt & R BRER © Management
HEREIE
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain
RREMIEIRB5 | ItEE HHEEHE - Management
HIEHREIE
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers | Supply Chain
RASRAEWISIZEB5.2 | where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented | Management
and monitored. HIEEHEIE
A RAES RIS mERITARIMEGIN MR RS » LUKER
HITAERER Ao
KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along | Supply Chain
RASRAEWISIZEBS.3 | the supply chain,and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
A R A (RS EIRE NIRRT R & BRVIER  LURIEREHIT | HEREE
BB T 7% 0
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products | Supply Chain
RATRAERNIEIEB5.4 | and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and | Management
monitored. HrEEEIE
T BRE R R RS IR R E MR ARFERIEH » U ABRIRIT &
B A
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Section/Statement
#IE [ R AR ERIER =1 2

“Comply or Explain” Provisions
IRETRLERRZ R

B. Social
e

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEB6 : EmETE

General Disclosure | Information on: Service Quality and
—RRINEE (@) thepolicies;and Responsibility
(o) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant | IR E 2 E1E
impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labeling, and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of redress.
BRAFMREERNMRFBHREELZ S  EBE  REAAEEE RS
ER
@ BR; &
b) BTHETABERZENEREREIRG
&E K} o
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and | Not applicable (There is
RESRAEMIEIEB6A | health reasons. no product production
BENBELEMEHTHRZ 2 RERIEAMARKI B 2L due to the Group's
business nature)
B EREHL
B KEETNIRE
)
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are | Service Quality and
RARAEIS1EB6.2 | dealt with. Responsibility
RRERAN B S S ARFS RV S8l B LU B 75 0% AR BEEMEIE
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual | Service Quality and
RESEAEXIEIZEB6.3 | property rights. Responsibility
Tyt B e B o (R PR R B EE FE R BRI RV 1B 51 o RSB EMEITE
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls
#IE [ R FARERIER

Section/Statement
=10

“Comply or Explain” Provisions
IRETRLERIZ R

B. Social
=

[EHEB6 : EmEfE

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Not applicable (Thereis

FASRARRNIE1EB6.4 | E ST B KR E mEIINER no product production
due to the Group's
business nature)
TER ERESS
B REENIRE
mmS(F)

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,and how they are | Service Quality and

RAAENEEIEB6.5 | implemented and monitored. Responsibility

HUHBEERMRE R AARRBER » LU ABRHI TR B 7% ARFEEMEIT

[EmEB7 : R&ES

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

General Disclosure
—ARIRE

Information on:

(a) thepolicies;and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering.

ARAE LERARE ~ B ERFE Rt R 2y

@ BER; &
(b) BTFHBITABEATENERDERRIRE
BBk}

Anti-corruption
R&5

KPIB71
RASRRAERIEIEBT

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against
the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.

RERIRNH BT A HESIR LT EBENE SR MR E ki
SRAESR

Anti-corruption
R&S

KPIB7.2
SRR E1RB7.2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

LB A A R RAZ S » UBARRE I T B R T3 7% ©

Anti-corruption
k&5

KPIB7.3
FRSRARLIS1RB73

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.
HItmEE & B TR R ES5ET

Anti-corruption
k&5
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs Section/Statement
#ilS ~ B I R RARAETIER =B

“Comply or Explain” Provisions
IRETRLERIZ R

B. Social
T

Aspect B8: Community Investment
B8BMH : H&IRE

General Disclosure | Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the | Community Investment
—RRIREE communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into | {1 @& &
consideration the communities interests.

BRMUMtESER T REEMTHERENHAREEREIHETEEHLE

M ERBIEER o
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour | Community Investment
RASBAEXNISIEB8A | needs, health, culture, sport). HERE
HIEREE WS REEE - FTERV#BE -XE-EH) -
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community Investment
RARERISIERS.2 | AR FHIEFMHAER WEEIEFRE) ° Fan it
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

1 37 A% YR i

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

|IBDO

EEE : +852 2218 8288
{5E : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS
LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Great Wall Pan Asia Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 157
to 249, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as
at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Valuation of investment properties
Refer to note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

The investment properties are a key component of the Group’s
net assets value as at year end and financial performance for
the year. The Group measured the fair values of the investment
properties of HK$3,469.9 million in the consolidated balance
sheet as at 31 December 2024 and recognised the fair value gain
on investment properties of HK$131.6 million in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The investment properties of the Group comprise retail shops,
office buildings, industrial properties, and car parking spaces.
Management determined the fair values of these properties, with
reference to the valuation performed by external valuer engaged
by the Group (the “Valuers”), by considering the information from
a variety of sources. The determination of the fair value involved
significant estimates, the key assumptions used such as rental
rates and capitalisation rates taking into consideration of the
locations, sizes, and qualities of the properties to derive the fair
values of each of the properties.
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We focused on auditing the valuation of investment properties
because the estimation of fair values of the investment
properties was inherently subjective and subject to high degree
of estimation uncertainty due to the significant estimates
involved. Changes in these estimates could result in material
changes to the valuation of the properties and hence the results
of the Group.

Our response:

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s valuation of
investment properties included:

+ Assessed the Valuers’ competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

+ Obtained and read the valuation reports issued by the
Valuers which covered the property valuation of all
investment properties of the Group;

« Involved our internal valuation expert to assess the
management data used by the Valuers, including tenancy
schedules and relevant details, to the tenancy agreements of
the Group; and

« Involved our internal valuation expert to assess the valuation
methodologies and the key assumptions used by the Valuers.
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Other Information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

« identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

« obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

« evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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« conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

« evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

+ plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the group
as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the work performed for the purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Lau Kin Tat, Terry

Practising Certificate no. P07676

Hong Kong, 28 February 2025
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

GEBERAMRE

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
+=A +=A
=8 =+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
s BT T BT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Investment properties KEY= 6 3,469,900 3,328,900
Investments in associates REBE R ZIRE 8 5,425,218 5,387,008
Property, plant and equipment L ERE EYS Gy 5 503,650 510,478
Deferred tax asset RIEFIEE B 12 104 104
9,398,872 9,226,490
Current assets MENEE
Accounts receivable & U BR =R 10 4,531 6,179
Prepayments, deposits and AMERA -EHER
other receivables HAthFE U RIE 11 10,502 14,744
Current tax recoverable BN AU [EIFRIE - 153
Amount due from an intermediate FEUR R ¥ERR A B) 2 FIE
holding company 9 162 162
Pledged bank deposits BIRIRIRITENR 13(c) 12,419 -
Cash and bank balances RS KMIR1T4HEER 24(b) 209,268 232,523
236,882 253,761
Total assets BB E 9,635,754 9,480,251
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities EREAE
Deferred income tax liabilities IFIEFTIEM AR 12 18,227 18,241
Other payables and accrued liabilities HtEIHRIERESEE 15 1,532 8,682
19,759 26,923
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (Continued)
GAREAME ()

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
+=A +—A
=+-g =+-8
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
B 5T BT T AT
Current liabilities mENaE
Other payables and accrued liabilities Hf’mﬁgﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ 15 84,512 72,602
Loans from an intermediate REFEIER AT
holding company B™® 14 4,760,000 5,370,000
Bank borrowing RITEE 13 849,457 -
Amount due to an intermediate holding ~ FE{JHHRIIEAR AT FNIE
company 1,401 6,710
Current tax liabilities BNEfRIEEE 3,217 2,470
5,698,587 5,451,782
Total liabilities maE 5,718,346 5,478,705
EQUITY W
Capital and reserves B
Share capital [N 16 156,775 156,775
Reserves B 17 3,760,633 3,844,771
Total equity MR 3,917,408 4,001,546
Total equity and liabilities MG REE 9,635,754 9,480,251

The notes on pages 163 to 249 are an integral part of these S5163E2490B 2 it A ZE RS HFRRZ —

consolidated financial statements. o
Mr. Wang Hai Mr. Wang Zuomin
FiEkt FEREE
Chairman Director

FE EBE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GARrmlaER
Year ended 31 December
BE+-B=1+—HILEFE
2024 2023
—EpOE T =F

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

B 5E AT BHET T
Revenue Wz 4 122,056 121,782
Other income and gains or losses E AU A LR U 3 X E5 18 259 309
Rental and utilities sk a4 (11,701) (11,723)
Depreciation e 5 (6,828) (6,937)
Other operating expenses H& = Fsz 19 (31,726) (34,643)
Fair value gain on KEVMERLTERE

investment properties 6 131,648 74,533

Operating profit KERA 203,708 143,321
Net finance cost B T5 Al A B 58 20 (338,948) (279,589)
Share of profits of associates FEEHE RN B BF 8 56,351 426,300
(Loss)/profit before income tax PREF1SiRAT (B518) &7 (78,889) 290,032
Income tax expense FTiEME > 21 (5,249) (5,182)
(Loss)/profit for the year 2F (B8 BF (84,138) 284,850
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

Germlai (8)

Year ended

31 December

BE+_A=+—HLEE

2024 2023
“ETOE “ET=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
BEE AT T BT
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hithz2mE (&8) A
ltem that may be/has been reclassified ~ H#%&n] / BEHDLEE
subsequently to profit or loss: BmzIEE -
Currency translation difference GRERERELZ
on consolidation PERE%E - (243)
- (243)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income 2FEHMEE EE) WA
for the year, net of tax PriE%) = (243)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2F2mH (518 WALRLE
for the year (84,138) 284,607
(Loss)/profit attributable to: FEML (B518) /& F
Equity holders of the Company KAEIETIFBA (84,138) 284,850
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FEfE2m (B518) AL
attributable to: LN
Equity holders of the Company RAEIERTFBA (84,138) 284,607
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to ZsA B &HITH AEML
the equity holders of the Company Bk (B8 &F) 23
Basic 2K HK(5.37) centsBfll  HK18.17 centsi&Ll
Diluted e HK(5.37) cents?&{ll HK18.17 centsAll

The notes on pages 163 to 249 are an integral part of these 5516324908 ~ izt AL E4R

consolidated financial statements.

e

160 GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024

B HRER—8



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GARNED %

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z_UE+_B=+—HIEE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

FAREGERHA AR
Reserves
]
Share Share Contributed Merger Other Retained Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserves profits equity

Bk BAEE  SARE  AEE  RtRE  G3EY o
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETL  BMTR BN BNTR  BETR  ENTR  ENTR

Balance at 1January 2024 AZENE—B—HAR 156,775 50,382 310,841 (9,011) 333,445 3,159,114 4,001,546
Comprehensive loss 2EEE
Loss for the year 2EFE - - - = = (84,138) (84,138)
Other comprehensive loss Hi2EBE - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive loss PHEEGBEE - - - - - (84,138) (84,138)
Balance at 31 December 2024 MR _Z_N&E
+ZA=+—R%&EHR 156,775 50,382 310,841 (9,011) 333,445 3,074,976 3,917,408
Balance at 1January 2023 RIEZ=F—F—H&H 156,775 50,382 310,841 (9,011) 333,688 2,874,264 3,716,939
Comprehensive income 2EKBA
Profit for the year 2ERR - - - - - 284,850 284,850
Other comprehensive loss Hth2mEER - - - - (243) = (243)
Total comprehensive income 2EBALE S S = = (243) 284,850 284,607
Balance at 31 December2023 WMZZEZ=#
+ZB=+—B#&& 156,775 50,382 310,841 (9,011) 333,445 3159114 4,001,546

The notes on pages 163 to 249 are an integral part of these  $8163FE249B 2 Mzt R ILZELR S FFRER 2 —3F

consolidated financial statements. o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLLOWS

GollenEk

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—BLLEE

2024 2023
—ETPOE EC=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
B3 AT BT
Cash flows from operating activities RETFZHRERE
Cash generated from operations EES RS 24(a) 85,943 81,442
Hong Kong profits tax paid BAEBNER (4,363) (2,070)
Net cash generated from operating RETFELEZFRE
activities 81,580 79,372
Cash flows from investing activities REZFZHERE
Addition of investment properties REREYE 6 (9,352) (2,467)
Interest received BUWFE 20 3,704 2,504
Dividend income from associates RS AT
iz BIA 8 18,141 -
Placement of pledged bank deposits FREIRFRTENR 13(c) (12,419) -
Net cash generated from investing CEEBESZFRE
activities 74 37
Cash flows from financing activities METSZRERE 24(c)
Advances from an intermediate FRRG AR A B) BN
holding company = 5,648
Repayment of loans from an iRk B —REP TR
intermediate holding company NEIZER (900,000) (7.324)
Proceed from bank borrowing IRITEEMMEMIE 850,000 -
Interest paid BAFE (53,851) (54,748)
Repayment of the intermediate RRIERABER
holding company (1,058) -
Net cash used in financing activities MEEHFTEZFIRE (104,909) (56,424)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash HeEAREEEZ
and cash equivalents 3 CRZL) /1810 (23,255) 22,985
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate [EXREH) ~ 522 = (123)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January W—B—HZIR&K
Rea%E 232,523 209,661
Cash and cash equivalents at W+ZB=+—H2
31 December BEKMIREEE 24(b) 209,268 232,523

The notes on pages 163 to 249 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R R &

(a)

Corporate information

Great Wall Pan Asia Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability. Its principal place of business in Hong Kong is
21st Floor, Bank of America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central,
Hong Kong.

During the year, the principal activities of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are (a)
property investment and (b) financial services.

Material accounting policy information

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRS Accounting
Standards. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of investment
properties, as further explained below.

The Group has prepared the financial statements on the
basis of going concern. The Group recorded net current
liabilities of HK$5,461,705,000 as at 31 December 2024.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current liabilities
included loans from an intermediate holding company
and bank borrowing amounting to HK$4,760,000,000 and
HK$849,457,000, respectively.

In view of the Group’s net current liabilities position, the
Directors have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity and performance of the Group and its available
sources of finance when assessing whether the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going
concern and meet its liabilities as and when they fall due in
the foreseeable future after considering the following:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

)

MBswE M ()

2. Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had obtained a
committed undrawn term loan facility offered by a
licensed bank in Hong Kong in an aggregate principal
amount of up to HK$850,000,000 with a repayment date
at five years from 26 April 2024;

The Group obtained letters of undertaking and support
(the “Letters of Undertaking and Support”) from the
intermediate holding company that the intermediate
holding company agreed not to request the Group to
repay the loan and corresponding interest payable and
amount due to them. Further, the intermediate holding
company agreed to provide sufficient funds to the Group
so that the Group will be able to meet all the liabilities
and financial obligations as and when they fall due in the
coming twelve months from 31 December 2024; and

(c) The Group implemented cost-saving measures to

maintain adequate cash flow for the Group’'s operation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

2.

(a)

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The Directors have prepared a cash flow forecast for
the Group which covers a period of twelve months from
the end of the reporting period. Taking into account the
positive cash flows from operation, adequate loan from an
intermediate holding company and bank borrowing up to
the date of approval of these financial statements and the
ability of management in adjusting the pace of its operation
expansion, the Directors consider that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due.
Therefore, there are no material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt over the going concern assumption and the
Directors have formed a judgement that there is a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
operate for the foreseeable future.

(i) Amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments to the
standards for the first time for their annual reporting year
commencing 1 January 2024:

« Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current —
Amendments to HKAS 1

«  Non-current Liabilities with Covenants — Amendments to
HKAS 1

«  Supplier Finance Arrangements — Amendments to HKAS
7 and HKFRS 7

+ Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback — Amendments
to HKFRS 16
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

2. Material accounting policy information 2. EREHEBERER (&
(Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued) (a) RHEZE (@)

(i) Amended standards adopted by the Group (i) ZEFIRAGZANEETER (48)
(Continued)
The Group has not early applied any new or amended HKFRS AERE N RIZRIFEAA SRR AR EMN
Accounting Standards that is not yet effective for the current R SAE T BB Bl EER 5%
accounting period. Aifo
The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the B TEE T MRS S8R R AR
amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to 2 BRI H BRI SR HBEEREKR
significantly affect the current or future periods. s o

(i) New and revised standards and interpretations not (if) ZNEE[F KRN Z FE T RASIEE TR e

yet adopted by the Group iEfE

Certain new and revised accounting standards and AT RAMETT S5 2R KRR B E M E
interpretations have been published that are not mandatory WIER ZZEZNF+ A =+—HREHHE
for 31 December 2024 reporting periods and have not been SRR B R E A EBIRATIRM o BRE B
early adopted by the Group. Other than HKFRS 18, the B EHERH 185N R REIEETEH ) fE
directors of the Company anticipate that the application FZE T RAMES TR BATSUR RIS
of these new and revised standards are not expected to HERRAFERE R R WA TR HE
have a material impact on the entity in the current or future BERERTE-

reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

2. EXGFERER (&

2. Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(ii) New and revised standards and interpretations not

yet adopted by the Group (Continued)
Lack of Exchangeability — Amendments to HKAS 21"

Amendment to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments — Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 72

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11?2

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements —
HKFRS 18°

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability - HKFRS 192

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture — Amendment to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28+

Contracts Referencing Nature — dependent Electricity -
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 72

' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

?  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

(@) HRIEZEE ()
(ii) EEEF IR IRANZ A5 T RASNE TR K

E2FE ()
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREmE ()

2. Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(ii) New and revised standards and interpretations not

yet adopted by the Group (Continued)

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements -
HKFRS 18

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for
presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including
specified totals and subtotals.

Furthermore, entities are required to classify all income and
expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of five
categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and
discontinued operations, whereof the first three are new.

It also requires disclosure of newly defined management-
defined performance measures, subtotals of income and
expenses, and includes new requirements for aggregation
and disaggregation of financial information based on the
identified ‘roles’ of the primary financial statements and the
notes.

In addition, narrow-scope amendments have been made
to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, which include
changing the starting point for determining cash flows from
operations under the indirect method, from ‘profit or loss’ to
‘operating profit or loss' and removing the optionality around
classification of cash flows from dividends and interest. In
addition, there are consequential amendments to several
other standards.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

2. Material accounting policy information 2. EANEHBEREN (&
(Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued) (a) REEE (@)

(i) Revised standards and interpretations not yet (i) ZNEE[F 5 KRN Z Fa T R ASNE S TR Fe
adopted by the Group (Continued) EFE (B
Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements - FHIRERN 2 RINE —SBTH RS %L
HKFRS 18 (Continued) 5185% (@)
HKFRS 18, and the amendments to the other standards, is SRR SRS 1858 R E MR (85T
effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January ARIEZLtF—RB—HI 2 BMABZR
2027, but earlier application is permitted and must be EHIRER HIREER BT A5 A BIR
disclosed. HKFRS 18 will apply retrospectively. B o BB IS AR B 185 BE R o
The directors of the Company anticipate that the application KATEETEE EASBMBEREELSE
of HKFRS 18 has no impact on the Group’s financial 185 A EE B TE B RARRNAFEAR TR ZRIR
position and performance in foreseeable future, but has THEREE BHGAS2ARERNEINRE
impact on presentation of the consolidated statement of a=7

comprehensive income.

(b) Basis of consolidation (b) trEEE
The consolidated financial statements include the financial SRR ROERN NS RERBATEE
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to TETNE+"B=+—HIEZHFERE.

31 December 2024.

(i) Subsidiaries () HELE

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. B ABEAEEESI T ZFAAER B
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, EER2HEBR SEMESNAEEEEH
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with OO WAESER AN BR O E
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its FIEIER > AEEBHZERR A T o it
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the BABIZIRE BRI HEREAER ZH
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are I ALEIRE WA EBRERZES
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. Hi=lHARS AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREmE ()

2. Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i) Subsidiaries (Continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

Interests in subsidiaries in the Company’s balance sheet are
accounted for at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M HERME ()

2. Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control, generally accompanying
a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Interests in associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The
Group’s interests in associates include goodwill identified on
acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment loss.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses
and post-acquisition movements in reserves of associates
is included in the Group’s profit or loss and consolidated
reserves respectively. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of
the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. Dividends received or receivable from associates
are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the
investment.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in the
associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates
the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value
and recognises the amount adjacent to ‘share of profits of
associates’ in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

2. EXGFERER (&

mEEE @

(i) BELE]

HMEABIEAEEHEAEAR BB EIT
BZFAEBRE —RM= BRHAE —REXE
20%ES0NTHEREBEZRM -RIMERTZ
BT LU A AR 9 F A HESD o 25
EERBME QB 2 BERER E R
ZEE EHRERRERESS

FEBRGHMEQTDNWIER 28w R i#
BEHEDRFATEBR 2 B MRE
- RBRWBEREESNREREEFLS
B MAEEREMEATDBRFN BB
HtBE A8z o (BEEMEMEIRT
FEUGRIR) - 7EBASE—PHEBEER F
FHEEL AR HEEMSENABMERT
RS2 - BEWEEIREHE A B IR S HEEE A
2 EARE B

FEERSREAPEENBE QD ZRE
ERAREBEZENEEHRE HAEXSEE
REE  BEBEARIE A PR [CIRIRE H
SREEZZRR WIS 2 EWm R PR
E(SHHE A BB IR HER -

EIRIREiARAT —E_INEERS 171



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

2.

()

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

(ii)

(d)

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”),
which is the Company’s functional currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the profit or loss, except when deferred in
equity as qualifying cash flow hedges.

Translation differences related to changes in amortised cost
are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in carrying
amount are recognised in equity.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than assets in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an
asset comprises its purchase price and any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M HERME ()

2. Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance costs are expensed in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate cost less estimated
residual value less accumulated impairment losses over the
estimated useful lives as follows:

- leasehold improvement Shorter of remaining lease
term of 2 to 50 years or
useful life

- buildings Shorter of remaining lease
term of the land or 100
years

- computer equipment 3to 4 years

- office equipment 3to 10 years

- office furniture 3to 10 years

- vehicle 3to 10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

2.

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(e)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use
assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position
except for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified
as property, plant and equipment.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties that are held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Investment
properties are measured initially at costs, including related
transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment
properties are carried at fair values, with changes in fair
values recognised in the profit or loss. The methods used to
determine the fair values of the investment properties are set
out in Note 6 to the financial statements.

Subsequent expenditure on an investment property is
included in the asset’s carrying amount only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
costs are expensed in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

2.

(f)

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract
is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

2.

(f)

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on
the straight-line basis over the lease term.

Any changes in the scope of the consideration for a lease that
was not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease
are counted for as lease modifications. The Group accounts
for a modification to an operating lease as a new lease
from the effective date of the modification, recognising the
remaining lease payments as income on a either a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the remaining
lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

(€)]

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial
assets, investment properties and non-current assets/
a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating
unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

2.

(€)]

(h)

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the
period in which it arises.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated balance sheet when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

2.

(h)

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for accounts receivable arising
from contracts with customers which are initial measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

2. Material accounting policy information 2. EREHEBERER (&

(Continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued) (h) ERTH @)
(i) Financial assets () THEE

Classification and subsequent measurement of THEENTEREEFE

financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are RFETIRGNERE E B g At

subsequently measured at amortised cost: 2.

« thefinancial asset is held within a business model whose - RERANINEHNREMENEHIEN
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and HENEMEE; &

- the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash - BRBRRNIEEEBELRSRE M
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest MR ERAERHEREEAEHFEN
on the principal amount outstanding. (NE/

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial LtEoh > A 82 B B] N Bl i EH it HE e ZR R B X

asset that are required to be measured at the amortised KA EF ARMEERE . EREE

cost or fair value through other comprehensive income as REBATESIABRTE (WA LR
measured at fair value through profit or loss if doing so NEAE R D GEHEER) ©

eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

2.

(h)
(i)

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on financial assets (including accounts receivable,
deposits and other receivables, pledged bank deposits,
cash and bank balances, amount due from an intermediate
holding company). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G5 0 BB WO W Ak

2.

(h)
0]

(%)

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit
loss experiences, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
receivable. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

182 GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024

2. EXE

STEERER (&

(h) ERTH @
() =HEZE (@)

EHEERE (&

ERIRAE R EIBIEI R TAREFHRN
PRARISESEERENS M I BTEEER
Bk 12B B FEHREEBERERRER
S EBR12ER RSB ERNENSHME
EBVER D 2 RITREAE B 518 o SHE D IRIBA
ERBTEEERERET IMEBAS
ERZBREHERRURINRE HRNE
AR ST R SR RIAR GRS RS (L SR

FEE-ERBIIRRES 2 HEREER
B EEENTRMEEBERERETT
fiio
FAAEEMERTAMS  ~EEFEBEE
R12EBREHRER JEE?EE’JES?E%”‘% GEl=
MiatEBLIREE R AR L RIREE
DE’\,HH%EHW:.%EE?EOﬁF&tTEEE ‘EHATR
HRE B EFLHBFHETLER BB
REIRENR P SEM R RS RREEM



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M HERME ()

2. Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

« an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

« significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

2. EXGFERER (&

(h) £EFTHE @&

() ZHEZE (@)
EHEERE (&
— EERRREREEN

REHMEEE R BVGEEDURES
BE IR0 - $$@tb?$rﬁl,ﬁ#$§
S B REARER BRI
HALIRIZAIRI R o (R ST RS - ZIS%I
ZROERAEENEERELER
BREBEERMRERTCENDENE
BRI RIS RYRTREIE B HY

LHRZ fHMEEERRBHRHEELE

R CEEENRE %FEL/("F,%H

- ERMT AN A HABEE
RAVBRETRRRRRE S

- GFERBIINEHZEREER
B PIEEREHNEHBANGEE
BHEHRER ARG ;

RIIRTIERABRAT —Z_NFERSE 183



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

2. Material accounting policy information 2. EREHEBERER (&
(Continued)
(h) Financial instruments (Continued) (h) EMTHE @
(i) Financial assets (Continued) () ZHEE #B)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEERE (B
- Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) — FERREEIL @
. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, . ER MBRLERRERITER
financial or economic conditions that are expected to HIRAF)EE > TR EREHFA
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to BRENKRIETRE ;

meet its debt obligations;

 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the - EBAKEXEERNEHREER
operating results of the debtor; (5§

« an actual or expected significant adverse change - BEREANEE KEALMIRIZE
in the regulatory, economic, or technological MR TEHALHIRE AR F&EE) » B
environment of the debtor that results in a BB NEEESIKIE T Eeo

significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, Nom s 4E R e AEBERER
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased BHNNFEIRBE0RFR  EERMRE
significantly since initial recognition when contractual VAR LR ERBE LN FRIEAEER
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the BEEAEMAERNBERERAMER
Group has reasonable and supportable information that BYEREm

demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

2. Material accounting policy information 2. EANEHBEREN (&
(Continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued) (h) ERTHE @)

() ZHEZE (@)
=M EERE (&

(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

- Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) — FERREEIL @
Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the BEBLARE &N RESHAEMT

credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased AR EAEEREEERRE  BIAE
significantly since initial recognition if the debt BEREEH LENEE R KRB VI

instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (i) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (i) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

)

MBswE M ()

2. Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M HERME ()

2. Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)
(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
- Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

2. EXGFERER (&

2. Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)
(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

2. EXGFERER (&

2. Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)
(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment loss or reversal
of impairment loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amounts,
with the exception of accounts receivable where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREmE ()

2. Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classifications as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity Instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

2. Material accounting policy information 2. EANEHBEREN (&
(Continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued) (h) ERTHE @)

(i) Financial liabilities and equity instruments (i) ZHEERRKEITLAR (B
(Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost B AT EZ THEE
Financial liabilities (including other payables and accrued TREE (EEAMEMRERETaE 2K
liabilities, loans from an intermediate holding company, B EZER AR ZER  RITEERENF
bank borrowing and amount due to an intermediate holding IR A BIFIE) Hig USRI Z AR
company) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, RAEtE e

using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities AP T E &

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only EHEEAREENEETEMARR BUSSEIHE
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or R AEELTeRIBIcHadE KRIEmE
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount HNERER HEETEE@EH&}‘EHW 52 8
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration HZERETH 1B

paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents () REKXIRNEZEY
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, e RERERMS  RERREEEY
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and BIEFBIREMOEHRER UK oI R R
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments AREMSERS I EEESRRISE
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, — BB A =88 NEIHRRERE A
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and KE ) RARERFEERENRETES 1iE
have a short maturity of generally within three months RAEEIREEIRARED

when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash

management.

() Revenue recognition () UamhEs?
Service fees and charges REERIKE
In accordance with HKFRS 15, service fees and charges such RIES B BEREERFE 155 IREREE
as management fees and air conditioning service fees arising TR E MW E (BINEIRE K T FBARS
from the provision of services are recognised over time when &) iR 5 AR HA R PE RS R RS o

such services are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

2.

(k)

v

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, and it
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount
can be made.

Current and deferred income tax

Income tax expense is the aggregate amount included in
the determination of profit or loss for the year in respect of
current tax and deferred tax.

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

2.

0

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted,
deferred tax liabilities for such investment properties are
measured in accordance with the above general principles
set out in HKAS 12 (i.e. based on the expected manner as to
how the properties will be recovered).

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
thereis a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

2. EXGFERER (&

2. Material accounting policy information
(Continued)
(m) Defined contribution plans (m) REMRETE

FEBRNEBEAZIESERESRHE

W

The Group participates a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”)

Scheme for all qualifying employees employed in Hong Kong.
The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of
the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes the lower of HK$1,500 per month as a mandatory
contribution or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs to
the MPF Scheme.

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiary are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated
by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiary is required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefits schemes is to make the required contributions
under the schemes.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there was no forfeited
contribution under the Defined Contribution Schemes
available which may be used by the Group to reduce the
existing level of contributions, nor any contribution under the
Defined Contribution Schemes was forfeited by the Group
during the two years.

. Critical accounting estimates and judgement

Management are required to exercise significant estimates
and judgments, which are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, in the selection and
application of accounting principles.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

3.

(a)

(b)

Critical accounting estimates and judgement
(Continued)

Fair value of investment properties

The valuation of investment properties is performed in
accordance with the “Valuation Standards on Valuation
of Properties” published by the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors. The valuation is reviewed semi-annually by
qualified valuers by considering the information from a
variety of sources including but not limited to:

() comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant market; and

(i) rental income derived from the existing tenancies with
due provision for any reversionary income potential.

The fair value of investment properties is determined by
using valuation technique. The determination of the fair
value involves significant estimates, the key assumptions
used such as rental rates and capitalisation rates taking
into consideration of the locations, sizes and qualities of the
properties in relying on the valuation report. Details of the
judgement and assumptions applied have been disclosed in
Note 6.

Changes to the assumptions used in deriving the valuation
could have a significant risk of causing material adjustment
to the carrying amounts in the balance sheet. Please refer to
Note 6 for details.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for
its property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. The
depreciation for future periods are adjusted if there are
material changes from previous estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

3.

()

Critical accounting estimates and judgement
(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for property, plant and equipment at the end
of each reporting period. An impairment exists when the
carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise
judgement and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that
may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value
of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
in the case of value in use, the net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued
use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts including
cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the assets
belongs, including allocation of corporate assets when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, otherwise recoverable amount is determined
at the smallest group of cash generating units, for which the
relevant corporate assets have been allocated. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or
the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially
affect the recoverable amounts.

(d) Going concern consideration

The assessment of the going concern assumption involves
making a judgement by the management and reviewed
by Directors, at a particular point of time, about the future
outcome of events or conditions which are inherently
uncertain. The Directors consider that the Group and the
Company have the capabilities to continue as going concerns
and the major events and conditions, which may give rise
to business risks, that individually or collectively may cast
significant doubt upon the going concern assumption and
related mitigating measures taken by management are set
out in Note 2(a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M HERME ()

4. Revenue and segment information

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) of the Group, who reviews
the Group's internal reporting in order to assess performance
and allocate resources. The Company’s management has
determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The Group has two reportable segments, namely property
investment and financial services segments, for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Property investment segment holds various retail,
commercial and industrial properties and car parking spaces
in Hong Kong. It derives revenue through leasing out its
properties.

The financial services segment primarily engages in
regulated activities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO”).

In 2023, the Group has ceased to carry on Type 1 (dealing
in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities), and Type 6
(advising on corporate finance) regulated activities under
the SFO. Requests for the reduction of Type 1 and Type
4 regulated activities and revocation of Type 6 regulated
activities have been submitted to the Securities and Futures
Commission (the “SFC”).

The SFC has agreed to reduce the Group’'s Type 1 and
Type 4 regulated activities under section 127(1) of the
SFO with effective from 6 June 2023. On 4 January 2024,
the SFC agreed to revoke the Group’s license for Type 6
(advising on corporate finance) regulated activities under
section 195(1)(d) of the SFO.

During the current reporting period, the Group is licensed to
carry on Type 9 (asset management) regulated activity under
the SFO. However, the financial services segment did not
generate any revenue (2023: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREmE ()

4. Revenue and segment information (Continued)

The chief operating decision-maker assesses the
performance of the operating segments based on profit
or loss for reportable segments. The Group considers that
the measurement principles for profit or loss for reportable
segments are consistent with those used in measuring the
corresponding amounts in the Group’s financial statements.
Hence, profit or loss for reportable segments is used for
reporting segment profit or loss. Although no segment assets
or liabilities is regularly provided to or reviewed by the chief
operating decision-maker, monthly updates presenting
the Group’s consolidated balance sheet by subsidiaries are
provided for the purpose of assessment.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in the material accounting policy
information except that interest in the profit or loss of
associates is accounted for on the basis of dividend received
or receivable in segment profit or loss while such interest
is accounted for under the equity method in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires
different marketing strategies. Transactions (if any) between
reportable segments are accounted for on arm’s length basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

4. Revenue and segment information (Continued) 4. WWEKRDEER @)

Revenue recognised during the year comprises: RERFER 2 W B
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$000
BT T AT
Revenue arising from leases within scope EBUBREEAF165RBER
of HKFRS 16: MIFRE E AW
- Rental Income -5 UN 111,787 111,989
Revenue within scope of HKFRS 15 EBUBHREENF155KBENR
AU
- Service fees and charges —IRFBE MW E 10,269 9,793
122,056 121,782
Leases with tenants provide for monthly fixed base rent and WP 2 HERENY S ABREER
recovery of certain outgoings. Additional rents were based MERETFZHZWE R EXTR N ER
on business turnover amounted to HK$230,000 (2023: SR 230,000 7T (B =4 © 414,000
HK$414,000) and have been included in the rental income. 70) sTAFHEWA R ©
Service fees and charges such as air conditioning income RMHARFEFTNER 2 ARFS B RN =B A K E
and management fee income arising from the provision of HEWA Z B TH 1R 4 5% 5 AR5 I 14 B ]
services are recognised over time when such services are EE T LARERR
rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

4. W R D ERE R (8)

AEEARE LPAAEFHUEEREM M
RIEPIRE D BB D Z D ERERIOT

4. Revenue and segment information (Continued)

Substantially all the activities of the Group are based in
Hong Kong and below is segment information by reportable
segments:

(a) Reportable segment profit or loss (@) AIFRE D EFIER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_NE+-_A=1+—HLEE

Property Financial
investment services Total
MERLE ERLARTS Hast
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BETIT
Revenue from external customers INARE R 2@ 122,056 - 122,056
Profit/(loss) for reportable segments o3RS EEA],
(&518) 148,193 (46) 148,147
Fair value gain on investment properties "EMEDN
N EW T 131,648 - 131,648
Net finance (cost)/income B (A
W AEEE (53,201) 173 (53,028)
Depreciation e (6,297) - (6,297)
Income tax expense T8> (5,213) (36) (5,249)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_ T -F#+_A=+—BHILEE
Property Financial
investment services Total
ES g ERARTS 4ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT TT BT T
Revenue from external customers INARE R 2@ 121,782 = 121,782
Profit/(loss) for reportable segments RSN EEA],
(B518) 94,738 (1,141) 83,597
Fair value gain on investment properties KEMEDN
N ER T 74,533 - 74,533
Net finance (cost)/income B (A
WA (54,551) 565 (53,986)
Depreciation e (6,299) (1) (6,300)
Income tax expense FTigiREEs (5,182) - (5,182)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

4. Revenue and segment information (Continued) 4. WWEKRDEER @)

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profitorlossto  (b) B3R5 D EFIBRE S FRFHIER
profit for the year

For the year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HILEE

2024 2023
—EUFE —ET-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Profit for reportable segments FIERE D ER & A 148,147 83,597
Reconciling items: HIRIER :
Share of profits of associates under equity RIEEREOAEERHE QT
method of accounting gl 56,351 426,300
Finance cost for financing the Group’s MAERKE KIS AT ET
investment in an associate (Note) BB R A (H/aE) (289,344) (227,345)
Other corporate and treasury activities Hihib 2R EFES 708 2,298
(Loss)/profit for the year 2F (518 &BF] (84,138) 284,850
Note: The finance cost of HK$289,344,000 (2023: HK$227,345,000) is not MizE: 289,344,000 (ZE - =
allocated to the above reportable segments as this finance cost 227,345,000787T) Z MAFERARDELE N
was incurred for financing the Group’s investment in an associate. LR EDE T ER ZH AR
Please refer to Note 8 for details. EERE—REE R EETHREMESE
SIEE SRS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G5 0 BB WO W Ak

4,

(c)

(d)

(%)

Revenue and segment information (Continued)
Geographical information

The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong and the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). The term “PRC” for the
purpose of the consolidated financial statements, excludes
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC.

The revenue for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023 are all derived from Hong Kong, amounted
to HK$122,056,000 and HK$121,782,000 respectively.
As at 31 December 2024, the total non-current assets
other than deferred tax asset located in Hong Kong and
the PRC amounted to HK$9,398,768,000 (31 December
2023: HK$9,226,386,000) and nil (31 December 2023: nil),
respectively.

Information about major customers

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,

4. Wi R D ERE R} (&
() tEHEK

FEEREBRPEARILME (HHELD) &
BEF o [ —50 GRS MHREMS)
NEEREE BRI TEE

BE_ZMER"TE=F+"H=1+—
BEFENKBREHEEEETE 235
122,056,00038 75 % 121,782,000 75 o 1 — &
TE+ZA=+—H AN EBKRPEN
IERENEE CRIEMIBEERRID BB H5
9,398768,00087T CEZ=F+"A=+—
H :9,226,386,000870) K| (CEZ=F+=
B=4+—H 8o

d) BRAETEZFHNER

BEZMERTE=FT+_H=1—

revenue from major customers who contributed over 10% of AUEFEE > BRMAERAINTE10% X LN E
the total revenue of the Group is as follows: BERAIWEIT -
2024 2023
“ETWE ET=F
HK$’000 HK$000
BT T AT T
Customer A LY\ 14,672 14,672
Customer B ZFB 16,677 16,677

Revenue contributed from customer A and B are derived from
property investment segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

5. Property, plant and equipment

5. Y% e Rt

Computer Office Office Leasehold
equipment  equipment furniture improvement Buildings Vehicle Total
HEME
BiEEE BRERHE  WAEEHE HETHE 18F BE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT AT AT
Net book value at RZE-ME—-A—H
1 January 2024 ZIREEHE - 367 210 2,360 507,541 = 510,478
Depreciation neE - (70) (52) (409) (6,297) - (6,828)
Net book value at e 11
31 December 2024 +ZB=+-Hz
SREEE - 297 158 1,951 501,244 - 503,650
At 31 December 2024 RZIE-mE
+-BA=+-H
Cost A 18 1,283 637 5,303 629,750 77 637,708
Accumulated depreciation REHTERAEESE
and impairment losses (18) (986) (479) (3,352) (128,506) (717) (134,058)
Net book value at RZIEZmE
31 December 2024 +ZB=+—-Hz
REFE = 297 158 1,951 501,244 = 503,650
Computer Office Office Leasehold
equipment equipment furniture  improvement Buildings Vehicle Total
HEME
Bl BRERE  BAERE HEIR BF B st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
Net book value at R_2-=%—-F—H
1 January 2023 ZIREFE = 445 262 2,769 513,838 109 517,423
Depreciation nE S (70) (52) (409) (6,297) (109) (6,937)
Written-off b 67| - 6) - - - - )
Net book value at R_E_=F
31 December 2023 +ZA=+-Bz
REZE 5 367 210 2,360 507,541 = 510,478
At 31 December 2023 R_BZ=fF
+ZA=1+—H
Cost [H% 18 1,283 637 5,303 629,750 717 637,708
Accumulated depreciation RtERRERR
and impairment losses (18) (916) (427) (2,943) (122,209) (717) (127,230)
Net book value at i
31 December 2023 +ZA=+—8z
FREFE = 367 210 2,360 507,541 - 510,478
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

G5 0 BB WO W Ak

(%)

6. Investment properties 6. KEME
2024 2023
—E_NE -
HK$'000 HK$000
BT T BT
At 1 January »w—A—H 3,328,900 3,251,900

Fair value change: NEBEEH

- Capitalised expenses —BERMERE% 9,352 2,467
— Fair value gain — R~ EWE 131,648 74,533
At 31 December R+=—B=+—H 3,469,900 3,328,900

The Group leases out its investment properties under
operating leases. Leases typically run for an initial period of
one to four years, with some having the option to renew, at
which time all terms are renegotiated.

The Group’s investment properties were valued by an
independent professional valuer, Sinoappraisal Advisory
Limited (“Sinoappraisal”), to determine their fair values
as at 31 December 2024 (as at 31 December 2023: Savills
Valuation and Professional Service Limited and CBRE
Advisory Hong Kong Limited). The Group has adopted such
valuation and recognised a fair value gain of HK$131,648,000
(81 December 2023: fair value gain of HK$74,533,000)
accordingly. The principal assumptions underlying
management’s estimation of fair values of the investment
properties and the basis of valuation are consistent with
those applied in the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2023. The investment
properties have been measured at fair value as at 31
December 2024 by level 3 (31 December 2023: level 3) in
the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value treatment
is categorised. There is no transfer between levels of the
fair value hierarchy used in measuring the fair value of the
investment properties during the year.

Security for the Group’s banking facilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's investment property
in Hong Kong amounting to approximately HK$2,145 million
(2023: Nil) was pledged to secure the Group’'s banking
facilities (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M HERME ()

6. Investment properties (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, direct operating
expenses of HK$18,993,000 (2023: HK$19,219,000)
arising from investment properties that generated rental
income and no direct operating expense arising from
investment properties that did not generate rental income
(2023: Nil), were charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total future minimum
rental receivables under non-cancellable operating leases
for its investment properties are as follows:

6. REWE (&

BE_Z_ME+_A=1+—HIEFE 4
BEAEWGREIFHESASRAZRE
Y253 2 B ER$18,993,000/87T (Z
T =4 119,219,000/ 7T) » REAFRELEM
SWAZKREYERESIRNEELERY
CEZ=F | o

RZE2_ME+_A=+—8 > ~EERE
HIg B2 A eI R EHE 2 RRRE
R EFEWRRIERERI T ¢

2024 2023

“ETOEF TECZHF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT AT TT

Within 1 year 1R 73,062 87,661
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FBE2ERN 41,049 42157
After 2 years but within 3 years 2B {E3FEN 20,413 9,337
After 3 years but within 4 years SFERBELFENR 2,314 230
After 4 years but within 5 years LEBBFER 1,205 -
After 5 years S =E 3 882 -
138,925 139,385
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

6. REWE (&

R NFER-E_=F+"_F=+—H

6. Investment properties (Continued)

Particulars of investment properties held by the Group as at

31 December 2024 and 2023: FEFEFFREYEFE -
Property Type Lease term
S s TR
(i) 20th and 21st Floors and Car Parking Spaces Nos. 21,22 and ~ Offices and car parking Long
23 on 4th Floor, Bank of America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, spaces
Central, Hong Kong
EBRIRERE1 2R EERITHRO20R21ERMEZ 2122 MWAERFEIBE £
T 235% (B BB AU
(ii) Ground and 1st Floors, Block B, Ko Fai Industrial Building, 7 Industrial building Medium
Ko Fai Road, Yau Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BENERESIEE7RSE T EREBEM T RI1E IE thER
(i) The lobby on G/F and the front (or southern) portions of  Office and retail shop Medium
the 1st, 2nd and 3rd Floors including the staircase therein
leading up to the 3rd Floor and the lift therein serving the
1st and 2nd Floors only and portion of the canopy on the 1st
Floor level, Yue King Building, 26, 26A, 27, 28, 29 & 30 Canal
Road West, 1-7 Leighton Road and 41-47 Morrison Hill Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong
EBETRSEE2626A 2728 20K%305E 1EEE1E MWAERTES R
TRREEBNENELRRREH T RE R 2R3 2
AIED (BRI ER) (BIEBMABIERBIR R ERFS 1 2B 2 FH %
1) UR1ER D L&
(iv)  8th Floor of Block C, Sea View Estate, 8 Watson Road, North  Industrial building Medium
Point, Hong Kong
BHEILAE R ESTER KECEESIE I= FREHR
(V) Kwai Fong Plaza, Kwai Fong Estate, 177 Hing Fong Road, Retail shopsand car parking Medium
Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong spaces
BAMAZERES IR 7755 S &S DEEREESZE thER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

6. Investment properties (Continued) 6. IREWE (&
Investment properties comprise: KREYEBIE
2024 2023
—EME “B=fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Long term leasehold (not less than 50 years)  RHIFEA) (RUDRE+E) 480,900 480,900
Medium term leasehold (less than 50 years FREBFEAY (DR A+EF

but not less than 10 years) BARDR+E) 2,989,000 2,848,000
3,469,900 3,328,900

Fair value measurements using significant EREATNIHREHABEN AT ES

unobservable inputs =
Retail shops
and car
parking Office Industrial
spaces buildings properties Total
TEER
BEIBE MAKIE Is 45t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BIETIT BIETIT BIBETIT BIETIT
At 1January 2023 R_E-_=F—HF—H 1,986,000 935,900 330,000 3,251,900
Fair value change: NEEES !
- Capitalised expenses —BAEHxZ 2,467 - - 2,467
~ Fair value gain/(loss) —NFEWE (B8
- unrealised —RER 71,533 4,000 (1,000) 74,533
At 31 December 2023 B2 =F+"F=+—H 2,060,000 939,900 329,000 3,328,900
At 1January 2024 A2 MFE—-A—H 2,060,000 939,900 329,000 3,328,900
Fair value change: NTEEE)
- Capitalised expenses —BREHEX 9,352 - - 9,352
~ Fair value gain —ATHEWE
- unrealised —RBR 75,648 51,000 5,000 131,648
At 31 December 2024 RZEZMFE+"B=+—H 2,145,000 990,900 334,000 3,469,900

RIIRTIERABRAT —Z_NFERSE 207



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREmE ()

6. Investment properties (Continued)

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s investment properties were revalued by
independent professionally qualified valuer, Sinoappraisal, at
31 December 2024 (2023: Savills and CBRE), who both hold a
recognised relevant professional qualification and has recent
experience in the locations and segments of the investment
properties valued. For all investment properties, their
current valuations are based on the highest and best use.
The Group’s finance department includes a team that review
the valuations performed by the independent valuers for
financial reporting purposes. The revaluation gains or losses
are shown as “Fair value gain on investment properties” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

At each financial year end, the finance department:

« verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation
report;

« assesses property valuation movements when compared
to the prior year valuation report; and

« holds discussions with the independent valuers.
Valuation techniques

Fair values of the retail shops, office buildings, industrial
properties and car parking spaces are derived using the
income capitalisation approach. The income capitalisation
approach is based on the capitalisation of the net income
and reversionary income potential by adopting appropriate
capitalisation rates, which are derived from actual location,
size and quality of the properties and taking into account
market data at the valuation date. The prevailing market
rents adopted in the valuation have reference to the actual
location, type and quality of the properties and supported by
the terms of any existing lease, other contracts or external
evidence such as current market rents for similar properties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

6. Investment properties (Continued) 6. IREWE (&
Valuation techniques (Continued) HERZE @

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during
the year.

Significant inputs used to determine fair value

Capitalisation rates are estimated by management, after
consultation with valuers based on the risk profile of the
properties being valued. The higher the rates, the lower
the fair value. At 31 December 2024, capitalisation rates
of 2.00% to 5.00% (2023: 2.50% to 3.90%) are used in the
income capitalisation approach for the retail shops, office
buildings, industrial properties and car parking spaces.
(2023: retail shops, office buildings, industrial properties and
car parking spaces).

Rental rates are estimated based on recent lettings of 63.9
psf (2023: HK$62.0 psf) for retail shops, HK$55.0 psf to
HK$71.0 psf (2023: HK$46.4 psf to HK$80.6 psf) for office
buildings, HK$16.0 psf to HK$27.0 psf (2023: HK$10.0 psf to
HK$28.6 psf) for industrial properties and HK$3,312.6 per
space (2023: HK$3,502.0 per space) for car parking spaces
respectively. The lower the rents, the lower the fair value.

PEER BT AL EES)

BEATENEEHARKE

BRI HEREA A A GEMER
FR{GEMENERBREE - EREE > A
FEAEE R ZETOE+"A=1+—
B HAWRAER G AHENTES
ARB-TITEREFEZEM (CE-=F:
TEE-PWAKE TEREFEZBN) FH
200%ZE5.00% (CZE =4 : 2.50%%3.90%)
B AELE=R-

AELEETLIRES EESFHIR63.98T (&
T = §FHR62.087T) - HAKES
FHRE5.08TTEGFEFR71.08BT (22

T =F I BFHRGLBITTESF HIR80.65
)~ LESTARICOEBETEGFHR270
BT CEZI=F . §FAFRI00BTESF
FR28.6787T) MEEEEHE3,312.6/87T
(CE=%F | §EFEHEI3,502.087T)
AU HATE S 78R AR - AFERE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREmE ()

6. Investment properties (Continued) 6.

Significant inputs used to determine fair value
(Continued)

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

KREME (B
BEATENTEHARE (B

"F%EF?BHZIKEE& SMERNRTESER

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B4R 5B24R 34 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT
At 31 December 2024 RIZ2ZME+ZA=+—H
Investment properties REME - - 3,469,900 3,469,900
At 31 December 2023 RIZ2Z=F+ZA=+—H
Investment properties REME - - 3,328,900 3,328,900

There was no transfer between levels during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2028.

Management engages an external valuer using the income
capitalisation approach which takes into account market
information with reference to sales evidence as available on
the market.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

6. Investment properties (Continued) 6. WEWE @
Valuation of investment properties with unobservable BEARTERHEAZENEEYENG
inputs (=1
The following table shows a reconciliation from the beginning TREIATFERB TUEIRLTFEFTE
balance to the ending balance for fair value measurement in FHERE F AR ERAVEER

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT TT

Opening balance FEEER 3,328,900 3,251,900

Additions during the year FARE 9,352 2,467
Unrealised gain recognised FREDHRER WS

during the year 131,648 74,533

Closing balance FRERR 3,469,900 3,328,900

Net changes in unrealised gains BRI B REH
for Level 3 investment HNEE)FE 131,648 74,533
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

6. Investment properties (Continued) 6. WEWE @
Valuation of investment properties with unobservable BERATERHAZENEEYENG
inputs (Continued) B @)
Balance of investment properties as at 31 December 2024: RIZZMFE+ZA=1+—HRKREWFENE
B
Valuation
Investment Fairvalue technique Unobservable inputs Rate/Range
RE ATE GERE FOBERBAYE tEfl/EEE
HK$'000
BT T
Investment properties 3,469,900  Income Capitalisation rate: 2.00%-5.00% The higher the capitalisation rate,
capitalisation the lower the fair value
approach
REME 3,469,900 WABAKIEAZE BAREXR!200%E500% BXEREE ATEREE
Rental rates: The lower the rents, the lower the
Retail shops: fair value
HK$63.9 psf

Office buildings:
HK$55.0 psf-HK$71.0 psf
Industrial properties:
HK$16 psf-HK$27.0 psf
Car parking space:
HK$3,312.6 per space
e Hedl ATERME
BEIE:
B HR63.98TT
WAXE:
FTHR50BTESTAR
71.087T
IE:
BEER16EBTESFHR270
BT
{EERISEEAL
BEFEHES312.68T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

6. Investment properties (Continued) 6. WEWE @
Valuation of investment properties with unobservable BEARTERHEAZENEEYENG
inputs (Continued) ENEE)
Balance of investment properties as at 31 December 2023: N2 - =F+_A=+—HEEYENE
B
Valuation
Investment Fairvalue technique Unobservable inputs Rate/Range
RE ATE GERE FOBERBAYE tEfl/EEE
HK$'000
BT T
Investment properties 3,328,900  Income Capitalisation rate: 2.560%-3.90% The higher the capitalisation rate,
capitalisation the lower the fair value
approach
REME 3328900 WABAKIEAZE BAREX!250%%E3.90% BXEREE ATEREE
Rental rates: The lower the rents, the lower the
Retail shops: fair value
HK$62.0 psf

Office buildings:
HK$46.4 psf-HK$80.6 psf
Industrial properties:
HK$10.0 psf-HK$28.6 psf
Car parking space:
HK$3,502.0 per space
g Hedl ATERME
BEIE:
FY¥HR62.0ETT
MWAKE !
BYHRI6LBTESTFAHR
80.6787T
IE:
BTERI00BTESFESR
28.6787C
(REIGHE
B{EEEHEU3,502.087T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

7. MBATIZKE

Details of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 29 to FENB AT 2 BEHN RSB RERMEE
the consolidated financial statements. 290

8. RBERTIZKREA

7. Investments in subsidiaries

8. Investments in associates

2024 2023

—ETNEF T =F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

At 1 January w—BA—H 5,387,008 4,960,708
Dividend from an associate KE—XRBENTHRE (18,141) =
Share of profits of associates LI E N B BT 56,351 426,300
At 31 December w+-—B=+—~8 5,425,218 5,387,008

As of 31 December 2024 and 2023, the balances included
investment in Everwell City Limited (“Everwell City”) and
Dymocks Franchise Systems (China) Limited (“Dymocks”).
Everwell City holds commercial properties and shopping
centers, plazas and carparks in Hong Kong while Dymocks
operated as a bookshop in Hong Kong.

Summarised financial information for the material

BE_T_MNMER_ZTEZ=F+2TFA
=+—HR > #&ERE1E Everwell City Limited

(TEverwell City]) KzDymocks Franchise
Systems (China) Limited (MDymocks 1) Z & & o
Everwell Cityi® & BB m Y = LU BB R
i BB K2 B85 > MDymocksB IR & BIES
EEEE.

BERMERT ZHHERRE

associate

Set out below is the summarised financial information for
Everwell City as at 31 December 2024, which is accounted =t+—HZMBEREE  H5 MR EA
for using the equity method. In the opinion of the Directors, BR o EHPA  Everwell City I AEBMS B
Everwell City is material to the Group. BKe

T & FEverwell City? —_Z_M&E+_H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

8. Investments in associates (Continued) 8. ME=ZEATZIRE @B
Summarised financial information for the material SEAMERNT ZHMBERE @
associate (Continued)

Summarised balance sheet BEEEXHE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETRE  ENTR

Non-current assets ERHEE 32,108,379 31,794,777

Current assets REEE 423,030 442778

Non-current liabilities ERBERE (414,435) (10,482,549)

Current liabilities mEMaE (24,325,493)  (14,090,610)
Summarised statement of comprehensive income FE a7 BE

2024 2023

—EpO4E —ET=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Revenue Wz 1,257,177 1,218,679
Profit and total comprehensive income 2ERANLEEWALRLE

for the year 187,085 1,425,215

EIRIEiEiGARAT — S _INFEEWRS 215



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

8. REHERTIZIRE (@)
EAMERT ZHMBHERRE (8

8. Investments in associates (Continued)

Summarised financial information for the material
associate (Continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information HEERIBIESRE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$000
BT T BT
Profit and total comprehensive income 2ERANLEEWALRLE
for the year 187,085 1,425,215
Less: Net profit attributable to non-controlling 8 :Everwell Cityi B A T JEIZ=AR
interest of Everwell City’s subsidiaries HmELFRT (30,152) (233,768)
156,933 191,447
Group's shareholdings REERRE 35.78% 35.78%
Group's share of net profit attributable to AEERLEBRERIFBEAZ
equity holders (Note (i) FRHA WEO) 56,150 426,300
2024 2023
—EUE —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$000
BT AT TT
Net assets attributable to equity holders FERBE A AT AAZ
of the associate BEFE 6,512,297 6,405,506
Group's shareholdings RER R 35.78% 35.78%
Group's share of net assets attributable to AEERLEBER ER
equity holders (Note (i) BB AZEERE H1:0) 2,330,155 2,291,945
Shareholders’ loan RERER 3,095,063 3,095,063
Carrying amount FREE 5,425,218 5,387,008
Note: 5T -
(i) The effective share of profits of the Group from each of the () AEBEFRBEverwell CityREHBFMAL L
subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong of Everwell City remains NEWBABS 2 BRELERFERNY

at approximately 29.9%. 29.9%°
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

9. Amount due from an intermediate holding 9. FEIHFEIERATZFIE

company

The amount is unsecured, interest-free, repayable on
demand and trading in nature. The Company will demand

repayment within twelve months from the balance sheet BRRo

date.

10.Accounts receivable

An ageing analysis of accounts receivable as at the end of the

reporting year is as follows:

10. FEUSBR TR

RS FER > BRI Z ARECDITINT -

ZRERERT - RE -BEREERES

ME - AATFREFERET ZERREXR

2024 2023
“ETME “ET=HF
Balance Percentage Balance Percentage
LR Bt KER Bt
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %
BT T % BT T %
Current BIEA 3,689 81.0 5118 82.2
Less than 30 days BHEVR=+H
past due 734 16.1 982 15.8
31 to 60 days past due BH=+—HZ
~1H 105 2.3 39 0.6
611090 days pastdue  #EAN+—HZE
ht+E - - 1 0
Over 90 days past due AR A+H 26 0.6 83 1.3
4,554 100.0 6,223 100.0
Allowance for impairment E{E & (23) (44)
Total 4Est 4,531 6,179
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

10.Accounts receivable (Continued) 10. FEURBR TR (48
Below is an ageing analysis of accounts receivable (net MTARREHREERERERRE -
of allowance for impairment) that are past due as at the UEERR GOBRBEEE) ZERER DT :

reporting date but not impaired:

2024 2023
“ETOEF TE=HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Less than 30 days past due mH N =+H 731 975
31 to 60 days past due BE=+—HZE/TH 99 38
61 to 90 days past due BN+ —HEA+TH = =
Over 90 days past due B A+H 12 48
Total accounts receivable past due B fAERRE 2 FEUAR AR ZE
but not impaired 842 1,061
Accounts receivable past due represent balances that the BEiaHA 2 FEWBRFIE AN BRI A A Bt
Group considered not in default based on past experience. R ELN 2 R - BRABUIRTMEER
For the credit risk management of the accounts receivable, BREIR > sF 2 RIMIEE28(d) °
please refer to Note 28(d).
The movements in the allowance for impairment during the FRREEEZEHNT
year are as follows:
2024 2023
“ETNE BT =F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T AT TT
At 1 January w—E—H 44 560
Reversal provision made EEH O] (21) (39)
Accounts written off as uncollectible U el MmiMEEnERE = (477)
At 31 December R+ZHA=+—H 23 44
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

11.Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 11 TA{T & « & R EHMEKTIE

As at 31 December 2024, the balance represents mainly the RIEZOF+"/A=+—H #&HIE
utility and management fee deposits of HK$3,782,000 (as at AKBEREEREE3,782,00087T (RZZ
31 December 2023: HK$3,580,000) and rent-free receivables —=#+_"HA=+—H :3,580,00057T) &
of HK$6,720,000 (as at 31 December 2023: HK$11,048,000). M FEURERIEG,720,00058 T (R _=4

+"B=4+—8: 11,048,00057T) °

For the financial risk management on credit risk, refer to BERAGERBNMBRERER F2RWE
Note 28(d). 28(d)e

12.Deferred tax 12.3R3EFRIB
Deferred tax are calculated in full on temporary differences BIERRIBRA AR EAME N ERIEE#E
under the liability method. The following are the deferred B o M XHIAFE RBFFEPAMERIREL
tax assets/(deferred income tax liabilities) recognised and MIBEE (RIEPTEREas RES) .

movements thereon during the current and prior years:

Accelerated

tax

depreciation

IR IEITES

HK$'000

BT T

At 1 January 2023 R_E2_=F—HF—H (18,095)
Charged to profit for the year AEEBERAIOE (42)
At 31 December 2023 RW_ZE_=F+"_F=+—H (18,137)
Credited to loss for the year KEEFT AR 14
At 31 December 2024 A _ENE+"/F=+—H (18,123)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREmE ()

12.Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and they
relate to the same tax authority. The following amounts,
determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the
consolidated balance sheet:

2. JEFETRIA (B

TEMIBE E RIBIEFMSRMBENE S AN
HATHER BN IAE ERHR AR IE S
& B[R —MF % REAERE R T LIRS o X
TEREBERHERETE JTRNGESEE
ISIEE

2024 2023

“TIME T Z=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT AT IT

Deferred tax asset FERIEE E 104 104
Deferred income tax liabilities IRIEFRISIARE (18,227) (18,241)
(18,123) (18,137)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax loss carried
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The
Group has unrecognised tax losses of HK$34,460,000 (2023:
HK$32,264,000) to carry forward against future taxable
income and the expiry dates of these tax losses are shown as
follows:

EERAE 2 MIBHEEMERZMIEN &
OJREE @_ﬂijzﬁéu%%’%%u;&szﬁﬁmk
RIBEES SEMEE c ANEE A] A8 A EHR

RIRFERRUAIRIE 2 AR IRIEREES
34,460,000/ 7T (ZZ =4 : 32,264,000
70) RZERIESEZ EmB T

2024 2023

—ZTHF —BI=HF

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

After the fifth year FRFE 34,460 32,264
34,460 32,264

The Group has not recognised such tax losses and deferred
tax assets of HK$5,686,000 (2023: HK$5,324,000) as the
realisation of the related tax benefit is not probable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M HERME ()

13.Bank borrowing 13.8R1TEE
2024 2023
—EE B
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFRE  EETR
Current EIJHH
Bank loan (Note (a)) IRTTER Wat@) 849,457 -
Note: R
(@) The loan is denominated in HK$ with interest rate at Hong Kong (a) BFLUBITEHE, FAXRATHBIRTREER

Interbank Offered Rate plus 1.2% per annum and is repayable Bin2%, AR S AFE=AFiER,

by March 2025.

(b) As at 31 December 2024, the Group had obtained another ) RZBZMNF+ZA=+—8, A%EEW
undrawn banking facility with detail as set out in note 2(a)(a) of BR—EHRIBIZRBITRE, SFEHNIT
the consolidated financial statements. B BImKRMIEE2()(@)

€ RIBWMNE+_A=+—0, x&EEZE
REBREE2,145,000,00058 IR B )
#%212,419,0008 T EBIFRITERTE
BN, (EARITREZIRIRR,

(c) Asat 31 December 2024, the Group has pledged its investment
property of carrying amount of HK$2,145,000,000 and pledged
bank deposits of HK$12,419,000 to the lender, as a collateral of
the banking facilities.

IRITEEZREBERE QAT ERS WU

The carrying amount of bank borrowing approximates the fair

value, and is denominated in the following currency: TEsHE -
2024 2023
—E_NE TETCF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT AT TT
HK$ BT 849,457 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

14.Loans from an intermediate holding company  14. 2R EREHZIR AT Z B

In November 2023, China Great Wall AMC (International)
Holdings Company Limited (“Great Wall International”), an
intermediate holding company, had agreed to modify and
restructure certain existing term loan (“Term Loan A") with
accumulated accrued interest and provide a new Term Loan
A in principal amount of HK$4,470,000 for one year with
interest rate at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 2%
per annum per annum, and was repayable by November
2024.

In November 2024, Great Wall International and the Company
reached an agreement to modify and restructure certain
terms of Term Loan A with the outstanding principal and
outstanding interest. The new Term Loan A has a principal
amount of HK$4,760,000,000 for one year with interest rate
at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 2% per annum.
The new Term Loan A is denominated in HK$, unsecured and
is repayable by November 2025.

In February 2022, Great Wall International agreed to provide
a new term loan (“Term Loan B”) in the principal amount
of HK$901,657,000 for one year with interest rate at Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 1.4% per annum and was
repayable in February 2023.

In February 2023, after the partial repayment of the Term
Loan B of HK$1,657,000, Great Wall International and the
Company reached an agreement to modify and restructure
certain terms of Term Loan B. The revised Term Loan B has
a principal amount of HK$900,000,000 for one year with
interest rate at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus
1.913% per annum. The New Term Loan B is denominated in
HK$, unsecured and has been settled in February 2024.

The Directors of the Company consider the loans are on
normal commercial terms. The carrying values of the loans
approximate their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

15.0ther payables and accrued liabilities 15. HftE (T IBE KR et &E
2024 2023
= 111 5 TEBC=F
HK$'000 HK$000
BET T BT T
Interest payable ENES) 42,232 38,637
Deposits received from tenants BWHEFZE 26,171 26,827
Other payables and accrued expenses HhENRIB R EE R 13,585 10,942
Rental received in advance FEURFE & 2,458 3,280
Others HA1th 1,598 1,598
86,044 81,284
Represented by: EX TIPS
Non-current portion JERENER D 1,532 8,682
Current portion TRENER 84,512 72,602
86,044 81,284
16.Share capital 16. 2
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
“EIWFE+ZA=+—H E=F+T"“A=+—H
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
5524 &% (R &%
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Authorised: ERE -
Ordinary shares of SREECI0ETZ
HK$0.10 each EER 5,000,000,000 500,000 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREUE -
Ordinary shares of SREECI0ETZ
HK$0.10 each ZERG 1,567,745,596 156,775 1,567,745,596 156,775
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREmE ()

17. Reserves

(a) Group

Movements of the Group’s reserves for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 161.

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the excess
of the nominal value of the shares of subsidiaries acquired
over the nominal value of the Company’s Shares issued
in exchange during the Group reorganisation in 1990, less

dividend distributions.

The Group’s other reserves consist of the following

17. 5
(a) =~%H

rEERE"ZE " NEAR"E_=F4+_"H
—t+—HIFEEZH#HEZEFEREINNE
161 B R e mEE#RA o

REBZBABRDIE-NNEFFERE
ERBANBAR 2RO EEBLARAT
BT MR EE ) BFRR B DK ZE
R

AEEEMEFEEETEMNED

components:
Asset
revaluation Translation
reserve reserve Total
BEEMEE bE R e HE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BHETTT BT T
Balance as at 1 January 2023 RIB_=F
—B—H#&& 334,065 (877) 333,688
Other comprehensive income Hhz2mEUWKA
Currency translation difference on RERERELEZ
consolidation PERERE = (243) (243)
Total comprehensive income 2FUW AR = (243) (243)
Balance as at 31 December 2023 R =4
+ZRB=+—H
4EER 334,065 (620) 333,445
Balance as at 1 January 2024 and RIEWmE
31 December 2024 —B—HBEZE
_MmE+—H
=+—H%ER 334,065 (620) 333,445
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

17. s (&
(b) Z=~F]

17. Reserves (Continued)
(b) Company

Share  Contributed Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total

& An e BARER REEE Bt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BT BT

At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F—F—H 50,382 588,719 (571,042) 68,059
Loss for the year 2FEIE - - (184,987) (184,987)
At 31 December 2023 KRB =F+"F=+—H 50,382 588,719 (756,029) (116,928)
At 1 January 2024 RIEZME—B—H 50,382 588,719 (756,029) (116,928)
Loss for the year PEEFE - - (220,838) (220,838)
At 31 December 2024 RIEZME+-A=+—H 50,382 588,719 (976,867) (337,766)

Loss for the year of the Company mainly comes from

finance cost of HK$289,344,000 (2023: HK$227,345,000),
legal and professional fees of HK$4,022,000 (2023:

HK$3,025,000), rental and utilities expense of HK$415,000
(2023: HK$258,000) and staff costs of HK$7,197,000 (2023:
HK$9,064,000).

The contributed surplus of the Company arose as a result
of the Group reorganisation in 1990 and represents the
difference between the nominal value of the Company’s
Shares so allotted and the consolidated net asset value
of the acquired subsidiaries and associate less dividends
distribution. Under Bermuda law, the contributed surplus is
distributable to shareholders under certain circumstances.

In addition, the Company’s share premium of HK$50,382,000
(2023: HK$50,382,000) can be distributed as fully paid-
up bonus shares or applied towards eliminating the
accumulated losses of the Company.

AANBDERNGERBITEXRETHFRE
289,344,000/ 7T (ZZ2 =4 © 227,345,000
BT AR REEERL022,0008T (T2
T =% :3,025,00087m) HHERARAEE
F32415,0008 7T (ZF =4 : 258,000
70) R BT RA<7197,0008 7T (CB =4 :
9,064,0007T) °
KRB ZBABBIIEA—NNEEAERE
HAFTES » 184N BIACEE 2 B0 T E E2FT IR
BB ARKMEATZAHEEFEY
EBRRREDIKEZ ERE RIEEREL
B> BABRBRAIRETIER KPR

IEAN s AN A B 2 B 17 15 850,382,00078 7T (Z
T~ = £ 150,382,000/ 70) AIER A AL
F&5K > SRNRIH A AR 2 RiEkR1E o

RIIRGIERBIRAET “ZE_MMFERSE 225



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

18.Staff costs 18. E TR Ax
2024 2023
—EBUFE -
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Staff costs BT (BIFESME)
(including directors’ remuneration)
Wages, salaries and bonuses TE -FHesRIE4 6,134 8,863
Defined contribution plan (note) RE MRS (7152 245 359
Directors fee EEWE 934 923
7,313 10,145
Note:  No forfeited contributions to defined contribution retirement ek B2 _NER-SEZ=F+TA
plan have been applied by the Group to reduce its existing —+—HLEFE AEEHEFHHADE
level of contributions for the years ended 31 December 2024 W FE A FGR AR ST B B0 MUER(E
and 2023. HIRH HRRKT
(a) Five highest paid individuals (@) BfiEsHMAL
Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid FR BUREHFMA T ZIEFIEEIW
individuals during the year are set out below: T
2024 2023
“EME BT F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R RIEREN @ 4,899 5,900
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET B HR 270 331
Bonuses paid and payable B RENTEA - 444
5,169 6,675
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

18.Staff costs (Continued) 18. E T iz~ (&)
(a) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (@) Blusm=EAL @&
The remuneration of the five (2023: five) highest paid B (CEZ=F  B0D oA L2
individuals fell within the following bands: ENFHYIEE :
2024 2023
“EITNE e
HKS$nil - HK$1,000,000 Z B 7t—1,000,00087T 3 1
HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017&75c— 1,500,000 7T 1 2
HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7t —2,000,000 7T 1 1
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017875—2,500,000 7T = 1
5 5
The success of the Group hinges on the performance and AEBEZMNEB T 2 RIFRAEERHE
commitment of our employees. As the Group continues to B RAEAEEEREERRE  AEBZH
grow, the Group's compensation philosophy is designed to MrPBIES A EEREEEMRERERN
provide employees with the opportunity to excel and grow, e BEBRMNER KRR REEHRBEE
while aligning with our business strategies and values. The o AEBEZHINBRETESEEIZES
Group’s remuneration policy aims to recognise outstanding R B RIRAEE AL W FEREARER
performance, retain and attract key talents and ensure FH M m— B0 WMmiEA R EREE

alignment with the interests of our businesses, and thereby
enhancing shareholder value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

18.Staff costs (Continued) 18. E T iz~ (&)
(b) Directors’and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration  (b) EERITEAERIMNE

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is BEE N TBHES 2 ME&HIINT -
set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2024: ECETNFE+ZA=+—HIFE:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking:
HEAES ERATATAENBATEE) EXARRK2HE
Emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect of
director’s other
services in
Remuneration connection
paid or with the
Employer’s receivable  management
Estimated contributionto  inrespectof  of the affairs
moneyvalue  aretirement accepting  of the Company
Discretionary Housing of other benefit officeas orits subsidiary
Name e Fees Salary bonuses allowance benefits scheme director  undertaking Total
NESEE
FAFHE
WEARSEH
Bl GHERREA  HEMES
HithiERIAY RER  EBESA L S30EN

ik ik KT HEER  AHEEEE HENER  dRbEe FEE s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
Non-executive Director FHTES
Yu Xianging (note (j4) KRB (t)4) - - - - - - - - -
Ren Zhigiang (note (i12) E5% (1:2012) = = = = = = = = =
Independent Non-executive BukaigEs
Directors
Song Ming R - 180 - - - - - - 180
Sun Mingchun BE - 180 - - - - - - 180
LiuYan 2% = 180 = = = = = = 180
Executive Directors BTES = = = = = = =
Wang Hai 5 - 200 - - - - - - 200
Wang Zuomin (note () (1)) THER (Wrati)r) - 67 - - - - - - 67
Huang Wei (note () (3) B () (3) - 127 - - - - - - 127
= 9% - - E - E - 9%
Note: MIE -
No director received any emolument from the Group as an inducement BMEEENAERWEERMEEASMA SR
to join or leave the Group or compensation for loss of office. HAAEENRBEI R EARERmE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

18.Staff costs (Continued)

(b) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration
(Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(i) On 20 August 2024, the following changes are effective:

m

Mr. Wang Zuomin was appointed as an Executive Director,
the Chief Executive Officer, member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Authorised Representatives of the
Company.

Mr. Ren Zhigiang was appointed as a Non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company.

Mr. Huang Wei was resigned as an Executive Director,
the Chief Executive Officer, member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Authorised Representatives of the
Company.

Mr. Yu Xianging was resigned as a Non-executive Director
and a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.

18. E T HiZs (48)
(b) EERITBAEEME @

MisE © (48

UrEER"E-MENB T +HEN

m

FERELERZEAETRATITES
THRES FMEETMERRER
%O

EERFTEESZEREABIFRITE
EREREZEEME.

RISEERETARATDNITES ITHR
“EEE g E RIEEAR

=
=
=

RAEBFREMIERBDIFRITESFRK

BEREEEME.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

18.Staff costs (Continued) 18. BT 4~ (&)

(b) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration  (b) EEKR{THESIMNE @&
(Continued)

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is BREERATBHEH &I INT © (@
set out below: (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023: BHE_Z-F+"_A=+—HILHFE:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking:
HREEE EBRATASSHRBAREN) ExNARRZHE
Emoluments
paid or
receivable
in respect of
director’s other
services in
Remuneration connection
paid or with the
Employer’s receivable  management
Estimated  contribution to inrespectof  of theaffairs
money value aretirement accepting  of the Company
Discretionary Housing of other benefit officeas  orits subsidiary
Name e Fees Salary bonuses allowance benefits scheme director undertaking Total
NEFER
FAFHH
HWBARZEH
BIH HERZEA  HEHRS
HAERI BAER  EREX Efig

ik i RETEAL RN HHENEE HENER  gEEE e & &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
BT Bt BETR BT BT BETR BT BT BETT
Non-executive Director FTES
Yu Xiangqing REE = = = = = = = = -
Independent Non-executive BUEniTEs
Directors
Song Ming R - 180 - - - - - - 180
Sun Mingchun AR - 180 - - - - - - 180
LiuYan £ - 180 - - - S S S 180
Executive Directors BTES
Wang Hai E3c = 200 = = = = = = 200
Xu Yongle (note (j (1) K& (W) (1) S S S S = S S = -
Huang Wei (note () (2) EE (W) 2) - 183 - - - - - - 183
E 923 . . = . E E 93
Note: 5T -
No director received any emolument from the Group as an inducement BEEENAEBRWEERMEEAIMNASBE
to join or leave the Group or compensation for loss of office. HAEENREN S ERBEEEE-
(i) On 1 February 2023, the following changes are effective: () UTEER_Z_=F"F—B4%W.:
(1) Mr. Xu Yongle was resigned as an Executive Director, the () KBEEERERATHITES
Chief Executive Officer, member of the Remuneration THEH FTNEE B RIERE
Committee and the Authorised Representatives of the el
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

18.Staff costs (Continued) 18. E T iz~ (&)

(b) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration

(Continued)
Note: (Continued)

()  On 1 February 2023, the following changes are effective:
(Continued)

(2) Mr. Huang Wei was appointed as an Executive Director,
the Chief Executive Officer, member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Authorised Representatives of the
Company.

The Director’s fee per annum of each of the independent
non-executive Directors of HK$180,000 (2023: HK$180,000)
is fixed by the Board of Directors pursuant to the authority
granted by the Shareholders at the Company’s annual
general meeting. Each non-executive Director, including
independent non-executive Director, serving on the Board
Committees does not receive any additional fee (2023: Nil).

The Directors’ remunerations are determined with reference
to directors’ remunerations paid by other companies in Hong
Kong.

iz - ()

() UTEER_E-=F"/F—H4%%.:
=)

2 ERTEEZEAERTNTE
ETHEE FMEEEMERIR
ER&K-

BEUIFRTER 2 FEEE5180,0008
7T (CB =4 : 180,000/ HEF SRS
k%ﬁﬁ@ﬁ&%tﬁﬁ 21T 2 SR

ZEEEERTEREGBUIENITE
%(%ﬁiﬁﬂﬁ%%Zéwmﬁﬁ@%
We(CEZ=F .®-

BEENEL2RE
TMEERE °

BHMATFIMESME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREmE ()

19.0ther operating expenses

Other operating expenses represent the following:

19. S &/

HMEERSHIRNT

2024 2023

—EME T =F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T AT

Staff costs (Note 18) BT A (Ba£18) 7,313 10,145
Legal and professional fee FEREEER 4,816 4108
Asset management fee BEEEIERE 6,174 6174
Leasing fee HEE 1,039 1,027
Telecommunication expenses BEHX 138 486
Others HAth 12,246 12,703
31,726 34,643

Asset management fee and leasing fee represent the fee
charged by an independent third party for managing one
of the investment properties and for entering into new and
renewed leases with tenants respectively.

The remuneration of the Directors and the chief executives is
included in the staff costs (Note 18).

Auditor’s remuneration (included in the legal and
professional fee) for the current year amounted to
HK$1,200,000 (2023: HK$1,300,000).

EEEEBNIEBIEBIS = AMEEH
IR B MU B AT IR R T
AWV E R

EERITBABHBFBN T A B TR (5

18) ©

KEEZEBMINE Gt A ERBEER) &
1,200,000/ 7t (&~ =4 : 1,300,000787T) ©

20.Net finance cost 20. BA TS AR AN B
2024 2023
S 111 5 —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Finance cost/(income) B, (BA)
— Interest expense on the loans from an —3?5 BEFEZERARZERZ
intermediate holding company (Note 74) FMEZ W Hfat14) 313,176 282,093
— Interest expense on bank borrowing —IRITEENERRE 29,476 -
— Interest income from bank —IR1TA B U A (3,704) (2,504)
338,948 279,589
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M HERME ()

21.Income tax expense

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of
16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for

21. RS

EBFER LU EN LT ERR B F1%165%
(CEBT=5F . 165%) NZTEBH o

the year.

2024 2023
—EOE —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT

Current income tax BERAPRISR
- Hong Kong profits tax —&HENER 5,263 5,160
— Over provision in prior year — L FEBREEE = (20)

Deferred income tax EIEFTISI
- Deferred tax expense (Note 12) —IRERIERISE (Wat12) (14) 42
5,249 5,182

The taxation on the (loss)/profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
taxation rates applicable to the places of operation of the
Company and its subsidiaries as follows:

PRETISIRAT (B518) BAIFTE L 2 IIBEER
ERAARRTRENBATSEMEERR
—y—u‘l’%ﬁﬁﬁiziiuﬂﬂ |§§%EEFETH ui |ﬁ
omr:

2024 2023

—EHE BT

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T AT

(Loss)/profit before income tax FRPT1EIRAT (B518) /&7F) (78,889) 290,032
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% BiRE165% (CTEZ=4F:

(2023:16.5%) 16.5%) 5t& (13,017) 47855
Income not subject to taxation BERBUA (16,438) (7,312)
Effect of share of profits of associates LSRRI 2 & (9,298) (70,340)
Tax losses not recognised RIER 2 M IBE1E 362 604
Expenses not deductible for REEEEMIBINR 2

taxation purposes 43,640 34,395
Over provision in prior year L FEBEEEE - (20)
Income tax expense FriginFx 5,249 5,182

RIFIRIZERERAT — S _YFERS 233



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREmE ()

22.Dividends

The Board has resolved not to declare any interim dividend
for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and 2024 or
to recommend any final dividend for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

23.(Loss)/Earnings per share

The calculation of basic (Loss)/Earnings per share is based
on the loss attributable to shareholders for the year ended
31 December 2024 of HK$84,138,000 (earnings attributable
to shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2023:
HK$284,850,000) and the weighted average of 1,567,745,596
shares in issue (2023: 1,567,745,596 shares in issue) during
the year.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share was the same as basic
(loss)/earnings per share as there were no dilutive potential
ordinary shares outstanding for the year ended 31 December
2024 (for the year ended 31 December 2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M HERME ()

24.Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash

Flows

(@) Reconciliation of operating profit to cash generated

from operations:

24. (R AT RERMEE

(a) ERFEKEEEZINEHRE

2024 2023
—ETPOE _EC=F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BT T
Operating profit RERH 203,708 143,321
Fair value gain on investment KEVERFERT
properties 6 (131,648) (74,533)
Depreciation e 5 6,828 6,937
Loss on write off of property, plant and WEEY) = IR R E
equipment 518 5 - 8
Exchange gain PE A - (119)
Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable FEWBRFRRLZL~ (12 70) 1,648 (197)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and ~ Fa{1 & A~ i2 & R EMEU
other receivables FRIE R 4,242 8,288
Decrease in amount due from FEUS R 122 B /A B SR B R
an intermediate holding company = 9
Increase/(decrease) in other payables HihE B R ESTaE
and accrued liabilities 1@, CRi) 1,165 (2,272)
Cash generated from operations REEEZHE 85,943 81,442
(b) Cash and cash equivalents (b) REMRIREEE
2024 2023
—TImE ST =F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Cash at bank and in hand IRITRFEIRE 78,246 125,601
Short-term bank deposits with original FRER =AU TH
maturity of less than three months FHRIRITE 131,022 106,922
209,268 232,523
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

GaMBHREmE ()

24.Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows (Continued)

(c) Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out the movements in net debt for each of
the periods presented.

4 i B IRERERME (&

(€ FafAE¥HK

FENES B PRI FEaEES -

Loansfroman  Amount due to
intermediate anintermediate  Total liabilities

Bank holding holding ~ from financing
borrowing* company* company activities

RETH e
ERAT RAT HEES
TS HER R BELE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR TR MR BMTR
Asat 1January 2023 R_E”_=F-F—H = (5,88,616) (1,062) (5,189,678)
Cash flow Rene - 62,072 (5,648) 56,424
Other non-cash movement HIEREEs) = (282,093) = (282,093)
As at 31 December 2023 RIE-=5+-B=+-H S (5,408,637) (6,710) (5,415,347)
Asat 1January 2024 RIZ-ME—-A—H - (5,408,637) (6,710) (5,415,347)
Cash flow Reng (819,981) 919,581 5,309 104,909
Other non-cash movement HEttFREEH (29,476) (313,176) - (342,652)
As at 31 December 2024 RZEZME+ZA=+-H (849,457) (4,802,000) (1,401)  (5,653,090)

*  Interest payable (included in other payables and accrued
liabilities) are included for the purpose of reconciliation of
liabilities from financing activities.

25.Capital risk management

The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue its businesses as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
Shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.

The Group structures its capital with due consideration to
risk. The Group manages and adjusts its capital structure
in the light of the changes in economic conditions and risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to Shareholders, repurchase
Shares of the Company from Shareholders, issue new Shares,
or increase or reduce borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M HERME ()

25.Capital risk management (Continued)

For the purpose of calculating the net debt-to-capital ratio,
the Group defines net debt as total debt (which includes the
loans from an intermediate holding company, bank borrowing
and amount due to an intermediate holding company (2023:
loans from an intermediate holding company and amount
due to an intermediate holding company)) less cash and
bank balances, and capital with all components of equity.
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net debt-to-
capital ratio.

The net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 December 2024 was as

Pt EFRRERLEERME ﬂli%@ﬁ%‘}%i%
%E% SRFABER (AR EPEERA

ZE®R $E171ﬁ%i}i’zi?§ﬁqﬂF‘ﬁ?“ﬁ“"?ﬂl@
CEZ=F REFBERABDZENK
PR TPRHEIR A BFAIR) B & R IR TAS AR
B ARER D Z FIAERED - NEE
BRI FEEEALEREITEER-

AR NFE+ A=+ —RZFERESR

follows: EEZGOR
2024 2023
—EBNFE —ET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Total borrowings Bisza 5,610,858 5,376,710
Less: cash and cash equivalents B IREeEKRIESEE (209,268) (232,523)
Net debt FEE 5,401,590 5,144,187
Total equity 4B e 3,917,408 4,001,546
Total capital 4RE N 9,318,998 9145733
Net debt-to-capital ratio FEEEARLLE 58.0% 56.2%

The slight increase in debt-to-capital ratio is mainly due to
the drop in shareholders’ funds as a result of the share of
profits of associates dropped during the year.

BERLLERMIE LA T2 EREN
BEAREN TERRERRRES N BT

26.Capital commitments 26. B4 K
2024 2023
—ZTHE —B=HF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Contracted, but not provided for BRI AEREE
— Capital expenditures on investment —REYE T ERKIE

properties 640 640
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27. Balance sheet of the Company 27. KABIBEEEER
2024 2023
= 111 5 TEC=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B3 BT T BT T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment LY ER - EYS Gy 2,407 2,937
Investments in subsidiaries BB AR ZKE 4,617,619 4,550,165
4,620,026 4,553,102
Current assets MHEE
Prepayments, deposits and other ANER BTk
receivables HApEWERIE 845 1,094
Cash and cash equivalents BERIREEE 145,814 137,647
146,659 138,741
Total assets MEE 4,766,685 4,691,843
Current liabilities mEaR
Loan from an intermediate holding REFEERABT ZER
company 4,760,000 4,470,000
Amounts due to subsidiaries M B AR FIE 147,261 141,007
Other payable and accrued expenses HERIE & EST & B 40,415 40,989
4,947,676 4,651,996
Total liabilities mamd 4,947,676 4,651,996
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves BERKHEE
Share capital A&7 156,775 156,775
Reserves #H 17(b) (337,766) (116,928)
Total equity AR (180,991) 39,847
Total equity and liabilities mEnRaE 4,766,685 4,691,843
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the KABEEBBEREAEEEN S HAFZ

Board of Directors on 28 February 2025 and was signed on its

behalf.

Mr. Wang Hai
EBRE
Chairman

ES

B+ N\B#HETHUTATHARESTEE

ZEo

Mr. Wang Zuomin

FEREE

Director

5=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

28.Financial risk management 28. &R E PR EIE

Categories of financial instruments R TAEDEE
2024 2023
S 111 5 “EC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Financial assets THEE
Financial assets at amortised cost: BEENAGTE ERMEE ©
— Accounts receivable —FEWBR =X 4,531 6,179
— Deposits and other receivables — e REMEIERIE 10,502 14,628
- Amount due from an intermediate — WA TR A B RRIE
holding company 162 162
- Pledged bank deposits —BIRHIRITER 12,419 -
- Cash and bank balances —IR& KRIRITAEER 209,268 232,523
236,882 253,492
Financial liabilities ERBE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REENATE EREE .
— Other payables and accrued liabilities —HthEIRIERES aE 83,586 78,004
- Loans from an intermediate holding —REPEERATZEM
company 4,760,000 5,370,000
- Bank borrowing —iRITEE 849,457 -
- Amount due to an intermediate — A EERABMIE
holding company 1,401 6,710
5,694,444 5,454,714

The Group's major financial instruments include accounts
receivable, deposits and other receivables, amount due from
an intermediate holding company, pledged bank deposits,
cash and bank balances, other payables and accrued
liabilities, loans from an intermediate holding company,
bank borrowing and amount due to an intermediate holding
company. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks,
particularly liquidity and credit risks. Where appropriate, the
Group’s risk management policies seek to minimise potential
adverse effects of these risks on the financial performance
of the Group. The policies for managing these risks are
summarised below.

FERTETRTEGERBGRR &2
R B FEUSRR IR ~ FEUR R EERR A B RRIE
ERRIRITER RE R IRITARR - HMFE
TRIEREStBE RETEIERATZE
P RITEERENTEZERADMRIE &
BT AN BRI PRE

FEBZEFENSETRAR 552N
HESREESFRR - AEEZREREER
REENBEBR T SRKEZFRABREE
ERMHGRFEZBEEATERERE &
ZRBEEBRBIMIT
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28.Financial risk management (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk arises from cash
balances placed with authorised financial institutions,
variable-rate loans from an intermediate holding company
and the bank which generate interest income and incur
interest expense for the Group. The Group manages its
interest rate risk for cash balances by placing such balances
on various maturities and interest rate terms.

At 31 December 2024, the Group had loans from an
intermediate holding company of HK$4,760,000,000 (2023:
HK$5,370,000,000) and bank borrowing of HK$849,457,000
(2023:Nil). It is estimated that a general increase/decrease of
100 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would increase/decrease the Group's loss for the
year and total equity by approximately HK$53,891,000 (2023:
HK$51,986,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the balance sheet date and had been applied to the interest-
bearing financial instruments in existence at that date.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with financial
liabilities. The Group’s objective in managing this risk is to
maintain a balance between the continuity and the flexibility
of funding through the use of bank loans and overdraft, if
necessary, and the loan from group companies.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group's financial liabilities at the balance
sheet date, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates as at the
balance sheet date) and the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The balance includes the accrued
interest for the loans from an intermediate holding company.
For details, please refer to Note 14.
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28. TRUEREE (&
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(b)

RERARE

FERZREMM KRBT A&
RIS 2 R4S ER  RE P REIER A B KR
TZHBER ERTEREEEFBWRAKR
SIEF B H c AERIBBR A FHEERAT
EFEARARIER R ERERRSER
IS

ATECNE+"A=+—B > AEBRAK
B R EIER A B 2 ER04,760,000,00058 7T (Z
T — =4 1 5,370,000,000587T) KIBTTEE
849,45700078 70 (CZ = : ) &MLt
EFEEMMEBEFTTE BRI T AEE
BB LA/ THRIOERESGESAEREERS
B ABRER I, R/ #953,891,0008 7T (=
T =1 : 51,986,000 7T) ©

R AT BRI BB E A D
S WERAREEFE L BRI

MEEEEME

RBETRREAERNEITESREEE
< EBRESNHE B AEEEEZ
Bz BERLEBERIRTEMRES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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28.Financial risk management (Continued)

28.

ﬁ r.E }—L S IE (II\E

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) RENEERE 4B

Other payables and Loans from an intermediate
Bank borrowings* accrued liabilities holding company*
IRITRE* HftERIERE BE REFRERAS Z &R
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZTTME Sy ZZTEE —2I=R “TTNE =Sy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BETT BT BT BT
Within 1 year or on demand —FERPIRER 867,695 - 41,354 30,685 4,853,507 5,430,928
More than 1 but less than 2 years BE—FEORRE - - - 7674 - -
More than 2 but less than 5 years BEmEE LR EF - - - 1,008 - -
More than 5 years BanF = 5 = 5 = 5
Total undiscounted cash flows RUBREE&RS0E 867,695 - 41,354 39,367 4,853,507 5,430,928
Carrying amount fRmEE 849,457 - 41,354 39,367 4,802,232 5,408,637
* Interest payable (included in other payables and accrued * HRHERBNE ARSRE GtARME
liabilities) are included for the purpose of reconciliation. FIERIESTAE) ©
(c) Currency risk (c) &

Currency risk arises on account of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the functional
currency. There is no non-monetary exposure on the Group.

The financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group
are denominated predominantly in HK$. The Group’s only
significant exposure to foreign exchange risk arises from its
cash at bank in Renminbi (“RMB”) and cash at bank in United

States Dollars (‘US$”).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash at bank in RMB
of HK$92,000 (2023: HK$92,000) and cash at bank in US$ of

HK$19,738,000 (2023: HK$19,934,000).

EfREREUINEERLUINERHEZE
KEERSENIRE - AEETEIFEKE

fgs o

FEEZEHEERESMBRHIEELUAT
SHE - AEBTEIINERTZ 2 E—E KRR
BEUARE (AR stEZRITRER
Y&t (IEm) sHEZIRITIRE

A BN+ ZA=1+—B AEEFM
AREHEZ IR17IR$02,00087T (CE==
& 92,0008 7T) RUETEHEZBITIRE
19,738,000 7T (ZE = =4F : 19,934,000%
D) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
GaMBHREmE ()

28. £REREIE (&
(c) EfsmkE (&)

28.Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Currency risk (Continued)

If the RMB had strengthened/weakened by 10% against HK$
with all other variables held constant, it would decrease/
increase the loss for the year by HK$9,000 (2023: increase/
decrease the profit for the year by HK$9,000). As US$ is
pegged to HK$, the Group does not expect any significant
movement in the US$/HK$ exchange rate.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined

EFBEEMEHBERIEZBERT MAR
M B ITTIHE, B2 E10% » TS IE IR
L IN9,0008 7T (B =4 | FRRFIYE
/09,0008 70) o ARt SEoid B oy
KEBESETEATEXR I ZHIRERE
KA o

PSR ED R RREXREHENEE R

assuming that the change in exchange rate had occurred at o
the balance sheet date.

(d) Credit risk (d) EERbkE
FERZEERBREITERBEHRITFR B
HRIRITE AR FEUIRRR AR LA FE U IR
Feig o

The Group's credit risk arises mainly from its deposits with
banks, pledged bank deposits, accounts receivable and other
receivables and deposits.

IRTEFRERFRNERARTNSERTR
WA IRTTEREEER Y 2R TINB

Bank deposits are mainly placed with high-credit-quality
financial institutions. The credit quality of bank deposits

can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if EE4R WA) a1
available) as follows:

2024 2023
“ETMEF TEZHF
% %
AA- AA- 14.8 31.0
A+ A+ 44.5 51.7
A A 71 8.3
BBB+ BBB+ 9.0 S
BBB BBB 24.6 9.0
100.0 100.0
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28.Financial risk management (Continued) 28. TRUEGEIR (B

(d) Credit risk (Continued) d) EERR @)

The Group manages its credit risk associated with accounts
receivable through the application of credit approvals and
credit ratings.

In respect of credit exposures to tenants, management
conducts credit evaluations on prospective tenants before
lease agreements are entered into with tenants. The Group
also has policies in place to ensure that rental security
deposits are required from tenants prior to commencement
of leases. It also has other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up actions are taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group regularly reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade receivable to ensure that adequate
provision for impairment losses is made for irrecoverable
amounts.

As at 31 December 2024, the total accounts receivable are
from 38 customers (2023: 34 customers) only.

FEBBEBRAEEEHREETHR B
HEEWERIER 2 S E A&

MEAFRNEERRNS  EEEEREBEFE]
VARG ETEE P ETERN G
AERETREHIEBR > IR RE R REER
waRIABMIE S RE S - HIFRA HithEiE
12 AR (R EREN R SR T3 AR UR [D B HR (S 75 o
ItE5h > AEEE RS S IR E 5 EUERRBY
pIU Bl 58 - LR RS P UR Bl 2B 5T 2
SORVIRLERSIR R o

A TETME+ "B =+—H BERNRE
BRERBEBLER CE=F 1348FH) o
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28. TRUEREE (&

(d) EERE (&)

28.Financial risk management (Continued)

(d) Credit risk (Continued)

To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the
date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information. Indicators
including actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the tenants’ ability
to meet its obligations and if changes in the payment status
of tenants is noted. A significant increase in credit risk is
defined by management as any contractual payment which is
more than 30 days past due. Any contractual payment which
is more than 90 days past due is considered credit impaired.

The Group considers that accounts receivable is financial
instrument that have not exposed to a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition (“stage 1”). The Group
has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the
expected credit losses by individual assessment. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, the amounts of reversal of
impairment loss of HK$21,000 (2023: reversal of impairment
loss of HK$39,000) on accounts receivable was recognised.

As at 31 December 2024, the accounts receivable subjected
to significant increase in credit risk is limited. The impairment
of accounts receivable, if any, that is in stage 2 and 3 are
immaterial to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M HERME ()

28.Financial risk management (Continued)

(d) Credit risk (Continued)

(e)

The Group considers that deposits and other receivables are
financial instruments that have not exposed to a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition (“stage 1”) and
considers the probability of default of deposits and other
receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 to be close to
zero as the counterparties have strong capacity to meet their
contractual obligations in the near term. As a result, no loss
allowance has been recognised based on 12-month ECL as
any such impairment would be insignificant to the Group.

No significant changes to estimating techniques or
assumptions were made during the reporting period.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from accounts receivable are
set out in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

Fair value estimation

The Group classifies fair value measurements using a fair
value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs
used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy
has the following levels:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (Level 1).

— Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (Level 2).

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(Level 3).

The directors consider that the carrying amount of the
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values. Such fair values have been
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted cash flow analysis.

28. £REREIE (&
d) EERE (&

(e)

FEBER AR REMBWTIET B BES
SRR EERRIL EEAEE N /T
A (FE1fsE) » TR AR ZHFHRASE
NERHRBTENES RI2HFK
T2 _F+R=t+—RHZBRTKREME
WRRIBRYE N BRI N T - A I » B
R ERESRERMS IR EK > B
IR 2B R FRE E B ERES R R R -

REIREHE R AERMSRRRNERE
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BRIAEBRER 2 ERER 2 S8 AL
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AT{EE
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Biz BMER) @z GURB BRE) 7]
BRmARE GB2M) -
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29.Subsidiaries and associates

29. B AT R HHE AT

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries and the
Group’s material associates as at 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023 are as follows:

RIEME+—_A=+—HK_ZT_=F
+ZA=+—B A RENFENB AT K
FEBMNERBE AT FEMT !

Subsidiaries M AT
Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of
registration and operations  issued/registered
Company (Kind of legal entity) share capital Proportion held Nature of business
ML EMREENE
NGIEL CEELZEER) BE#1T EMEAEE AR EHME
Direct Indirect
B iE3
Great Wall Pan Asia Hong Kong Ordinary HK$25,560,000 S 100% Asset management services
Asset Management Limited (limited liability company)
RHRGEEEEBRA &% (BRRAE) 1 8%25,560,00078 7T EEBERE
Lyton Investment Limited The Commonwealth of Ordinary US$2 S 100% Property holding
The Bahamas/Hong Kong
(limited liability company)
B EHANE 58 BER2ET MERH
(BRRAE)
Macheer Properties Limited The British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 S 100% Property holding
Hong Kong (limited liability
company)
RBETRHE /B8 BERIET MERH
(BRRAE)
Nanchao Yau Tong Limited The British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 = 100% Property holding
Hong Kong (limited liability
company)
RBETRHE /B8 BERIET MERH
(BRRAE)
Sunny Bright Development Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 = 100% Property holding
Limited (limited liability company)
RS RARAR &5 (BRAE) EER2ET MERH
Sunny Success Development Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 = 100% Property holding
Limited (limited liability company)
HHRERERAR &5 (BRAE) EBER2ET MERH
Ray Glory Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 = 100% Property holding
(limited liability company)
BEBRAR &5 (BRAE) EBRIET MERE

246 GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024
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e M HERME ()

29.Subsidiaries and associates (Continued)

29. B A B KSR E) (4

Associates HEAT]

Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of
registration and operations  issued/registered Percentage of equity

Company (Kind of legal entity) share capital attributable to the Group Nature of business
ML EMREENE

NELTE CETE (& 25851 BT EMEAEE FEBRGRAEDL EBEE

Dymocks Franchise Systems Hong Kong Ordinary HK$7700,000 45% Bookshop operation

(China) Limited™ (limited liability company)

&5 (BRAE) E80%7700,00078 T BEES

Everwell City Limited* The British Virgin Islands Ordinary HK$10,001 35.78% Investment holding

(limited liability company)
EBERMREE BRAR) EiER10001ET

#  The financial statements of these company were not audited by
BDO Limited or the member firms of BDO Limited.

Dymocks Franchise Systems (China) Limited was deregistered
on 13 December 2024.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company and
associates of the Group which, in the opinion of the Directors,
principally or materially affected the results of the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries and associates would, in
the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

ZENB 2 MBRRLIFABTBILGEESR
BSMEBMERADNETBIULEERS
SENEBAERABD ZHME LB EXe

Dymocks Franchise Systems (China) Limited
BERZ2NE+"_A+=HsE#He

EERD LREIIZRATRNB AR R
EEZHMEATNNTERFREERE T2
BEAXE WEAERBEEFEEKLA -
EFRRN HIHMMBAR ZHEEHNE
fEFrRRIBERD TR
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30.Related party transactions 30. BAE X 5
As at the balance sheet date, the Directors regard Great Wall REEE H » EEHGreat Wall Pan Asia (BVI)
Pan Asia (BVI) Holding Limited as the immediate holding Holding LimitedA A AR 2 BIFERAE) &
company of the Company, Great Wall International as an WER SR AT Z AEZER AT MPEE
intermediate holding company of the Company and GWAMCC WEBERARABZ REERAT]

as the ultimate holding company of the Company.

(a) Transactions with GWAMCC and its group of () BHERMEEREMBARZRS
subsidiaries
Significant transactions with GWAMCC and its group of HAEREEMENBAR ZEARZU
subsidiaries are as follow: B
2024 2023
“ETEF TEC=HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
AT T TT
Lease of investment properties to an HMEREYETHEERAE
intermediate holding company
- Rental income —HEWHA 14,714 14,714
Loans from an intermediate holding company Z& B HRIZR AT 2 B
— Interest expense (Note 74) —MEBRZ Hzt14) 313,176 282,093
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e M HERME ()

30.Related party transactions (Continued)

(a) Transactions with GWAMCC and its group of

30. Rl 5325 (88

(@) BFERBEERENBATZRS

subsidiaries (Continued) (@
2024 2023
—BomE T T=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T AHEFTT
Amount due from an intermediate holding FEUN R REERG A BIFRIE
company 162 162
Loans from an intermediate holding company Z& B HRIZR AT 2 B
~ Loan payable —FEIER 4,760,000 5,370,000
— Interest payable —FELFIE 42,232 38,637
Amount due to an intermediate holding FE R EIER A B FIE
company 1,401 6,710
(b) Key management personnel compensation (b) TEEIEABZME
2024 2023
—TImE O SEFC=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T ABUET T
Salaries and other short-term e R EMEEAESER
employee benefits 1,766 2138
Post-employment benefits IRIRBRET = 18
1,766 2,156
31.Subsequent events 31. R S=1E
There is no significant subsequent event after the reporting RIS HAE I ESE AHRESEIE
period.
32.Approval of the consolidated financial 2. e MBIk ZHE
statements
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the KFEMBERREN_ZEAF_H"F+N
Board of Directors on 28 February 2025. HEEEE 4 &
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
I 5 s R

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA RIRIRR TR EUE

Year ended 31 December

BETZA=+-HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
(in HK$ millions, unless otherwise stated)  (E&® 7’ BRABREN —BOME ZEI=HE ZBICHE “E--& —ECEE
OPERATING RESULTS F ]
Revenue Wi 122 122 121 120 130
Adjusted operating profit/(loss)*** RIS RA/ (1) v 72 68 58 44 (38)
Fair value gain/(loss) on investment BEMELTERR/ (518
properties 132 75 (35) 97 (171
Operating profit/(loss) WEERRN / (518) 204 143 23 141 (208)
Share of profits of associates FEEBE A BRA 56 426 466 774 58
Income tax expense FrisiBEs (5) (5) (7) (8) 8)
Net (loss)/profit attributable to Shareholders JRERIELLF (5548) /&7 (84) 285 318 760 (320)
PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK BRLBER
Adjusted operating profit /(loss) SRECERELERN/ (BB
per share (in HK cents) (&1L 458 437 3.68 275 (2.42)
Basic (loss)/earnings per share SREX BB /B
(in HK cents) (&) (5.37) 1817 20.26 48.46 (20.38)
Diluted adjusted operating profit/(loss) SRETCRETERT/
per share (in HK cents) (5518 (&) 4,58 437 3.68 275 (2.42)
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share SREE BB /B
(in HK cents) (B (5.37) 1817 20.26 48.46 (20.38)
Dividend per share (in HK cents) SRKE (Bl = = = - -
Net asset value per share (in HK$) SREEZE (B 2.50 2.55 2.37 217 168
FINANCIAL POSITION BN
Property, plant and equipment %% e 504 510 517 524 532
Total assets mEE 9,636 9,480 8,970 8,727 7839
Loans from an intermediate holding REFEERARZER
company (4,760) (5,370) (5,180) (4,750) (3,848)
Loan from a non-controlling Shareholder ~ RE—RIEEHIMRERZ ER = - - - -
Total liabilities BmaE (5,718) (6,479) (5,253) (6,326) (5,198)
Net assets attributable to Shareholders ~ RERELEEFE 3,917 4,002 3717 3,401 2,641
Number of Shares in issue BETRMEE 1,567,745,796 1567745596  1,567745596 1567745596  1,567745,596
KEY RATIOS EEdukd
Adjusted operating profit/(loss) to revenue A BEITEEF,/ (518)
R LR 59% 56% 48% 37% -29%
Return on average equity THRALHRE -212% 7.38% 8.92% 2515% -11.41%
Return on average total assets THREELIRE -0.88% 3.09% 3.59% 917% -4.03%
Gearing EEAELE 58.0% 56.2% 57.2% 56.5% 63.2%
Current assets to current liabilities TEBEHLRBEE 4% 5% 5% 7% 25%

*** Adjusted operating profit/(loss) is defined as operating profit/ — *** KEBLERF]  (Bi18) REARTEMUBA
(loss) before other income and fair value gain/(loss) on investment REEMEATFENT (B518) 2RERA
properties. (&518) °
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GLOSSARY
]

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following glossaries shall have the following meanings:

RAERER  BFEXESBFEIN THAREBUTERE !

“Board”
E5g)

“Bye-Laws”
I/ASIEEUR

“China” or “PRC”
MR

“Company”

MRAB T RIIREEZERR

“Corporate Governance Code”

EEEBTRN

“Director(s)”

==y

“Great Wall International”

MRIEIR

“Group’, “we’, or “our”

TA &£ o T3y

“GWAMCC”

MMEREEE]

“HKS”
=5

*  For identification purpose only

* EHES

the board of directors of the Company
KABEEE

the Bye-Laws of the Company, as amended from time to time
RRBEAEEST Z A B A

the People’s Republic of China
hEAREME

Great Wall Pan Asia Holdings Limited, an exempted company incorporated
in Bermuda with limited liability, the issued Shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 583)
RBIRGEZERBRAT — RN BREAMRINERRERAT HE
BITRMOINEAIPTER L (IRD 5%  583)

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules

EHRRRIMERCI PR BRI (X E R TRI)

(a) director(s) of the Company
KNBESE

China Great Wall AMC (International) Holdings Company Limited, a
company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong with limited liability
and a controlling Shareholder of the Company

FRERBEE BR) ERERAT —RIRBEBEOIFEMAIINERA
B RN ABZIERR R

the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time

RABREFEZ (B AE]

China Great Wall Asset Management Co., Ltd., a financial conglomerate
engaged in a broad range of integrated financial services and an ultimate
controlling Shareholder of the Company

FEEHBEEEERMERAE —AREEZGESHRT 2 S/MER
KA RB 2 REERIZER

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong, China
B PEEBEESE

EIRIRiEiARAT — S _INFEERS 251



GLOSSARY
] %

“Hong Kong”
r&8) 5

“Latest Practicable Date”

RBERATHE 1§
“Listing Rules”

rEm#RA 1§
“Main Board”

=yl 15

“Memorandum of Association and
Bye-Laws”
K EEE =t SN Y SN N 15

“Model Code”

MEEESFA) 15
“SFC”

EES) =
“SFO”

38 5 R ARG 1R A 15
“Share(s)”

MR 17 Eis
“Shareholder(s)”

MA%ER 1§
“Stock Exchange”

T 22 FIT ) {5
“Us$”

M=) 15

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
hEEBRITHRE

21 March 2025
2R -B”"+—H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (as
amended from time to time)

32 P e 75 E AR R (EARBHES])

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent of and operated in parallel with the GEM of
the Stock Exchange

B PRASENE SR ST (RGN S) - BB I BB X PRGEMIL
1TEME

the Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws of the Company, as
amended from time to time
KRBV BT 2 B ER KA~ BI4H8]

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set
out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules
EHRBIMERCIFRE I L BT AEFETEF X ZRRETE)

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong

BEBSREEHEREES

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time)

BEENISB71BR/FRAERA (EFEEST M sl U E M A T EDR)

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the capital of the Company
KABRAPEREECI0E T EBR

holder(s) of Share(s) from time to time

RRZBRMNFAEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BERAMERXZMBRAE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America
Eo ENRERENEES T
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M Ef IR TR IRAE)

GREAT WALL PAN ASIA HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(REREZMERIZBRAR)
(Stock Code REA 155 : 583)

HERIREBRB129ERMRITH L2118
21st Floor, Bank of America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong
www.gwpaholdings.com

* For identification purpose only

e
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